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Chairman’s Statement

I am pleased to present to shareholders, the Dragon Mining Limited (the “Company”) Annual Report
for the year ended 31 December 2018. The year was particularly challenging for all the Company’s
staff in view of the additional workload generated by the pursuit of the Company’s listing on the Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong. | would like to express my appreciation, and that of the shareholders, to all
staff for this additional effort.

A highlight of the year was the listing of the Company on the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong on
5 November 2018. This listing enabled the Company to raise funds for the development of the
Faboliden Gold Project (“Faboliden”), and we hope that it will prove beneficial to shareholders in the
future.

Operationally and financially the Company also faced a difficult year, but significant progress was
made which should provide future benefits for the Company.

In Finland, the Jokisivu mine performed. At Orivesi, known reserves are almost depleted. Difficult
mining issues experienced during the last few weeks of the year delayed mining, causing a shortfall in
anticipated ore production at Orivesi during this period. This issue was exacerbated by a problem with
our primary crusher in December, resulting in an inability to crush the harder Orivesi ore for a short
period. On the positive side, these mining delays have resulted in the present expectation that Orivesi
will remain in production until May 2019, when it will be placed on care and maintenance while
further exploration and evaluation drilling will be carried out.

Again, on a positive note overburden stripping is taking place at the Group’s new mine at
Kaapelinkulma and it's expected that ore production will commence by the end of March 2019, despite
the difficulties experienced because of protests by certain activists opposed to mining. The Vammala
plant has continued to operate satisfactorily.

In Sweden, the test mining permit at Faboliden for 100,000 tonnes was finally obtained and removal
of overburden undertaken in preparation for mining to commence after March 2019. The application
for the Environmental Permit for the full mining permit was submitted during the year and is being
processed. The Group currently expects treatment for the test mining ore to commence at the Svartliden
plant in August 2019.

Financially the significant cost of keeping the Svartliden plant operational in readiness to treat
the Faboliden ore together with the expensed listing costs adversely impacted the Group’s results
generating a net loss of AU$9.5 million for the year.

The Group will continue to pursue long-term production from Faboliden and continued production
from Jokisivu and Kaapelinkulma in Finland as the key to the future, whilst continuing with further

exploration and evaluation drilling at Orivesi.

I again wish to express my sincere thanks to our Directors and loyal staff for their support and efforts
during this difficult year. | also thank our shareholders for their ongoing support.

Arthur G. Dew
Chairman

Hong Kong, 7 March 2019
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Mineral Resource and Ore Reserve Statement

Mineral Resources and Ore Reserves Annual Statement

The estimates for Mineral Resources and Ore Reserves as at 31 December 2018 were disclosed to the
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong (“Stock Exchange”) in compliance with the reporting guidelines as set
out in the 2012 Edition of the Australasian Code for Reporting of Exploration Results, Mineral Resources
and Ore Reserves (the “JORC Code”) in April 2019:

< Mineral Resources and Ore Reserves Updated (Stock Code: 1712)

The statement of Mineral Resources for Dragon Mining Limited (the “Company” or “Dragon Mining”)
totals 13,638 kt grading 3.2 g/t gold for 1,421 kozs as at 31 December 2018, inclusive of Ore Reserves.
This represents a 0.1% increase in tonnes and 1.2% decrease in ounces when compared to the total
Mineral Resource of 13,630 kt grading 3.3 g/t gold for 1,438 kozs as at 30 September 2017, the date
of the last formal update of Dragon Mining’s Mineral Resources, which were released to the Australian
Securities Exchange (“ASX”) on 11 January 2018 — Mineral Resources Updated For Dragon Mining’s
Nordic Projects.

The Group’s total Proved and Probable Ore Reserves as at 31 December 2018 are 2,615kt grading 2.8
g/t gold for 234 kozs, the highest total Ore Reserve tonnage level recorded by Dragon Mining since
commencing activities in the Nordic Region in 2000.

This represents a 13.0% increase in tonnes and 0.9% increase in ounces, when compared to the
previous update on the 30 September 2017 of 2,315 kt grading 3.1 g/t gold for 232 kozs that was
released to ASX on 23 February 2018 — Dragon Mining Updates Ore Reserves for Nordic Projects.

The updates have resulted in the mine life of the Jokisivu Gold Mine being extended, providing the
Group with the confidence that the available Ore Reserves in Finland are sustainable until, and
beyond when full scale mining could potentially begin at the Faboliden Gold Project in Sweden.
When including the Ore Reserves for the Faboliden Gold Project, where the Group is working towards
obtaining an Environmental Permit for full-scale mining, the Group now has sufficient Ore Reserves for
production through to at least mid-2024.

Estimation Governance Statement

The Group has ensured that the Mineral Resources and Ore Reserves estimated are subject to good
governance arrangements and internal controls. The Mineral Resources and Ore Reserves have been
finalised by independent mining consultants, RPMGlobal in Western Australia, an organisation whose
personnel have exposure to best practices in modelling and estimation methods. RPMGlobal has
also undertaken reviews of the quality and suitability of the underlying information, which included
a site visit of the Group’s mining projects in 2015, 2016 and 2017. In addition, Dragon Mining’s
management regularly carries out reviews and audits of internal processes, and of external contractors
that are utilised by the Company.

Dragon Mining reports Mineral Resources and Ore Reserves at least annually in compliance with
the reporting guidelines as set out in the JORC Code. If there are any material changes to its Mineral
Resources or Ore Reserves during the course of the year the Company is required to and promptly
reports these changes.

Dragon Mining Limited Annual Report 2018



Mineral Resource and Ore Reserve Statement (Cont’d)

MINERAL RESOURCES

Mineral Resource estimates for the Vammala Production Centre in southern Finland and the
Svartliden Production Centre in northern Sweden as at 31 December 2018. Mineral Resources are
reported inclusive of stockpiles and Ore Reserves.

Measured Indicated [nferred Total
Tonnes Gold  Ounces  Tonnes Gold  Ounces  Tomnes ~ Gold  Ounces  Tomnes ~ Gold  Ounces
(k) @t (kozs) (k) @ (kozs) (k) @ (koz) (k) @ (kozs)

Vammala Production Centre - Southern Finland

Jokisivu Gold Mine

Kujank&”io 531 44 76 736 33 78 139 3.6 16 1,406 3.8 170
Arpola 84 43 12 449 49 7 162 52 27 695 49 10
Stockpiles - - - 38 17 2 - - - 38 17 2
Total 615 44 87 1223 3.8 151 300 45 43 2139 41 262

Orivesi Gold Mine

Kutema 39 55 7 34 0.1 7 X 46 3 97 55 17
Sarvisuo 36 75 9 30 72 7 4 57 8 108 0.7 3
Stockpiles - - - 4 40 I - - - 4 40 1
Total 75 0.5 16 08 0.5 14 06 53 11 209 6.1 4
Kaapelinkulma Gold Mine

North - - - - - - N 12 2 N 22

South 76 38 9 59 42 8 12 44 2 147 40 19
Total 76 38 9 59 42 8 34 3.0 3 168 38 N
VPC Total 766 46 112 1350 40 173 400 45 5 2516 42 344

Svartliden Production Centre - Northern Sweden
Faboliden Gold Project

Above 350 mRL - - - 3807 28 340 867 24 09 4694 27 409
Below 350 mRL - - - 91 3.1 9% 4978 3. 514 5938 3. 609
Total - - - 4768 28 436 5804 3.1 53 10,632 30 1,019
Svartliden Gold Mine

Open-pit 83 3] 8 160 3.0 16 - - - 244 3.0 4
Underground 36 43 5 150 46 2 60 40 8 215 44 35
Total 119 34 13 3N 3.8 38 60 40 8 489 37 59
SPC Total 119 34 13 5078 29 473 594 31 51 11,121 30 1077
Company Total 865 44 15 6428 31 047 6324 3.2 049 13,038 32 141

Mineral Resources may not sum to equal totals due to rounding. Mineral Resources reported on a dry in-situ basis.
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Mineral Resource and Ore Reserve Statement (Cont’d)

MINERAL RESOURCES (CONT’D)
Reporting Cut-off Grades:
Jokisivu Gold Mine — 1.8 g/t gold

Based on operating costs, mining and processing recoveries from Jokisivu actuals, and a gold price
extrapolated for the potential economic extraction of the resource at a level approximating 120% of the
spot gold price of US$1,525 per ounce as at 31 December 2018.

Orivesi Gold Mine — 3.1 g/t gold

Based on operating costs, mining and processing recoveries from Orivesi actuals, and a gold price
extrapolated for the potential economic extraction of the resource at a level approximating 120% of the
spot gold price of US$1,525 per ounce as at 31 December 2018.

Kaapelinkulma Gold Project — 1.0 g/t gold

Based on costs and recoveries from the updated Kaapelinkulma Pre-Feasibility study and a gold price
extrapolated for the potential economic extraction of the resource at a level approximating 115% of the
spot gold price of US$1,500 per ounce as at 30 September 2017.

The Kaapelinkulma Mineral Resource remains unchanged since 30 September 2017. Details of this
Mineral Resource were released to the ASX on 11 January 2018 — Mineral Resources Updated for
Dragon Mining’s Nordic Projects.

Faboliden Gold Project — 1.25 g/t gold for material above the 350 m RL and 2.10 g/t gold for
material below the 350 mRL

Based on costs and recoveries from the updated Faboliden Pre-Feasibility study and a gold price
extrapolated for the potential economic extraction of the resource at a level approximating 125% of the
spot gold price of US$1,500 per ounce as at 31 December 2016.

The Féaboliden Mineral Resources remain unchanged since 31 December 2016. Details of this Mineral
Resource were released to the ASX on the 28 February 2017 — Mineral Resources Updated for the
Nordic Production Centres.

Svartliden Gold Mine — 1.0 g/t gold for open-pit material and 1.70 g/t gold for underground
material

Based on updated estimates for mining costs and a gold price extrapolated for the potential economic
extraction of the open-pit and underground resource at a level approximating 125% of the spot gold
price of US$1,500 per ounce as at 31 December 2016.

The Svartliden Mineral Resources remain unchanged since 31 December 2016, details of which were

released to the ASX on the 28 February 2017 — Mineral Resources Updated for the Nordic Production
Centres.
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Mineral Resource and Ore Reserve Statement (Cont’d)

ORE RESERVES

Ore Reserves for the Vammala Production Centre in southern Finland and the Svartliden Production
Centre in northern Sweden as at 31 December 2018.

Proved Probable Total
Tonnes Gold  Ounces  Tonnes Gold  Ounces  Tonnes Gold  Ounces
(kt) (g (kozs) (ko) g (kozs) (ko) (g (kozs)
Vammala Production Centre
Jokisivu (UG) 520 2.3 38 864 2.6 71 1,384 25 110
Kaapelinkulma (OP) 5 3.9 6.5 19 43 2.6 71 40
Svartliden Production Centre
Faboliden (OP) - - - 1,160 3.1 115 1,160 3.1 115
Group Total 572 2.4 445 2,043 29 188.6 2,615 2.8 234

Ore Reserve estimates have been rounded to reflect accuracy. All the estimates are on a dry tonne basis.

Jokisivu Gold Mine: The following economic in-situ stope ore cut-off grades of Kujankallio: 2.2 g/t gold;
Arpola A — 2.2 g/t gold; Arpola B — 2.2 g/t gold; Arpola C — 1.9 g/t gold; Arpola D - 2.2 g/t gold were
based on a US$1,270 per troy ounce gold price, a EUR:USD exchange rate of 1.17, process recovery of
92%, historical costs and mining factors.

Kaapelinkulma Gold Mine: The in-situ ore cut-off grade is 1.1 g/t gold is based on a gold price of
US$1,260 per troy ounce, a EUR:USD exchange rate of 1.13, process recovery of 85%, mining factors
and costs.

The Kaapelinkulma Ore Reserve remains unchanged since 30 September 2017. Details of this Ore
Reserve were previously released to the ASX on 23 February 2018 — Dragon Mining Updates Ore
Reserves for Nordic Projects.

Faboliden Gold Project: The in-situ ore cut-off grade is 1.47 g/t gold based on a gold price of US$1,260
per troy ounce, a USD:SEK exchange rate of 8.55, process recovery of 82%, mining factors and costs.

The Faboliden Ore Reserve remains unchanged since 31 December 2016. Details of this Ore Reserve

were previously released to the ASX on the 21 March 2017 — Ore Reserves Updated for Dragon
Mining’s Nordic Projects.
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Mineral Resource and Ore Reserve Statement (Cont’d)

RESOURCES AND RESERVES STATEMENT
Competent Persons Statements

The information in this report that relates to Mineral Resources for the Jokisivu Gold Mine and Orivesi
Gold Mine dated 31 December 2018 were previously released to the Stock Exchange in April 2019
— Mineral Resources and Ore Reserves Updated. This release can be found at www.hkex.com.hk
(Stock Code: 1712). It represents information compiled or supervised by Mr David Allmark who is
a full-time employee of RPM Advisory Services Pty Ltd and a Registered Member of the Australasian
Institute of Mining and Metallurgy. Mr Allmark has sufficient experience that is relevant to the styles of
mineralisation and types of deposit under consideration and to the activity being undertaken to qualify
as a Competent Person as defined in the JORC Code 2012 Edition. Written consent was previously
provided by Mr Allmark for the April 2019 release.

The Company confirms that it is not aware of any new information or data that materially affects the
Mineral Resources as reported April 2019, and the assumptions and technical parameters underpinning
the estimates in the April 2019 release continue to apply and have not materially changed.

Mr Neale Edwards BSc (Hons), a Fellow of the Australian Institute of Geoscientists, who is a
full-time employee of Dragon Mining and has sufficient experience which is relevant to the style of
mineralisation and type of deposit under consideration and to the activity which he is undertaking
to qualify as Competent Person as defined in the JORC Code 2012 Edition confirms that the form
and context in which the Mineral Resources dated 31 December 2018 presented in this report have
not been materially modified and are consistent with the April 2019 release. Mr Neale Edwards has
provided written consent approving the use of previously reported Mineral Resources in this report in
the form and context in which they appear.

The information in this report that relates to Mineral Resources dated 30 September 2017 for the
Kaapelinkulma Gold Mine were previously released to the ASX on the 11 January 2018 — Mineral
Resources Updated for the Nordic Production Centres. This release can be found at www.asx.com.au
(Code: DRA). It fairly represents information and supporting documentation that was compiled or
supervised by Mr Jeremy Clark who is a full-time employee of RPMGlobal Asia Limited and a Registered
Member of the Australasian Institute of Mining and Metallurgy. Mr Jeremy Clark has sufficient
experience that is relevant to the styles of mineralisation and types of deposit under consideration and
to the activity being undertaken to qualify as a Competent Person as defined in the JORC Code 2012
Edition. Written consent was previously provided by Mr Jeremy Clark for the 11 January 2018 release.

The Company confirms that it is not aware of any new information or data that materially affects the
Mineral Resources as reported on 11 January 2018, and the assumptions and technical parameters
underpinning the estimates in the 11 January 2018 release continue to apply and have not materially
changed.
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Mineral Resource and Ore Reserve Statement (Cont’d)

RESOURCES AND RESERVES STATEMENT (CONT’D)
Competent Persons Statements (Cont’d)

Mr Neale Edwards BSc (Hons), a Fellow of the Australian Institute of Geoscientists, who is a
full-time employee of Dragon Mining and has sufficient experience which is relevant to the style of
mineralisation and type of deposit under consideration and to the activity which he is undertaking to
qualify as Competent Person as defined in the JORC Code 2012 Edition confirms that the form and
context in which the Mineral Resources dated 30 September 2017 presented in this report have not
been materially modified and are consistent with the 11 January 2018 release. Mr Neale Edwards has
provided written consent approving the use of previously reported Mineral Resources in this report in
the form and context in which they appear.

The information in this report that relates to Mineral Resources dated 31 December 2016 for the
Faboliden Gold Project and Svartliden Gold Mine were previously released to ASX on 28 February
2017 — Mineral Resources Updated for Dragon Mining’s Nordic Projects. This release can be found
at www.asx.com.au (Code: DRA). It fairly represents information and supporting documentation
that was compiled or supervised by Mr Jeremy Clark who is a full-time employee of RPMClobal Asia
Limited and a Registered Member of the Australasian Institute of Mining and Metallurgy. Mr Jeremy
Clark has sufficient experience that is relevant to the styles of mineralisation and types of deposit under
consideration and to the activity being undertaken to qualify as a Competent Person as defined in the
JORC Code 2012 Edition. Written consent was previously provided by Mr Jeremy Clark for the 28
February 2017 release.

The Company confirms that it is not aware of any new information or data that materially affects the
Mineral Resources as reported on 28 February 2017, and the assumptions and technical parameters
underpinning the estimates in the 28 February 2017 release continue to apply and have not materially
changed.

Mr Neale Edwards BSc (Hons), a Fellow of the Australian Institute of Geoscientists, who is a
full-time employee of Dragon Mining and has sufficient experience which is relevant to the style of
mineralisation and type of deposit under consideration and to the activity which he is undertaking to
qualify as Competent Person as defined in the JORC Code 2012 Edition confirms that the form and
context in which the Mineral Resources dated 31 December 2016 presented in this report have not
been materially modified and are consistent with the 28 February 2017 release. Mr Neale Edwards has
provided written consent approving the use of previously reported Mineral Resources in this report in
the form and context in which they appear.

The information in this report that relates to Ore Reserves for the Jokisivu Gold Mine is based
on information compiled by Mr Joe McDiarmid, who is a Chartered Professional Member of the
Australasian Institute of Mining and Metallurgy and is an employee of RPM Advisory Services Pty Ltd.
Mr Joe McDiarmid has sufficient experience which is relevant to the style of mineralisation and type of
deposit under consideration and to the activity which he is undertaking to qualify as Competent Person
as defined in the JORC Code 2012 Edition. Mr Joe McDiarmid has provided written consent for the
inclusion in this report of the matters based on their information in the form and context in which it
appears.
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Mineral Resource and Ore Reserve Statement (Cont’d)

RESOURCES AND RESERVES STATEMENT (CONT’D)
Competent Persons Statements (Cont’d)

The information in this report that relates to Ore Reserves for the Kaapelinkulma Gold Mine was
previously released to ASX on the 23 February 2018 — Dragon Mining Updates Ore Reserves for
Nordic Projects, which can be found at www.asx.com.au (Code: DRA). It fairly represents information
and supporting documentation that was compiled by Mr Joe McDiarmid, who is a Chartered
Professional Member of the Australasian Institute of Mining and Metallurgy and is an employee of RPM
Advisory Services Pty Ltd. Mr Joe McDiarmid has sufficient experience which is relevant to the style of
mineralisation and type of deposit under consideration and to the activity which he is undertaking to
qualify as Competent Person as defined in the JORC Code 2012 Edition. Written consent was previously
provided by Mr McDiarmid for the 23 February 2018 release.

The Company confirms that it is not aware of any new information or data that materially affects the
Ore Reserves for the Faboliden Gold Project as reported on 23 February 2018, and the assumptions
and technical parameters underpinning the estimates in the 23 February 2018 release continue to apply
and have not materially changed.

Mr Neale Edwards BSc (Hons), a Fellow of the Australian Institute of Geoscientists, who is a full time
employee of Dragon Mining and has sufficient experience which is relevant to the style of mineralisation
and type of deposit under consideration and to the activity which he is undertaking to qualify as
Competent Person as defined in the JORC Code 2012 Edition confirms that the form and context
in which the Mineral Resources are presented in this report have not been materially modified and
are consistent with the 23 February 2018 release. Mr Neale Edwards has provided written consent
approving the statement of the Fdboliden Ore Reserves in this report in the form and context in which it
appears.

The information in this report that relates to Ore Reserves for the Faboliden Gold Project was previously
released to ASX on the 21 March 2017 — Ore Reserves Updated for Dragon Mining’s Nordic Projects,
which can be found at www.asx.com.au (Code: DRA). It fairly represents information and supporting
documentation that was compiled by Mr Joe McDiarmid, who is a Chartered Professional Member of
the Australasian Institute of Mining and Metallurgy and is an employee of RPM Advisory Services Pty
Ltd. Mr Joe McDiarmid has sufficient experience which is relevant to the style of mineralisation and
type of deposit under consideration and to the activity which he is undertaking to qualify as Competent
Person as defined in the JORC Code 2012 Edition. Written consent was previously provided by Mr
McDiarmid for the 21 March 2017 release.

The Company confirms that it is not aware of any new information or data that materially affects the
Ore Reserves for the Faboliden Gold Project as reported on 21 March 2017, and the assumptions and
technical parameters underpinning the estimates in the 21 March 2017 release continue to apply and
have not materially changed.

Dragon Mining Limited Annual Report 2018
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Mineral Resource and Ore Reserve Statement (Cont’d)

RESOURCES AND RESERVES STATEMENT (CONT’D)
Competent Persons Statements (Cont’d)

Mr Neale Edwards BSc (Hons), a Fellow of the Australian Institute of Geoscientists, who is a full-time
employee of Dragon Mining and has sufficient experience which is relevant to the style of mineralisation
and type of deposit under consideration and to the activity which he is undertaking to qualify as
Competent Person as defined in the JORC Code 2012 Edition confirms that the form and context in
which the Mineral Resources are presented in this report have not been materially modified and are
consistent with the 21 March 2017 release. Mr Neale Edwards has provided written consent approving
the statement of the Faboliden Ore Reserves in this report in the form and context in which it appears.

The information in this report that relates to Exploration Results were previously released to the ASX
on 17 April 2018 — Update of Activities Completed in Southern Finland; 15 June 2018 — Orivesi
Drilling Returns Significant Gold Intercepts; and 17 July 2018 — Update of Activities Completed at
the Jokisivu Gold Mine; and to the Stock Exchange on 28 December 2018 — Dirilling at the Jokisivu
Gold Mine Returns Significant Results. These releases can be found at www.asx.com.au (Code:
DRA) and wwwhkex.com.hk (Stock Code: 1712). They fairly represent information and supporting
documentation that was compiled by Mr Neale Edwards BSc (Hons), a Fellow of the Australian Institute
of Geoscientists, who is a full time employee of the Company and has sufficient experience that is
relevant to the style of mineralisation and type of deposit under consideration and to the activity that he is
undertaking to qualify as Competent Person as defined in the 2012 Edition of the Australasian Code of
Reporting for Exploration Results, Mineral Resources and Ore Reserves. Written consent was previously
provided by Mr Neale Edwards for the releases dated the 17 April 2018, 15 June 2018, 17 July 2018
and 28 December 2018.

The Company confirms that it is not aware of any new information or data that materially affects
the Exploration Results as released on 17 April 2018, 15 June 2018, 17 July 2018 and 28 December
2018, and the assumptions and technical parameters underpinning the Exploration Results in the listed
releases continue to apply and have not materially changed.

Mr Neale Edwards BSc (Hons), a Fellow of the Australian Institute of Geoscientists, who is a full-time
employee of Dragon Mining and has sufficient experience which is relevant to the style of mineralisation
and type of deposit under consideration and to the activity which he is undertaking to qualify as
Competent Person as defined in the JORC Code 2012 Edition confirms that the form and context in
which the Exploration Results are presented in this report have not been materially modified from the
releases dated 17 April 2018, 15 June 2018, 17 July 2018 and 28 December 2018. Mr Neale Edwards
has provided written consent approving the Exploration Results in this report in the form and context in
which they appear.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BUSINESS REVIEW
Nature of Operations and Principal Activities

The Group comprises Dragon Mining Limited (“Dragon Mining” or the “Company”), the parent entity,
and its subsidiaries. Of these subsidiaries, the operating entities are Dragon Mining (Sweden) AB in
Sweden and Dragon Mining Oy in Finland.

The Group operates gold mines and processing facilities in Finland and Sweden. In Finland, the
Vammala Production Centre (“Vammala”) consists of a conventional 300,000 tonne per annum
crushing, milling and flotation plant (“Vammala Plant”), the Orivesi Gold Mine (“Orivesi”) and the
Jokisivu Gold Mine (“Jokisivu”). In March 2019, the Vammala Plant will begin processing ore from the
Group’s Kaapelinkulma Gold Mine (“Kaapelinkulma”) upon commencement of first mining activities.
Annual production from Finland is in the range of 23,000 to 30,000 ounces of gold depending on the
grade of ore and gold concentrate feed.

In Sweden, the processing operation is known as the Svartliden Production Centre (“Svartliden”),
consisting of a 300,000 tonne per annum carbon-in-leach (“CIL”) processing plant (“Svartliden Plant”)
and the Svartliden Gold Mine (mining completed 2013). As mining of the original Svartliden Gold
Mine has finished, no locally produced ore will be processed in Sweden until the Faboliden Gold Mine
(“Faboliden”) commences test mining in May 2019, with first production scheduled for August 2019.

The principal activities of the Group during the year were:

. Gold mining, and processing ore in Finland;
. Processing gold concentrate in Sweden; and
. Exploration, evaluation and development of gold projects in the Nordic region.

There have been no significant changes in the nature of those activities during the year.
OPERATIONS OVERVIEW

Safety Performance

The Group finished the year with a 12 month rolling lost time injury (“LTI”) frequency rate, per million
work hours of 4.32 (2017: 0.0). One LTI occurred at the Group’s Finnish operations during 2018.

Impressively Orivesi has achieved over 1,489 days LTI free, Vammala and Jokisivu recorded 298 and
1,105 LTI free days respectively and Svartliden recorded over 1,000 days LTI free.

Dragon Mining Limited Annual Report 2018
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Cont'd)

OPERATIONS OVERVIEW (CONT’D)

Finland Operations

Vammala Plant

The Vammala Plant has produced 336,219 ounces of gold in concentrate to 31 December 2018.
During 2018, the Vammala Plant treated 308,070 wet metric tonnes (“WMT”) of ore (2017: 315,058
WMT of ore) with an average grade of 3.8 g/t gold (2017: 3.1 g/t gold) to produce 24,883 ounces of
gold (2017: 28,204 ounces of gold) at a recovery level of 87.5% (2017: 87.1%) and a C1 cash cost
of US$992 per ounce (2017: US$723 per ounce). Vammala mill feed was sourced from Orivesi and
Jokisivu, comprising:

. 34,570 DMT of ore from Orivesi at an average grade of 4.8 g/t gold; and

. 273,500 DMT of ore from Jokisivu at an average grade of 2.6 g/t gold.

Vammala Production Centre

2018 2017

Ore Mined (WMT) 301,430 313,674
Mined Grade (g/t gold) 3.8 3.1
Ore Milled (WMT) 308,070 317,792
Head Grade (g/t) 2.9 3.1
Recovery (%) 87.5% 87.1%
Gold Production (0z) 24,883 28,204
C1 Cash Cost (US$/ounce gold) US$992 US$723
1 The Company has adopted the C1 cash cost definitions as set out by Mackenzie Wood (formerly Brook Hunt), which
are not in accordance with IFRS. Where used, the information has not been subject to audit by the Group’s external

auditors.

Orivesi Gold Mine

Total ore mined from Orivesi was 37,140 WMT at 3.9 g/t gold; 14,030 WMT of ore came from ore
stopes (2017: 54,005 WMT), the remaining 23,110 WMT came from ore development (2017: 15,287
WMT).

Orivesi Gold Mine

2018 2017
Ore Mined (WMT) 37,140 69,291
Mined Grade (g/t gold) 3.9 3.9

At Orivesi, mining in the deep parts of the Kutema lode system ceased during Q1 2018, with
production coming mainly from the Sarvisuo lode system.

Dragon Mining Limited Annual Report 2018



Management Discussion and Analysis (Cont'd)

OPERATIONS OVERVIEW (CONT’D)

Finland Operations (Cont’d)

Orivesi Gold Mine (Cont’d)

Orivesi gold production for the year was negatively impacted by:

J a decrease in higher grade ore tonnes with the shortfall not fully compensated by the addition of
lower grade ore tonnes from the Jokisivu Mine;

. a focus on development activities in the upper parts of Orivesi in preparation for the mining
of high-grade ore tonnes that had the potential to be safely extracted from previously unmined
portions of mineralisation in the upper parts of Orivesi;

. highly unstable conditions encountered in the upper parts of Orivesi during the last quarter of
2018 and, for safety reasons, access to the areas was delayed by the installation of intensive
reinforcement or where the safety risk was too great resulted in considerable tonnes being unsafe
to mine; and

. mechanical problems with the crusher in December rendered the operation unable to process
the high-grade Orivesi ore during the last two weeks in December. As a result, these tonnes
with a grade of 9.4 g/t of gold were substituted with low-grade ore tonnes from Jokisivu. These
high-grade tonnes will be processed in 2019.

Development work at Orivesi advanced 1,291 metres during the year (2017: 1,085 metres). Successful
drilling campaigns carried out at Orivesi during early 2018 yielded a series of new intercepts that
resulted in additional moderate-to-high-grade mineable tonnes being defined, extending production to
May 2019.

Jokisivu Gold Mine

Production from Jokisivu came from the main zone of the Kujankallio deposit and the Arpola deposit,
with ore coming from both stope and development works. Total ore mined from Jokisivu was 264,679
WMT at 2.8 g/t gold; 113,391 WMT of ore came from ore stopes (2017: 54,005 WMT) and the
remaining 151,288 WMT (2017: 152,979 WMT) came from ore development.

Jokisivu Gold Mine

2018 2017
Ore Mined (DMT) 264,679 244,383
Mined Grade (g/t gold) 2.8 2.9

The increase in ore mined was a result of low-grade ore from Jokisivu being used to assist with the
shortfall of high-grade ore from Orivesi.

Successful drilling campaigns undertaken at Jokisivu during 2018 returned a series of significant

intercepts and effectively replaced resource tonnes mined from Jokisivu over the course of the year.
Deepening of the Jokisivu decline advanced 175 metres and is now at the 420 metre level.
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OPERATIONS OVERVIEW (CONT’D)
Finland Operations (Cont’d)
Kaapelinkulma Gold Mine

The Company continued to advance Kaapelinkulma towards mine start up with the commencement
of pre-strip activities in 2018. Refer to Advanced Projects and Exploration Review on page 26 and the
Environmental Review on page 29 for further updates on mine start up and permitting.

Sweden Operations
Svartliden Production Centre

The Svartliden Plant is a CIL facility that has a processing capacity of approximately 300,000 tonne per
annum, located in northern Sweden, approximately 700 kilometres north of Stockholm. The Svartliden
Plant has been part of an integrated operation comprising the plant and an open pit and underground
mining operation. Brought into production in March 2005, Svartliden has produced a total of 391,610
ounces of gold up to the end of 2016 which is the last time Svartliden produced gold from external
concentrates. Since that time, Svartliden has been processing gold concentrate from Orivesi and
Jokisivu into gold doré bars.

During 2018, the Svartliden Plant has operated at below breakeven to ensure the retention of staff in
readiness for the commencement of mining and first processing of ore tonnes from Fédboliden. The
mining of Faboliden is expected to commence in May 2019 with first production scheduled in August
2019.

Almost 100% of Jokisivu and Orivesi flotation concentrate was processed at Svartliden throughout
the year; a small amount of flotation concentrate was delivered to the Boliden Harjavalta smelter in
addition to a small amount of gravity gold delivered to the Argor-Heraeus refinery.

In May 2018, the Faboliden Test Mining Permit gained legal force, enabling the Company to
commence the initial phase of test mining work in August 2018; refer to the Advance Project and
Exploration Review on page 26 for further details. Faboliden will recommence test mining operations in
May 2019, and the Svartliden Plant is expected to commence processing Faboliden test mining ore in
August 2019.

The Company also received certified shipper status in Sweden to allow streamlined gold shipments.
Employees

The total number of headcount of the Group as at 31 December 2018 was 82 (2017: 83). Total staff
costs including Directors emoluments amounted to AU$9.7 million (2017: AU$9.8 million). The Group
reviews remuneration packages from time to time. The remuneration packages for our employees
generally include a basic salary component and a productive incentive payment. We determine
employee remuneration based on factors such as qualifications and years of experience, whilst the
amount of annual incentive payment will be assessed and determined by the remuneration committee
and the Board against the key performance indicators achieved. We also provide our employees with
welfare benefits, including pension and healthcare benefits, as well as other miscellaneous items. We
provide training to our employees to improve the skills and professional knowledge they need for our
operations and their personal development, including an initial training induction on work safety and
environmental protection, upon entering the Company and prior to each exploration or operational
activity.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Cont'd)

OPERATIONS OVERVIEW (CONT’D)
Environment, and Social and Governance

The Company is very clear on the need to earn the respect and support of the community by operating
in a socially responsible manner, and by demonstrating a tangible commitment to environmental
sustainability.

The Company operates in three national regulatory environments and the supra-national regime of
the European Union. While compliance with these regulatory environments and specific operational
licence conditions are the basis of the Company’s environmental management procedures, the
Company is committed to the principle of developing and implementing best applicable practices in
environmental design and management and will actively work to:

o protect the environment surrounding its operations;

. give environmental aspects due consideration in all phases of mining projects, from exploration
and evaluation through to development, operation, production and final closure; and

. act systematically in the planning, execution, monitoring and improvement of environmental
performance.

The Company is committed to operating in a way which contributes to the sustainable development
of mineral resources through efficient, balanced and long-term management, while showing due
consideration for the wellbeing of people, protection of the environment, and the development of the
local and national economy and of society in general.

The Board has overall responsibility for the Company’s strategy and reporting in respect of
Environmental, Social and Governance (“ESG”) issues. The Board reviews the effectiveness of the
Group’s risk management and internal control systems, which are put in place to identify, evaluate
and manage the Company’s operating risks, environmental risks, social governance and financial risks.
Based upon the assessments made by the Company’s appropriately qualified senior management, and
the Company’s external Auditor, the Board considers that such systems are effective and adequate. As
part of the Hong Kong listing rules the Company expects to release its annual ESG Report within three
months of it releasing the Company’s Annual Report.

Operational Risks

The Company faces operational risks on a continual basis. The Company has adopted policies and
procedures designed to manage and mitigate those risks wherever possible. However, it is not possible
to avoid or even manage all possible risks. Some of the operational risks are outlined below but the
total risk profile both known and unknown is much more extensive.

. Safety
Lost time injuries, serious workplace accidents or significant equipment failures may lead to
harm to the Company’s employees or other persons, temporary operation stoppage or closure of

an operating mine, which could delay production schedules and disrupt operations, and impose
a material and adverse impact on the business.
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OPERATIONS OVERVIEW (CONT’D)

Operational Risks (Cont’d)

Safety (Cont’d)

The Company continues to work closely with all stakeholders to promote continuous safety
improvements and Occupational Health and Safety (“OH&S”) taking into account evolving
scientific knowledge and technology, management practices and community expectations.

The Company ensures it maintains compliance with the applicable laws, regulations and the
standards of the countries it operates in by:

J improving and monitoring OH&S performance;

. training and ensuring its employees and contractors understand their obligations and are
held accountable for their responsibilities;

J communicating and openly consulting with employees, contractors, government and
community on OH&S issues; and

J developing risk management systems to appropriately identify, assess, monitor and control
hazards in the workplace.

Production

The Company has two pre-production assets, Fidboliden in Sweden and Kaapelinkulma in
Finland (“Pre-Production Assets”). As at 31 December 2018, neither Pre-Production Asset had
commenced commercial production and any delay or failure to commence production in
accordance with the current timetable may adversely impact the Company’s results for 2019.

The recovery rate and production costs are dependent on many technical assumptions and
factors, namely geological, physical and metallurgical characteristics of ores. Any change in
these assumptions and factors may have an adverse effect on the Group’s production volume
or profitability. Actual production may vary from expectation for a variety of reasons, including
grade, tonnage, dilution and plant recovery.

Plant breakdown or availability affect the operation.
Permitting

The Company may encounter difficulties in obtaining all permits necessary for its exploration,
evaluation and production activities at its existing operations or for Pre-Production Assets. It
may also be subject to ongoing obligations to comply with permit requirements which can incur
additional time and costs.

The application for a full-scale mining Permit for Faboliden was submitted to the Land and
Environmental Court in July 2018. If the Company faces significant delay in obtaining the
full-scale mining Permit, it could materially and adversely affect the Company’s profitability.
Such delays would likely require the Company to re-evaluate the continued operations of the
Svartliden operations. The Environmental Review on page 29 provides updates on rehabilitation
and status of permitting at the Company’s Swedish and Finnish operations.
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OPERATIONS OVERVIEW (CONT’D)
Operational Risks (Cont’d)
o Social and Political

The Company has faced and may continue to face activist opposition from groups or individuals
opposed to mining generally or to specific projects resulting in delays or increased costs or other
adverse effects affecting the political climate.

In addition to the above micro level risks, the Company is exposed to other risks which include, but
are not limited to, cyber attack, environmental activism, political and economic instability, and natural
disaster, all of which can have varying degrees of impact on the Company and its operating activities.
Where available and appropriate to do so, the Board will seek to minimise exposure through the use of
insurance and or actively monitoring the Company’s ongoing exposure on a whole.

FINANCIAL REVIEW

While the Finland operations still returned a profit and remained cash positive, the Hong Kong listing
expenses and the cost of carrying the operations in Sweden resulted in the Group generating a net loss
after tax for the year ended 31 December 2018 of AU$9.5 million (2017: loss AU$0.6 million).

Such net loss is primarily due to the factors that had a significant impact on annual production:

. a decrease in higher-grade ore tonnes with the shortfall not fully compensated by the addition of
lower-grade ore tonnes from the Jokisivu Mine;

. a focus on development activities in the upper parts of Orivesi in preparation for the mining
of high-grade ore tonnes that had the potential to be safely extracted from previously unmined
portions of mineralisation in the upper parts of Orivesi;

. highly unstable conditions encountered in the upper parts of Orivesi during the last quarter of
2018 and, for safety reasons, access to the areas was delayed by the installation of intensive
reinforcement or where the safety risk was too great resulted in considerable tonnes being unsafe
to mine; and

. mechanical problems with the Crusher in December rendered the operation unable to process
the high grade Orivesi ore during the last two weeks in December. As a result, these tonnes with
a grade of 9.4 g/t of gold were substituted with low grade ore tonnes from Jokisivu. These high
grade tonnes will be processed in 2019.
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FINANCIAL REVIEW (CONT’D)
Listing on the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong and Initial Public Offer

On 19 October 2018, the Company delisted from the ASX, and, on 5 November 2018, shares in the
Company were successfully listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange.

In conjunction with the listing, the Company completed an Initial Public Offering (“IPO”) of 50,000,000
shares at HK$2.03 (approximately AU$0.35) per share. Total proceeds from the IPO were HK$101.5
million (AU$17.9 million). For details on the use of net proceeds, refer to page 25.

Listing costs totalling AU$3.60 million were incurred during the current year (2017: AU$4.12 million),
with AU$2.29 million (2017: AU$1.60 million) relating to the issue of shares and subsequently
capitalised to contributed equity, and the remaining AU$1.30 million (2017: AU$2.52 million)
expensed to the Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss. Refer to note 1(x) to the Consolidated
Financial Statements for more information.

Interest Bearing Liabilities — AU$12 million unsecured loan facility with AP Finance Limited

During the year, the Company made drawdowns totalling AU$9.0 million and voluntary prepayments
totalling AU$5.0 million on its AU$12.0 million unsecured Loan Facility with AP Finance Limited
(“Loan Facility”), a wholly owned subsidiary of Allied Properties (H.K.) Limited which is a substantial
shareholder of the Company.

On 27 December 2018, the Company extended the Loan Facility availability period from 31 December
2019 to 30 June 2020; all terms and conditions remain unchanged. As at 31 December 2018, the
Company has AU$8.0 million in remaining funds available.

Refer to the section titled ”Significant Events after Year End Date” on page 51 for details of drawdowns
made in 2019.

Revenue from Customers

During the year, the Company sold 22,498 ounces of gold (2017: 25,739 ounces of gold) at an average
gold price of US$1,267 per ounce (2017: US$1,258 per ounce). Revenue from operations amounted
to AU$37.9 million (2017: AU$41.3 million), a decrease of 8.3% against the previous year’s revenue.
Gold production was 11.8% lower than the previous year due to a decrease in higher-grade ore tonnes
from Orivesi, partially offset by an increase in lower-grade ore tonnes from Jokisivu.

Dragon Mining Limited Annual Report 2018



Management Discussion and Analysis (Cont'd)

FINANCIAL REVIEW (CONT’D)

Cost of Sales

Because of lower production and processing lower-grade ore, the Company’s 2018 C1 Cash Cost
increased 37.2% to US$992 per ounce (2017: US$723 per ounce). Cost of sales increased to AU$41.2

million (2017: AU$35.7 million), representing an increase of 15.2%.

Cost of sales includes mining, processing, other production activities and depreciation as follows:

2018 2017 %

Cost of sales AU$’000 AU$’000 change
Mining costs 24,017 21,408 12.2%
Processing costs 12,279 10,293 19.3%
Other production costs 1,370 1,128 21.5%
Depreciation 3,488 2,903 20.2%
41,154 35,732 15.2%

Mining unit costs increased by 4.3% to €49 per tonne of ore (2017: €47 per tonne); the unit cost
variance is volume driven with 301,430 ore tonnes mined during the year (2017: 314,660 ore
tonnes mined). In EUR terms, mining costs were relatively stable over the year; however the 6.9%
depreciation of the average AUD/EUR (Dec 2018: AUD/EUR 0.6328 versus Dec 2017: AUD/
EUR 0.6794) added a further AU$1.6 million to translated mining costs.

Fluctuations in inventory levels and value are a normal part of the business operations which
result from the timing of gold pours, shipments, grade, ore source impacting leaching residence
times, and inventory revaluations. Ore stockpiles for the Group ended the year with an AU$0.5
million credit movement to cost of sales (2017: a credit movement of AU$2.1 million to cost of
sales).

Processing unit costs at the Vammala Plant were consistent at €13 per ore tonne milled (2017: €13
per tonne). The AUD depreciation against the EUR increased processing costs by AU$0.4 million
and an overall credit to inventory stockpiles of AU$1.0 million increased cost of sales.

Other production activities increased 21.5% to AU$1.4 million (2017: AU$1.1 million) due to an
increase in provisions.

Depreciation increased 20.1% to AU$3.5 million (2017: AU$2.9 million) due to the limited
remaining mine life at Orivesi which will see reserve-related assets fully depreciated by mid-
2019.

Gross Profit

Cost of sales exceed revenue from customers resulting in a gross loss for the year of AU$3.3 million

(2017: gross profit of AU$5.5 million).
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FINANCIAL REVIEW (CONT’D)
Other Revenue

Other revenue remained relatively stable at AU$0.2 million (2017: AU$0.2 million) and includes
interest earned on the proceeds from the Company’s Public Offer made in conjunction with its listing
on the Stock Exchange and waste rock sold for crushing in Finland.

Finance Costs

Finance costs increased to AU$0.2 million (2017: AU$0.01 million) due to the interest payments at
4% made on the drawn balance of the Company’s AU$12.0 million unsecured Loan Facility with AP
Finance Limited.

Hong Kong Listing Expenses

Listing expenses for 2018 consisted of professional fees incurred in relation to the Company’s listing on
the Main Board of the Stock Exchange. The balance of AU$1.3 million in the Consolidated Statement of
Profit of Loss represents those residual expenses not related to the issuing of new shares and thus were
not eligible to be capitalised. A total of AU$3.6 million listing expenses was incurred during the year,
of which AU$2.3 million was capitalised.

Working Capital, Liquidity and Gearing Ratio

At 31 December 2018, the Company had net assets of AU$37.4 million (2017: AU$31.4 million),
a working capital surplus of AU$16.7 million (2017: surplus AU$10.2 million) and a market
capitalisation of approximately AU$31.6 million (2017: AU$16.9 million) or HK$174.9 million.

The Company had AU$10.9 million in cash and cash equivalents (2017: AU$6.6 million), which
includes AU$8.2 million in remaining IPO proceeds to be used for Faboliden (2017: nil). At 31
December 2018, the Company has an AU$12.0 million unsecured Loan Facility with AP Finance
Limited (“Loan Facility”) of which it had AU$8.0 million in unutilised funds remaining available.
During the year, the Company funded its activities through cash inflows from operating activities, debt
and net proceeds raised from the IPO. As at 31 December 2018, the Company’s gearing ratio was 11%
(2017: nil), calculated by dividing total borrowing by total equity.

Key Movements on the Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

. Total current assets increased to AU$25.4 million (2017: AU$20.0 million). Cash and cash
equivalents increased by AU$4.3 million and includes the remaining net proceeds from the IPO.
Other assets decreased with the capitalisation of prepaid share issue costs, upon completion of
the Hong Kong listing.

° Total non-current assets increased to AU$37.4 million (2017: AU$30.3 million). Property Plant
and Equipment includes Mine Properties which represents the accumulation of all acquired
exploration, evaluation and development expenditure, particularly in relation to the development
of the Faboliden and Kaapelinkulma Gold Projects.

. Total non-current liabilities increased to AU$16.9 million (2017: AU$10.8 million) due to
AU$4.2 million increase in interest bearing liabilities (refer to Interest Bearing Liabilities below),
being the HKD denominated Loan Facility and consisting of AU$4.0 million in drawdowns and
an AU$0.2 million revaluation. The remaining movement relates to the adverse foreign exchange
conversion on the Company’s EUR and SEK rehabilitation provisions to AUD.
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FINANCIAL REVIEW (CONT’D)
Financial Risks

Full details of the Company’s Financial Risk Management policies are provided in note 23 of the
Consolidated Financial Statements.

. Foreign Exchange

The Company sells its bullion and gold concentrate in USD, its majority of costs are denominated
in SEK and EUR, an interest-bearing liability denominated in HKD, while the Company’s
presentation currency is AUD.

The Company may use foreign exchange forwards from time to time to reduce exposure to
unpredictable fluctuations in the foreign exchange rates if considered suitable by the Directors.

. Commodity Price

The Company is exposed to movements in the gold price. The Company may use a variety of
financial instruments (such as gold forwards and gold call options) from time to time to reduce
exposure to unpredictable fluctuations in the project life revenue streams if considered suitable
by the Directors. The Company does not plan to hedge commodity price risk.

e Liquidity

The Company is exposed to liquidity risk through its financial liabilities and its ability to meet
obligations to repay its financial liabilities as and when they fall due. The Company intends to
maintain a balance between continuity of funding and flexibility using bank loans and equity
raisings.

o Credit

Credit risk represents the loss that would be recognised if counterparties failed to perform as
contracted. The Company’s maximum exposures to credit risk at reporting date in relation to each
class of financial asset is the carrying amount of those assets as indicated in the Consolidated
Statement of Financial Position.

Credit risk is managed on a group basis and predominantly arises from cash and cash equivalents
deposited with banks and financial institutions, trade and other receivables, and environmental
and other bonds. While the Company has policies in place to ensure that sales are made to
customers with an appropriate credit history, the Company is exposed to a concentration of
credit risk in relation to its gold concentrate sales to a nearby smelter in Finland.

° Interest Rate

Fair value interest rate risk is the risk that the value of a financial instrument will fluctuate
because of changes in market interest rates. Cash flow interest rate risk is the risk that the further
cash flow from a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes in market interest
rates. The Company’s policy is to manage its exposure to interest rate risk by holding cash in
short-term, fixed and variable rate deposits with reputable high credit quality financial
institutions. The Company constantly analyses its interest rate exposure. Consideration is given to
potential renewals of existing positions, alternative financing and/or the mix of fixed and variable
interest rates.
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FINANCIAL REVIEW (CONT’D)
Financial Risks (Cont’d)
. Costs

Fuel, power, labour and all other costs can vary from existing rates and assumptions.
Charges on Company Assets
There were no charges on the Company’s assets as at 31 December 2018 and 31 December 2017.
Contingent Liabilities
As at 31 December 2018, the Company did not have any material contingent liabilities.
Company Strategy

The Company is principally engaged in gold exploration, mining and processing in the Nordic
region. The Company’s objective is to focus on the development of existing and new mining assets
in reasonable proximity to our production plants in Vammala, Finland and Svartliden, Sweden. The
Company operates with a long-term business strategy to operate responsibly taking into account
the interests of all stakeholders including its staff, contractors, the public including civic groups, the
environment and the general amenity of its areas of operation, and produce positive financial outcomes
through (i) the economic operations of its operating mines and production plants; (ii) development of
new projects consistent with the Company’s objective, such as the Faboliden and Kaapelinkulma Gold
Projects; and (iii) attention to the Company’s corporate and social responsibilities, including a focus on
ongoing safety and environmental compliance, and ongoing positive interaction with the communities
within which it operates.

Closure of Register of Members

For determining the entitlement to attend and vote at the Annual General Meeting to be held on
23 May 2019, the registers of members of the Company in Hong Kong and Australia will be closed
from Monday, 20 May 2019 to Thursday, 23 May 2019, both days inclusive, during which period no
transfer of shares will be registered. To be eligible to attend and vote at the AGM, all duly completed
and signed transfer forms accompanied by the relevant share certificates must be lodged with (i) the
Company’s principal share registrar, Computershare Investor Services Pty Limited, Yarra Falls, 452
Johnston Street, Abbotsford VIC 3067, Melbourne for registration no later than 4.30 pm. on Friday, 17
May 2019 (Australian time); (ii) the Company’s share registrar in Hong Kong, Computershare Hong
Kong Investor Services Limited at Shops 1712-1716, 17th Floor, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road
East, Wanchai, Hong Kong for registration no later than 4.30 pm. on Friday, 17 May 2019 (Hong Kong
time).

Significant Investments Held, Material Acquisitions and Disposal of Subsidiaries, and Future
Plans for Material Investments or Capital Assets

Save for those disclosed in this Annual Report, there were no other significant investments held, nor
were there material acquisitions or disposals of subsidiaries during the year. Apart those disclosed
in this Annual Report, there was no plan authorised by the Board for other material investments or
additions of capital assets at the date of this report.
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FINANCIAL REVIEW (CONT’D)

Use of Net Proceeds from The Company’s Initial Public Offer

The net proceeds from the Company’s listing on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange, after deducting
underwriting commission and listing expenses, amounted to HK$53.9 million (AU$9.5 million).

The Company has previously advised in the Prospectus that 90.0% of the net proceeds, representing
approximately HK$48.5 million, would be used to fund mine development, capital expenditure and
operating expenditure activities associated with Faboliden during 2018 and 2019. The Prospectus

allocated the net proceeds as follows:

. Approximately 13.5% of the net proceeds would be used to fund mine development and capital
expenditure activities at Faboliden for the three months ending 31 December 2018; and

. Approximately 76.5% of the net proceeds will be used for funding mine development, capital
expenditure and operating expenditure activities at Faboliden Project for the year ending 31

December 2019; and

. The balance of approximately 10.0% of the net proceeds, representing approximately HK$5.4
million, would be used for working capital and general corporate purposes.

As at 31 December 2018, a total amount of AU$0.8 million (approximately HK$4.6 million) of the net
proceeds had been used by the Company. The INEDs, having reviewed the transaction records of the
account holding the IPO proceeds, confirm that the net proceeds relating to the Faboliden development
have been used only for the Faboliden Project as follows, note the table is presented in the Company’s

presentation currency:

Actual %
Amount  utilised from
Purpose of utilised Listing
proceeds  from5Nov  from 5 Nov
Proposed  expressed as 2018 2018 Proposed Proposed
use of %ofnet  to31Dec  to31Dec usefor % use for
Purpose proceeds proceeds 2018 2018 2019 2019 Expected usage timeframe
AUS000 % AUS000 % AUS000 %
Net proceeds dollar value proposed to be used (incl 1,282 13.5% 382 29.8% 900 70.2%  Remainder expected to be
% of total) versus actual use (incl % of actual total) utilised by August 2019,
for 2018. Use restricted to mine development and
capital expenditure activities
at Faboliden.
Net proceeds dollar value proposed to be used 7,208 76.5% - 0.0% 7,268 100.0%  Net proceeds allocated to 2019
(incl % of total) versus actual use (incl % of actual are expected to be utilised by
total) for 2019. Use restricted to mine development, August 2019.
capital expenditure and operating expenditure at
Faboliden including Faboliden processing costs at
Svartliden.
Working capital and corporate purposes. 950 10.0% 409 43.1% 541 56.9%  Remainder to be utilised by
early 2019,
Totals 9,500 100.0% 791 8.3% 8,709 91.7%
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ADVANCED PROJECTS AND EXPLORATION REVIEW

The Company continued to advance drilling activities on its projects in southern Finland and northern
Sweden during 2018. Drilling was primarily undertaken to better define the extent and geometry of
known mineralised zones and provide information to support mine planning and development.

In Finland, 112 diamond core holes were drilled during the year from underground positions for an
advance of 17,059.55 metres (2017-164 holes for 20,641.10 metres). A total of 13,650 samples (2017-
18,317 samples) were submitted for analysis in Finland. In Sweden, a total of 15 holes were drilled
from surface for an advance of 707.50 metres (2017 — nil). A total of 670 samples (2017 — nil) were
submitted for analysis in Sweden.

SVARTLIDEN PLANT 1
SVARTLIDEN _]
FABOLIDEN

VAMMALA PLANT
JOKISIVU
ORIVESI
KAAPELINKULMA

Stockholm @ Helsinki

SWEDEN

Results continued to highlight the prospective nature of the Company’s project portfolio, returning a
series of significant intercepts from the campaigns that targeted the Sarvisuo and the Sarvisuo West lode
systems at the Orivesi Gold Mine (“Orivesi”) and the Kujankallio Main Zone (“Kujankallio Main Zone”)
and Kujankallio Hinge Zone (“Kujankallio Hinge Zone”) of the Kujankallio deposit and the Arpola
deposit at the Jokisivu Gold Mine (“Jokisivu”). Results for all holes have subsequently been incorporated
into updates of the Orivesi and Jokisivu Mineral Resource estimates.

Full details of the drilling programs have been previously released to the Australian Securities Exchange
(“ASX") or the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong on:

17 April 2018 — Update of Activities Completed in Southern Finland (ASX);
. 15 June 2018 — Orivesi Drilling Returns Significant Gold Intercepts (ASX);
° 17 July 2018 — Update of Activities Completed at the Jokisivu Gold Mine (ASX); and

. 28 December 2018 — Drilling at the Jokisivu Gold Mine Returns Significant Results (Stock
Exchange).

Dragon Mining Limited Annual Report 2018



Management Discussion and Analysis (Cont'd)

ADVANCED PROJECTS AND EXPLORATION REVIEW (CONT’D)

These releases can be found at www.asx.com.au (Code: DRA) or www.hkex.com.hk (Stock Code:
1712).

In addition to drilling, the Company also continued to advance both the Kaapelinkulma and Faboliden
towards production.

Finland

Jokisivu Gold Mine

At Jokisivu a total of 57 underground diamond core holes were drilled over three campaigns for an
advance of 12,103.45 metres. These campaigns included:

. A 27-hole, 6,947.65 metre campaign that was drilled from the 350m level and designed to
further evaluate the Kujankallio Main Zone between the 340m and 420m levels;

. A 26-hole, 4,451.40 metre campaign that was drilled from the 410m level and designed to
further evaluate the Kujankallio Hinge Zone between the 410m and 470m levels; and

. A 4-hole program totalling 704.40 metres, drilled from the 350m level targeting the extensions of
the Arpola deposit.

Each campaign yielded a series of significant intercepts, the results supporting current geological
models, further delineating the principal mineralised zones in the Kujankallio Main Zone and
Kujankallio Hinge Zone area, whilst providing confidence that high-grade mineralised zones associated
with the Arpola deposit continue at depth.

The Company also submitted an application for a new Mining Concession with the Finnish Safety
and Chemicals Agency (“Tukes”). The application is contiguous with Dragon Mining’s current Mining
Concession holding and secures extensions of the known gold deposits at Jokisivu in preparation for
future mine development.

In 2019, drilling programs will continue at Jokisivu from underground positions with the objective of
further evaluating the extensions of the Kujankallio and Arpola deposits and associated satellite zones.

Orivesi Gold Mine

During 2018, 55 underground diamond core drill holes were completed for an advance of 4,956.10
metres during 2018. Campaigns included:

. A 25 hole, 2,451.70 metre campaign that targeted extensions of known gold bearing zones in the
inner area at Sarvisuo West between the 340m and 420m levels;

J An 18 hole, 946.70 metre campaign that was directed at select targets in the outer area at
Sarvisuo West from the 340m level; and

. A 12 hole, 1,557.70 metre campaign that was designed to improve the definition of known lodes
in the upper Sarvisuo area between the 80m and 110m levels.
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ADVANCED PROJECTS AND EXPLORATION REVIEW (CONT’D)
Finland (Cont’d)
Orivesi Gold Mine (Cont’d)

Each campaign returned a series of significant intercepts, the results from the campaign targeting the
inner area at Sarvisuo West defining an 80 metre extension to the primary target at Sarvisuo West, at
high-grades commensurate with results from previous exploration drilling in this area. This near vertical
gold bearing zone is located in close proximity to existing underground development and will be
mined during early 2019.

Exploration activities at Orivesi are currently on hold, pending a decision on the Leave to Appeal and
an Appeal submitted by both the Company and the Centre for Economic Development, Transport and
the Environment of Pirkanmaa, to the Supreme Administrative Court, in relation to the rejection of
the Company’s new Orivesi Environmental Permit by the Western and Inland Finland Regional State
Administrative Office (“AVI”).

Refer to Environmental Review on page 29 for specific permitting updates.
Kaapelinkulma Gold Project

During 2018, the Company continued to advance Kaapelinkulma towards mine start-up during 2018
with the establishment of critical onsite infrastructure, the removal of overburden from the open pit area
and the construction of a noise barrier around the southern perimeter of the planned open pit.

Advancement of Kaapelinkulma towards mine start-up has incurred minimal capital investment to
date as the Company continues to draw on its extensive experience of establishing mining operations
in the Nordic Region. Mining of ore from Kaapelinkulma is scheduled to commence during Q2 2019,
following the recent completion of the settling ponds, contractor’s laydown area and the selection of a
mining contractor.

Kaapelinkulma will be the Company’s third gold mine in the southern Finland region, with ore
extracted by open pit methods and transported by road to the Vammala Plant to produce a high-grade
gold flotation concentrate and gravity concentrate. Refer to Environmental Review on page 29 for
specific permitting updates.

After the year end, a group of activists commenced protests at the mine site which included blockading
the road access and trespassing on the Company’s mine site, causing both inconvenience and
interruption to the Company’s staff and contractors. The trespassing was reported to the police and
the police have taken action against the activists. At the time of writing, no major interruption to the
Company’s timetable has occurred but some delay and additional costs have eventuated. Further delay
and costs could possibly eventuate.
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ADVANCED PROJECTS AND EXPLORATION REVIEW (CONT’D)
Sweden
Faboliden Gold Project

The Company has previously announced that the County Administration Board (“CAB”) in Vasterbotten
had granted the Company an Environmental Permit for test mining operations at Faboliden (“Test
Mining Permit”) subject to a number of conditions. The decision to grant the Test Mining Permit by the
CAB was subsequently appealed on 29 December 2017 by a local nature conservation NGO (“Appeal”),
and on 18 April 2018, the Swedish Land and Environmental Court (“Court”) ruled in favour of the
Company and rejected the Appeal. The Test Mining Permit gained legal force on the 11 May 2018 after
no further appeals were received by the Court, enabling the Company to commence the initial phase of
test mining work in August 2018.

Drilling at Faboliden resumed during 2018 with the completion of a 15 hole, 707.50 metre diamond
core drilling campaign from surface. The campaign targeted areas where future waste rock and
overburden dumps could be established. The areas were effectively sterilised with no significant gold
results received.

The Company completed all required steps to commence pre-stripping activities but due to the Test
Mining Permit conditions, only six weeks of operation was possible with approximately fifty percent of
the overburden in the test mine area removed in 2018. Test mining activities will recommence at the
beginning of May 2019.

Prior to commencing rock mining from the test mine, the Company is required to submit a technical
description of the waste rock storage facility, ore stockpile and catchment drains to the CAB for
approval.

The test mining campaign at the project will incur minimal capital investment and will provide the
Company with important information to optimise both mining and processing activities. The Company
submitted its application to the Swedish Land and Environmental Court to secure an Environment
Permit for full-scale mining operations at Faboliden on 6 July 2018.

ENVIRONMENTAL REVIEW

The Company is very clear on the need to earn the respect and support of the community by operating
in a socially responsible manner, and by demonstrating a tangible commitment to environmental
sustainability.

The Company’s operations are subject to environmental regulations under statutory legislation in
relation to its exploration and mining activities. The Company believes that it has adequate systems in
place for the management of the requirements under those regulations and is not aware of any breach
of such requirements as they apply to the Company, except where indicated below.
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ENVIRONMENTAL REVIEW (CONT’D)
Finland
Vammala Production Centre

The Environmental Permit for production of 300,000 tonne per annum and processing of ore from
Kaapelinkulma was returned to the permitting authority, the Regional State Administrative Agencies —
AVI Western and Inland Finland (“AVI”), by the Supreme Court. The Company was previously asked
to provide an update and its preferred position for its application based on the requirements set out in
Vaasa Administrative Court Decision No. 16/0096/2 May 2016.

During the year, supplementary work on the Environmental Permit was completed and delivered to AVI
in October 2018. AVI is expected to issue a decision on the new permit by September 2019. Until such
time, the Company can continue to operate under its existing permit conditions.

Orivesi Gold Mine

The Company has previously announced that the AVI had rejected the Company’s application for
a new environmental permit for Orivesi (“Permit”). The Company submitted the application to the
AVI in 2010, with the extension related to the 2006 Environmental Permit. According to the AVI, the
conditions for granting the Permit Extension were not met in the Company’s application. On 13 June
2018, the Company announced that the Vaasa Administrative Court had rejected both the Company’s
and Pirkanmaa Centre for Economic Development, Transport and the Environment (“PIR ELY”) appeals
against the rejection of the new Environmental Permit for Orivesi. On 11 July 2018, the Company
and PIR ELY each submitted a Leave to Appeal, and an Appeal, to the Supreme Administrative Court
in Finland in relation to the rejection of the Company’s new Environmental Permit for Orivesi. The
Company has received legal advice that the grounds for submitting the Leave to Appeal and Appeal are
strong, given:

J Emissions at Orivesi have been progressively reduced each year;
J The Company complies with existing Environmental Permit conditions at Orivesi; and
. The Vaasa Administrative Court and AVI did not properly consider the effect of permit conditions

and impacts on the environment.

The rejection by the AVI is not binding until the appeals process has been exhausted; until then Orivesi
can continue to operate under its current 2006 environmental permit.

In October 2018, PIR ELY visited the mine site to discuss and request further information from the
Company on the presence of waste material stored between the 66-85 level which had been deposited
long before the Company purchased the mine in 2003 and recommenced mining activities in 2007.
The Company submitted its explanation and was later requested to submit, for approval, its work
procedure prior to the commencement of waste material removal by April 2019. On 15 October 2018,
the Company announced the authorities had commenced a preliminary investigation of the matter to
establish if an environmental crime had been committed. A number of interviews were held, including
those who worked at the Orivesi mine in the 1990s prior to its ownership by the Company. No charges
have been made against the Company or its employees. The Company is coordinating the removal of
the waste in conjunction with investigations.

Dragon Mining Limited Annual Report 2018



Management Discussion and Analysis (Cont'd)

ENVIRONMENTAL REVIEW (CONT’D)
Finland (Cont’d)
Jokisivu Gold Mine

The Company was asked by the Southwest Finland Centre for Economic Development, Transport and
the Environment (“VAR ELY”) to provide a statement on the environmental impacts of the planned
waste rock enlargement area, which the Company provided. In 2018, VAR ELY provided their reply
and in it requested the updating of the Environmental Permit. The Company will provide the update by
September 2019.

An agreed-upon investigation into the protected species of flying squirrel (Pteromys volans) was
conducted in the Jokisivu district during Q2 2018. The results of the investigation indicated the flying
squirrel population in the district is exceptionally dense and lively, due to the good nesting and
nourishment opportunities on the mine site and surrounding areas. The Company continues to consider
the flying squirrel and its habitat in its everyday activities.

The updating of the Jokisivu waste management plan is being conducted by an external consultant and is
expected to be completed by the end of March 2019.

Kaapelinkulma Gold Mine

Pursuant to the permit, the trees that stand in the southern part of Kaapelinkulma must be conserved
as a protection zone to protect the woodland brown butterfly (lopinga achine) which is south from the
cut forest. During the autumn of 2016, a section of trees, explicitly classified as a potential habitat for
the woodland brown butterfly, was accidentally logged during tree felling activities to clear the land in
preparation for mining. Failure to comply with permit regulations can result in criminal proceedings.

On 21 April 2017, the ELY Centre issued a statement approving of the Company’s follow-up and future
mitigation plan. While the Company was not charged, an individual working for the Company was
charged relating to this tree clearing. On 29 January 2019, the Court dismissed all charges, including
those against the employee, on the basis that no degradation or elimination of the woodland brown
butterfly occurred. No appeal was lodged by the prosecutor.

A preliminary mine inspection was successfully conducted by The Finnish Safety and Chemicals
Agency (“Tukes”) in November 2018.

The Company has paid the required bond to Tukes and had confirmation that, irrespective of any
appeal, the Company can commence mining activities as planned (refer to Advanced Projects and
Exploration Review for further information). Two nearby residents of Kaapelinkulma submitted an
appeal to the Himeenlinna Admirative Court (“Court”) against the bond amount requested by Tukes.
The Court requested additional information from the Company, which was provided on 28 January
2019. As mentioned, the existence of an appeal does not preclude the Company from commencing
mining works at Kaapelinkulma.

The updated Waste Management Plan (“Plan”) was delivered to PIR ELY in November 2018 who in
January 2019 approved the Plan. Should any new information regarding the characteristics of the
waste rock be received that would have influenced the Plans approval had it been known, PIR ELY will
apply the new information to its earlier decision and, if necessary, review whether approval of the Plan
remains appropriate.
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ENVIRONMENTAL REVIEW (CONT’D)
Sweden
Svartliden Rehabilitation Plan (U3)

Work to update the Svartliden Rehabilitation Plan (“Closure Plan”) was completed in April 2017 and
submitted to the Land and Environmental Court (“Court”). Comments from the Environmental Protection
Agency (“EPA”) and the CAB were received with both authorities viewing the proposed actions in the
Closure Plan and the proposed closure bond as being insufficient. The Company provided its responses
to the EPA and CAB comments, together with an updated cost assessment, back to the Land and
Environmental Court in May 2018.

The Company received confirmation from the Court advising that a hearing regarding the Closure Plan,
and other remaining investigation conditions relating to U1 and U2 below, is scheduled to occur in
April 2019.

Svartliden Conditions of Tailings Depositions (U1)

The Company has two permits (one with conditions and one without) which allow for the deposit of
tailings into the open pit, to a height of +415 meters above sea level. The permit without conditions
will be addressed in April 2019 at the above hearing in the Land and Environmental Court.

Svartliden Permit Conditions (U2)

In April 2018, the Company submitted an additional investigation report into the final permit conditions
on the outgoing clarification pond to the Land and Environmental Court. The CAB provided its
comments back to the Company in July 2018 and advised it does not agree to the Company’s proposed
permit conditions. In October 2018, the Company provided additional comments outlining that its
proposed permit conditions were based on thorough investigations and calculations which showed no
risk for the environment. This matter will be addressed in April 2019 at the above hearing in the Land
and Environmental Court.

Faboliden Environmental Permit

As previously advised, the Environmental Permit for test mining was granted on 1 December 2017, is
valid until 30 September 2027, and is subject to a few terms and conditions.

The Company is actively pursuing the full-scale mining permit which was submitted to the Land and
Environmental court in July 2018.
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Biographies of Directors and Senior Management

Non-Executive Chairman — Mr Arthur G Dew, B.A., L.L.B. (appointed 7 February 2014)

Mr Arthur G Dew, aged 77, was appointed Chairman and Non-Executive Director of the Company on
7 February 2014. Mr Dew graduated from the Law School of the University of Sydney, Australia, and
was admitted as a Solicitor and later as a Barrister of the Supreme Court of New South Wales, Australia.
Mr Dew is a non-practicing Barrister with a broad range of corporate and business experience and
has served as a Director, and in some instances Chairman of the Board of Directors, of a number of
publicly listed companies in Australia, Hong Kong and elsewhere. He is Chairman and Non-Executive
Director of Hong Kong listed companies Allied Group Limited (Stock Code: 373), Allied Properties (H.K)
Limited (Stock Code: 56) and APAC Resources Limited (Stock Code: 1104) and is a Non-Executive
Director of Hong Kong listed company SHK Hong Kong Industries Limited (Stock Code: 666). He is
also Non-Executive Chairman of ASX listed company Tanami Gold NL (ASX: TAM) and Non-Executive
Director of ASX listed company Tian An Australia Limited (previously known as PBD Developments
Limited) (ASX: TIA).

Mr Dew is Chairman of the Nomination Committee.
Executive Director — Mr Brett R Smith, B.Eng., MBA and M.A (appointed 7 February 2014)

Mr Brett R Smith, aged 58, was appointed Executive Director of the Company on 7 February 2014.
Mr Smith graduated from Melbourne University, Australia with a Bachelor’s Degree in Chemical
Engineering with Honours. He has also obtained a Master’s Degree in Business Administration from
Henley Management College, the United Kingdom and a Master’s Degree in Research Methodology
from Macquarie University, Australia. Mr Smith has participated in the development of a number of
mining and mineral processing projects including coal, iron ore, base and precious metals. He has
also managed engineering and construction companies in Australia and internationally. Mr Smith has
served on the board of private mining and exploration companies and has over 32 years’ international
experience in the engineering, construction and mineral processing businesses. Mr Smith is Executive
Director and Deputy Chairman of Hong Kong listed company APAC Resources Limited (Stock Code:
1104) and a Non-Executive Director of ASX listed companies Prodigy Gold NL (formerly known as
ABM Resources NL) (ASX: PRX) and Tanami Gold NL (ASX: TAM).

Mr Smith is the Chief Executive Officer of the Company.
Alternate Director to Mr Arthur G Dew — Mr Wong Tai Chun Mark (appointed 19 May 2015)

Mr Wong Tai Chun Mark, aged 54, was appointed alternate Director to Mr Arthur Dew on 19 May
2015. Mr Wong has a Master’s Degree in Business Administration and is a fellow of the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants, the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants, The
Institute of Chartered Secretaries and Administrators and The Hong Kong Institute of Chartered
Secretaries. Mr Wong was the Financial Controller of other listed companies in Hong Kong. He is an
Executive Director of Hong Kong listed companies Allied Properties (H.K.) Limited (Stock Code: 56)
and SHK Hong Kong Industries Limited (Stock Code: 666), the Director of Investment of Allied Group
Limited (Stock Code: 373) and an alternate Director to Mr Arthur Dew in Hong Kong listed company
APAC Resources Limited (Stock Code: 1104) and ASX listed companies, Tanami Gold NL (ASX: TAM)
and Tian An Australia Limited (previously known as PBD Developments Limited) (ASX: TIA).
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Independent Non-Executive Director — Mr Carlisle C Procter, B.Ec, M.Ec, FFin, (appointed
19 May 2015).

Mr Carlisle C Procter, aged 78, was appointed Independent Non-Executive Director of the Company
on 19 May 2015. Mr Procter graduated from the University of Sydney with a Bachelor’s Degree and a
Master’s Degree in Economics. He is a fellow of the Financial Services Institute of Australasia (FFin.).
Based in Australia, Mr Procter worked in the Reserve Bank of Australia for over 30 years, holding
various senior management positions. Since leaving the Reserve Bank, he has worked as a consultant
to the International Monetary Fund and the Asian Development Bank and has also undertaken private
consulting work in South East Asia and the Pacific. Mr Procter has been a Non-Executive Director of a
number of public companies. He is currently a Non-Executive Director of ASX listed company Tanami
Gold NL (ASX: TAM).

Mr Procter is Chairman of the Remuneration Committee and a member of the Audit and Risk
Management Committee and Nomination Committee.

Independent Non-Executive Director — Mr Pak Wai Keung Martin, MCG, FCPA (appointed 5
November 2018).

Mr Pak Wai Keung Martin, aged 55, was appointed Independent Non-Executive Director of the
Company on 24 May 2018 with effect from 5 November 2018 (the listing date of the Company
on the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong). Mr Pak has over 25 years of experience in accounting and
financial management and has previously worked at several international audit firms and other private
companies from 1987 to 2000. Thereafter, Mr Pak has served as Chief Financial Officer and Company
Secretary of a number of listed companies in Hong Kong since 2001.

Mr Pak has been appointed as an independent non-executive director of Nan Nan Resources Enterprise
Limited (Stock Code: 1229) and Convoy Global Holdings Limited (Stock Code:1019) with effect from
19 September 2017 and 8 December 2017 respectively. Mr Pak was an independent non-executive
director of Ta Yang Group Holdings Limited (Stock Code: 1991) during the period from 27 April 2016
to 28 October 2018. The shares of these companies are listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange.
From January 2017 to August 2018, Mr Pak has been an independent non-executive director of Trony
Solar Holdings Company Limited, trading of its shares on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange has
been suspended since 21 June 2012 and was delisted on 23 August 2018.

Mr Pak is a member of the Audit and Risk Management Committee, Remuneration Committee and
Nomination Committee.

Independent Non-Executive Director — Mr Poon Yan Wai, MCF, FCPA, AAIA, (appointed 5
November 2018)

Mr Poon Yan Wai, aged 48, was appointed Independent Non-Executive Director of the Company
on 24 May 2018 with effect from 5 November 2018 (the listing date of the Company on the Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong). Mr Poon is the Financial Controller, Company Secretary and an authorised
representative of a Hong Kong listed company. Mr Poon is an Independent Non-Executive Director of
Hong Kong listed company Emperor Capital Group Limited (Stock Code: 717). Mr Poon was previously
an Independent Non-Executive Director of another Hong Kong listed company China Brilliant Global
Limited (previously known as Prosten Health Holdings Limited) (Stock Code: 8026) from 8 October
2015 to 12 February 2018. Mr Poon has over 20 years of experience in the auditing and accounting
field and holds a Bachelor’s Degree in Accountancy and a Master’s Degree in Corporate Finance from
the Hong Kong Polytechnic University. He is a fellow member of The Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants.

Mr Poon is Chairman of the Audit and Risk Management Committee and a member of the
Remuneration Committee.
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Chief Financial Officer — Mr Daniel Broughton

Mr Daniel Broughton, aged 43, was appointed Chief Financial Officer of the Company on 8 September
2014 and is responsible for ensuring the Company’s compliance with corporate and statutory obligation
and financial reporting. Mr Broughton has over 13 years’ experience with financial operations of mining
companies. Mr Broughton is also the Chief Financial Officer of ASX listed company Tanami Gold
NL (ASX: TAM). Mr Broughton graduated with a Bachelor of Commerce from Murdoch University,
Australia in September 2005 and obtained a Graduate Diploma of Chartered Accounting from The
Institute of Chartered Accountants, Australia in July 2010.

Chief Geologist — Mr Neale Edwards

Mr Neale Edwards, aged 54, joined the Company 19 August 1996 and has over 25 years’ experience
in the mineral exploration and mining industry. Mr Edwards holds a Bachelor of Science with Honours
and is a Fellow of the Australian Institute of Geoscientists. Mr Edwards experience covers major
exploration regions throughout Australia, the Pacific Rim, northern Africa and northern Europe, and
includes the discovery of significant gold resources in the Southern Cross Province of Western Australia.
Mr Edwards was previously the Senior Geologist with the Samantha Gold group of companies.

General Manager of Finance and Administration — Ms Paivi Mikkonen

Ms Pdivi Mikkonen, aged 52, joined the Company on 13 November 2006. Ms Mikkonen is responsible
for overseeing the administrative and finance function in the Nordic region. Ms Mikkonen has
a Master’s degree from the University of Tampere and a degree from the University of Sydney,
Australia, majoring in accounting, finance and international business. Ms Mikkonen obtained a
Diploma in Business Administration, majoring in public administration, from Valkeakosken seudun
kauppaoppilaitos (Valkeakoski Regional Business College), Finland in May 1988. Ms Mikkonen
completed the qualification of a press officer in the Institute of Marketing, Finland in March 1993.
Ms Mikkonen graduated with a Bachelor of Science in Economics and Business from the University
of Tampere, Finland in May 1998, a Master of International Business from the University of Sydney,
Australia in March 2000, and a Master of Science (Business Administration) from the University of
Tampere, Finland in December 2006.

General Manager, Vammala Production Centre — Mr llpo Makinen

Mr llpo Mdkinen, aged 62, joined the Company on 17 June 2013 and is the General Manager,
Vammala Production Centre in Finland. Mr Mékinen has over 37 years of experience within the mining
industry having worked on a number of different open pit and underground projects in South Africa,
Sweden, Finland, Canada, Australia and Russia. Mr Makinen graduated with a Master of Science and
a Licentiate in Technology from the Helsinki University of Technology, Finland in January 1981 and
December 1992, respectively. Mr Mdkinen has been a member of The Association of Professional
Engineers, Scientists and Managers, Australia since March 1998. Mr Mdkinen was also certified as a
first class mine manager by the Department of Minerals and Energy of Western Australia in July 1998.
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Project Manager Faboliden — Mr Joshua Stewart

Mr Josh Stewart, aged 38, joined the Company in 2012. He has over 17 years’ experience in the mining
industry and holds a Bachelor of Mining Engineering from the University of Queensland, Australia and
is a member of the Australasian Institute of Mining and Metallurgy. Mr Stewart joined the Company in
2004, during the construction and commissioning of the Svartliden Gold Mine. During his time with the
Company, Mr Stewart has held various technical and management roles with the Group, ranging from
mine planning to Chief Operating Officer. Mr Stewart’s current role is leadership of the test mining and
full mining permit application processes for the Faboliden Gold Project. Mr Steward has a broad range
of experience from operation disciplines including safety, environmental performance, mining, mineral
processing, near mine exploration, human resources and administration.

Process Plant Manager at Svartliden — Mr Heikki Miettunen

Mr Miettunen, aged 41, joined the Company in 2015 and is the Process Plant Manager at Svartliden,
Sweden. Mr Miettunen graduated with a diploma as Master of Science in Process Engineering from the
University of Oulu, 60 credits mineral processing from the Aalto University, and has held positions
in Mineral Process Plants for Belvedere Mining Oy (Hitura mine), Endomines Oy (Pampalo mine) and
Dragon Mining Oy.

Mill Manager at Vammala — Mr Jaakko Larkomaa

Mr Larkomaa, aged 48, joined the Company in 2015 and is the Mill Manager at the Vammala
Production Centre, Finland. Mr Larkomaa graduated with a Master of Science Diploma in Process
Engineering from the University of Oulu in 1999. Later he studied at Aalto University gaining 60 credits
in mineral processing. Prior to his current role, Mr Larkomaa worked in the processing plant at the
Northern Resources, Pajala iron ore mine in Sweden.

COMPANY SECRETARIES
Joint Company Secretary — Ms Shannon Coates (appointed 19 December 2013)

Ms Coates, aged 46, has over 20 years’ experience in corporate law and compliance. She is currently
company secretary to a number of public listed and unlisted companies and has provided company
secretarial and corporate advisory services to Boards and various committees across a variety of
industries, including financial services, resources, manufacturing and technology.

Joint Company Secretary — Mr Lo Tai On (appointed 5 November 2018)
Mr Lo, aged 64, has over 25 years’ experience in the field of company secretarial services. He is a
director of Fair Wind Secretarial Services Limited, a secretarial company rendering company secretarial

services. Mr Lo is also currently the company secretary of a number of companies listed on the Hong
Kong Stock Exchange.
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Report of Directors

The Directors submit their report together with the Consolidated Financial Statements of the Company
and its subsidiaries (“Consolidated Entity”) for the year ended 31 December 2018 and the Independent
Auditor’s Report thereon.

1.

REGISTRATION, DELISTING AND LISTING

The Company was registered in Western Australia, Australia under the Corporations Act
with limited liability on 23 April 1990. On 19 October 2018, the Company delisted from the
Australian Securities Exchange (“ASX”). The Company’s shares were listed on the Main Board of
The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (“Stock Exchange”) on 5 November 2018.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company is an investment holding company. The principal activities of its subsidiaries
during the year were:

J Gold mining, and processing ore in Finland;
. Processing gold concentrate in Sweden; and
J Exploration, evaluation and development of gold projects in the Nordic region.

There have been no significant changes in the nature of those activities during the year.
DIRECTORS

The Directors during the year ended 31 December 2018 and up to the date of this report are:

Mr Arthur G Dew Non-Executive Chairman Appointed 7 Feb 2014
Mr Brett R Smith Executive Director Appointed 7 Feb 2014
Mr Carlisle C Procter Independent Non-Executive Director ~ Appointed 19 May 2015
Mr Pak Wai Keung Martin Independent Non-Executive Director ~ Appointed 5 Nov 2018
Mr Poon Yan Wai Independent Non-Executive Director ~ Appointed 5 Nov 2018
Mr Wong Tai Chun Mark Alternate to Mr Arthur G Dew Appointed 19 May 2015

Pursuant to code provision A.4.2 of the Corporate Governance Code contained in Appendix
14 to the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange (the “Listing Rules”),
every Director, including those appointed for a specific term, should be subject to retirement by
rotation at least once every three years and under article 14.3 and 14.4 of the Constitution of
the Company, one-third of the Directors (who are the longest in the office) retire and are being
eligible for re-appointment. Accordingly, it was determined by the Board that Mr Arthur Dew
shall retire by rotation at the Annual General Meeting (“AGM”) and, being eligible, would offer
himself for re-election at the AGM.

Pursuant to article 14.6 of the Constitution of the Company, any person appointed as a Director
to fill a casual vacancy or as an addition to the Board after the last AGM shall automatically
retire at the next AGM and become eligible for re-appointment. Accordingly, Mr Pak Wai Keung
Martin and Mr Poon Yan Wai shall retire at the coming AGM and being eligible, offer themselves
for re-election.

Director biographies are set out on pages 33 to 34 of this Annual Report.
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4.

INDEPENDENCE OF INED

The Company has received annual confirmations of independence from Mr Carlisle Caldow
Procter, Mr Pak Wai Keung Martin and Mr Poon Yan Wai, pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing
Rules. As at the date of this Annual Report, the Company still considers them to be independent.

The INEDs, having reviewed the transaction records of the account holding the IPO proceeds,
confirm that the net proceeds relating to Faboliden development have been used only for the
Faboliden Project.

DIRECTORS’ MEETINGS

The details of Director attendance at Board and Committee meetings is included in the Corporate
Governance Report on page 53.

DIRECTORS AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN
SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND DEBENTURES

As at 31 December 2018, the interests and short positions of the Directors and Chief Executive
of the Company in the shares and underlying shares of the Company (within the meaning of Part
XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance) (Cap. 571 of the Laws of Hong Kong) (the “SFO”), as
recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company pursuant to section 352 of the SFO,
or as otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code,
were as follows:

Approximate % of

Name of Director/Chief Capacity/Nature of  Number Shareholding in

Executive Interest of Shares Company

Mr Arthur G Dew Beneficial Owner/ 220,000 0.16%
Personal Interest

Mr Brett R Smith Beneficial Owner/ 118,866 0.08%
Personal Interest

Mr Carlisle C Procter Beneficial Owner/ 102,602 0.07%

Personal Interest
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6. DIRECTORS AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN
SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND DEBENTURES (CONT’D)

a)  Allinterests stated are long positions.

b) The calculation is based on the total number of 138,840,613 shares on issue as at 31
December 2018.

Save as disclosed above, at 31 December 2018, none of the Directors or Chief Executives of the
Company had any interests or short positions in any shares, underlying shares or debentures of
the Company or any of its associated corporations, within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO, as
recorded in the register required to be kept under Section 352 of the SFO or as otherwise notified
to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code for Securities Transactions
by Directors of Listed Issuers as set out in Appendix 10 of the Listing Rules.

7.  DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES

Save as disclosed herein, at no time during the year was the Company, any of its holding
companies, its fellow subsidiaries, its subsidiaries or its associated corporation, a party to any
arrangements to enable the Directors to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in,
or debentures of, the Company or any other body corporate.
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES
AND UNDERLYING SHARES

As at 31 December 2018, so far as the Directors are aware, the following persons (other than
Directors or Chief Executives of the Company) or corporations have interests or short positions
in the shares and the underlying shares of the Company which were required to be disclosed
to the Company under the provisions of Division 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO, or which were
recorded in the register required to be kept under section 336 of the SFO:

Name Nature Number Approximate
of Shareholder of Interest Position of Shares %
Lee Seng Huang Interest of a Controlled Long @25,487,855 18.35%
Corporation
Lee Seng Hui Interest of a Controlled Long ©25,487,855 18.35%
Corporation
Lee Seng Hwei Interest of a Controlled Long @25,487,855 18.35%
Corporation
Minty Hongkong Limited Interest of a Controlled Long 25,487,855 18.35%
Corporation
Allied Group Limited Interest of a Controlled Long b1&©25 487,855 18.35%
Corporation
Allied Properties Interest of a Controlled Long b1&©25 487,855 18.35%
(H.K.) Limited Corporation
Allied Properties Interest of a Controlled Long 25,487,855 18.35%
Overseas Limited Corporation
Allied Properties Beneficial Owner Long ©25,487,855 18.35%
Resources Limited
Nicolas Mathys Beneficial Owner Long 16,529,089 11.91%
China Medical & Healthcare Interest of a Controlled Long @10,733,560 7.73%
Group Limited Corporation
(“China Medical”)
Classic Fortune Limited Interest of a Controlled Long 410,733,560 7.73%
Corporation
Future Rise Investments Beneficial Owner Long @10,733,560 7.73%
Limited (“Future Rise”)
a) Mr Lee Seng Hui, Ms Lee Su Hwei and Mr Lee Seng Huang are the trustees of Lee and Lee Trust, being a

discretionary trust. The Lee and Lee Trust, through a wholly-owned company (Minty Hongkong Limited),
controlled approximately 74.95% of the total number of issued shares of Allied Group Limited (“AGL”) (inclusive
of Mr Lee Seng Hui’s personal interests) and was therefore deemed to have an interest in the shares in which
AGL was interested through Allied Properties (H.K.) Limited (“APL").

b) APL is a non wholly-owned subsidiary of AGL. AGL was therefore deemed to have an interest in the shares in
which APL was interested.

) The interests in 25,487,855 shares of the Company was held by Allied Properties Resources Limited (“APRL"),
a wholly-owned subsidiary of Allied Properties Overseas Limited (“APOL”) which in turn is a wholly-owned
subsidiary of APL. Each of APL and APOL was therefore deemed to have an interest in the shares in which APRL
was interested for the purpose of SFO.

d) China Medical indirectly owns the entire issued shares of Future Rise through direct wholly-owned subsidiary,
Classic Fortune Limited. Therefore, each of China Medical and Classic Fortune Limited was deemed, or taken to
be, interested in 10,733,560 shares of the Company held by Future Rise for the purpose of the SFO.

e) The calculation is based on the total number of 138,840,613 shares on issue as at 31 December 2018.
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10.

11.

12.

13.

14.

15.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE COMPANY’S LISTED SHARES

During the year ended 31 December 2018, save for the listing of the Company’s shares on the
Main Board of the Stock Exchange on 5 November 2018, neither the Company, nor any of its
subsidiaries, had purchased, sold or redeemed any of the Company’s listed shares.

RESULTS AND BUSINESS REVIEW

The results of the Company for the year ended 31 December 2018 are set out in the Consolidated
Financial Statements on page 138 to 142 of the Annual Report.

The Company’s results and Business Review, including future developments, financial
performance analysis, principal risks and uncertainties facing the Company and key relationships
with stakeholders, in accordance with Schedule 5 of the Companies Ordinance (Chapter 622
of the laws of Hong Kong), are set out in the Chairman’s Statement on page 4, the Management
Discussion and Analysis on page 13 and the Environmental, Social and Governance Report to be
separately released within three months from the publication of this Annual Report.

A summary of the results, assets and liabilities of the Group for the last five years is set out on
page 219 of the Annual Report.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS, ARRANGEMENTS OR CONTRACTS

No Director nor an entity connected with a Director had a material interest, either directly or
indirectly, in any transactions, arrangements or contracts of significance to the business of the
Company to which the Company was a party during the year ended 31 December 2018.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts concerning the management and administration of the whole or any substantial part
of the business of the Company were entered into or existed for the year ended 31 December
2018.

CONTROLLING SHAREHOLDERS INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS OF SIGNIFICANCE

Save as otherwise disclosed in this Annual Report, none of the Controlling Shareholders or any
of its connected entities (within the meaning of section 486 of the Companies Ordinance) had
a material interest, either directly or indirectly, in any transaction, arrangement or contract of
significance to the business of the Company to which the Company was a party during the year
ended 31 December 2018.

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE

The Company is very clear on the need to earn the respect and support of the community by
operating in a socially responsible manner, and by demonstrating a tangible commitment to
environmental sustainability. Details of Environmental, Social and Governance are set out in the
Management Discussion and Analysis on page 13. The Company’s Environmental, Social and
Governance Report is to be separately released within three months from the publication of this
Annual Report.

SHARE CAPITAL, SHARE OPTIONS AND PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

Details of the movements in share capital of the Company are shown in note 13 to the
Consolidated Financial Statements.
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15.

16.

SHARE CAPITAL, SHARE OPTIONS AND PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS (CONT’D)
During the current year, no employee share option scheme has been adopted by the Company.

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s Constitution or the
applicable laws of Australia which impose an obligation on the Company to offer new shares on
a pro-rata basis to the shareholders.

REMUNERATION REPORT

This remuneration report for the year ended 31 December 2018 outlines the remuneration
arrangements of the Company and the Group.

For the purposes of this report, Key Management Personnel (“KMP”) of the Company are defined
as those persons having authority and responsibility for planning, directing and controlling the
major activities of the Group, including any Director (whether executive or otherwise) of the
Company.

The KMP details of the Group is set out below:

Mr Arthur G Dew Non-Executive Chairman Appointed 7 Feb 2014
Mr Brett R Smith Executive Director Appointed 7 Feb 2014
Mr Carlisle C Procter Independent Non-Executive Director ~ Appointed 19 May 2015
Mr Pak Wai Keung Martin Independent Non-Executive Director ~ Appointed 5 Nov 2018
Mr Poon Yan Wai Independent Non-Executive Director ~ Appointed 5 Nov 2018
Mr Wong Tai Chun Mark Alternate to Mr Arthur G Dew Appointed 19 May 2015
Mr Neale Edwards Chief Geologist Appointed 19 Aug 1996
Mr Daniel Broughton Chief Financial Officer Appointed 8 Sep 2014

Details of the Directors’ and senior management’s emoluments are set out in note 16 to the
Consolidated Financial Statements.

16.1 Remuneration Policy
The Board recognises that the Company’s performance depends upon the quality of its
Directors and Executives. To achieve its financial and operating activities, the Company

must attract, motivate and retain highly skilled Directors and Executives.

The Company embodies the following principles in its remuneration framework:

J Provides competitive rewards to attract high calibre Executives;

o Structures remuneration at a level that reflects the Executive’s duties and
accountabilities and is competitive within Australia, Sweden, Finland and Hong
Kong;

o Benchmarks remuneration against appropriate industry groups; and

. Aligns Executive incentive rewards with the creation of value for shareholders.

Performance-related Executive remuneration, including cash bonuses, are based on the
Company’s and individual performance and are determined at the Board’s discretion.
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16. REMUNERATION REPORT (CONT’D)

16.2 Company Performance

Dragon Mining Limited

16.3

16.4

The table below shows the Company’s financial performance as at 31 December 2018
over the last five years, note unless expressly defined as Hong Kong dollars (“HK$”); the
below figures are in Australian dollars (“AU$").

2018 2017 2016 2015 2014

Net (loss)/profit after tax (AU$9.53m) (AU$0.58m) AU$5.36m AU$2.56m AU$7.76m

Basic earnings 9.90) (0.66) 6.04 2.88 8.73
per share (cents)

Diluted earnings 9.90) (0.66) 6.04 2.88 8.73
per share (cents)

Market capitalisation HK$ AU$ AU$ AU$ AU$

174.94m 16.88m 18.66m 15.55m 8.09m

Closing share price HK$1.26  AUS$0.19  AU$0.21  AU$0.18  AU$0.09

Remuneration Arrangements

The Board is responsible for determining with recommendation from the Remuneration
Committee of the Company the compensation arrangements for the Chairman, Directors
and Executive team.

The Board sets remuneration policies, strategies and practices for the Board, its
Committees, and the Executive Director, any direct reports to the Executive Director,
Senior Executives and other management as appropriate.

Executive remuneration is reviewed annually having regard to individual and business
performance, relevant comparative information, and internal and independent external
advice. No performance reviews of the Senior Executives were undertaken during the year.

To ensure the Board is fully informed when making remuneration decisions, it can seek
external remuneration advice. No external consultants were utilised during the current
year.

Remuneration of Non-Executive Directors

The Company’s Constitution and the Listing Rules specify that the aggregate remuneration
of Non-Executive Directors shall be determined from time to time by a General Meeting.
An amount not exceeding the amount determined is then divided between the Directors as
agreed.

Non-Executive Directors’ fees not exceeding an aggregate of AU$500,000 per annum was
approved by shareholders at the Annual General Meeting held in May 2012. The amount
of aggregate remuneration sought to be approved by shareholders and the manner in
which it is apportioned amongst Directors is reviewed annually.

The Board considers the fees paid to Non-Executive Directors of comparable companies
when undertaking the annual review process. Each Non-Executive Director receives a
fee for being a Director of the Company. An additional fee is payable for each Board
Committee on which a Director sits, due to the extra workload and responsibilities. Each
Non-Executive Director may also receive an equity-based component where approval has
been received from shareholders in a General Meeting.
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16.

REMUNERATION REPORT (CONT’D)

16.5 Service Contracts and Letter of Appointment

Compensation and other terms of employment for the Company’s Executive Directors and
other KMP are formalised in contracts of employment. The major provisions of each of the
agreements relating to compensation are set out below.

Mr Brett R Smith — Executive Director

Mr Smith has a contract of employment with the Company dated 31 March 2014 and
is employed on a fixed term as Executive Director, ending 5 November 2020. The
contract specifies the duties and obligations to be fulfilled by the Executive Director. The
arrangement can be terminated by either party by providing six month’s written notice,
which based on current remuneration rates would amount to a termination payment of
AU$160,350.

Mr Neale Edwards — Chief Geologist

Mr Edwards commenced employment on 19 August 1996 and does not have an
employment contract.

Mr Daniel Broughton — Chief Financial Officer

Mr Broughton commenced employment on 8 September 2014 and does not have an
employment contract.

The Non-Executive Director has entered into an appointment letter with the Company for
a term of two years commencing from the date of listing on 5 November 2018, which may
only be terminated in accordance with the provisions of the appointment letter or by (i)
the Company giving to the Non-Executive Director not less than three months’ prior notice
in writing or (ii) the Non-Executive Director giving to the Company not less than three
months’ prior notice in writing.

Each of the Independent Non-Executive Directors has entered into an appointment letter
with the Company for a term of two years commencing from the date of his appointment as
an Independent Non-Executive Director which may only be terminated in accordance with
the provisions of the appointment letter or by (i) the Company giving to any Independent
Non-Executive Director not less than one month’s prior notice in writing or (ii) any
Independent Non Executive Director giving to the Company not less than one month’s
prior notice in writing.

No Director proposed for re-election at the AGM has a service contract with the
Company which is not determinable by the Company within one year without payment of
compensation, other than normal statutory compensation.
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16.

REMUNERATION REPORT (CONT’D)

16.5

16.6

16.7

Service Contracts and Letter of Appointment (Cont’d)

None of the Directors had any interests in any business which competes or is likely to
compete, directly or indirectly, with the business of the Company.

Fixed Remuneration
Objective

The level of fixed remuneration is set so as to provide a base level of remuneration which is
both appropriate to the position and is competitive in the market.

Fixed remuneration is reviewed annually by the Remuneration Committee and determined
by the Board. The process consists of a review of the business and individual performance
and relevant comparable remuneration in the mining industry.

Structure

Executives are given the opportunity to receive their fixed remuneration in a variety of
forms including cash and fringe benefits such as motor vehicles and expense payment
plans. It is intended that the manner of payment chosen will be optimal for the recipient
without creating undue cost to the Company.

Variable Remuneration — Short Term Incentive (“STI”)
Objective

The objective of the Company’s STl is to reward performance that exceeds expectation and
is linked to the achievement of the Company’s performance measures (as set out below) by
the executives charged with meeting those targets. The total potential STI available is set at
a level that provides sufficient incentive to the executives to achieve the operational targets
at a reasonable cost to the Company.

Structure
Actual STI payments granted to each executive depend on their performance over the
preceding year and are determined during the annual performance appraisal process, held

after the year end.

The performance appraisal process outcomes and payment of awards are at the discretion
of the Board and take into account the following factors:

J Financial performance of Business Unit;
J Operational performance of Business Unit;
J Risk management;

o Health and safety; and
. Leadership/team contribution.

These factors were chosen to ensure the STI payments are only granted when value has
been created for shareholders and results are consistent with the strategic plans of the
Company. The Executive has to demonstrate outstanding performance in order to trigger
payments under the STI scheme.
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16.

REMUNERATION REPORT (CONT’D)

16.7

16.8

16.9

Variable Remuneration — Short-Term Incentive (“STI”) (Cont’d)

On an annual basis, after consideration of performance against KPlIs, the overall
performance of the Company and each individual business unit is assessed by the Board.
The individual performance of each Executive is also assessed, and these measures are
taken into account when determining the amount, if any, to be paid to the Executive as an
STI.

During the year, the Board approved a KPI-linked discretionary cash bonus for the
Executive Director relating to 2018 performance. The bonus was equivalent to the
maximum available under the terms of the Executive Director’s contract.

Variable Remuneration — Long-Term Incentive

During the current year, no long-term incentive scheme has been adopted by the
Company.

Equity-based Compensation

During the current year there is no equity-based compensation for any employees.

16.10 Analysis of Movements in Options and Rights

There were no options granted or shares issued during the year ended 31 December 2018
and 31 December 2017.

16.11Shares Issued on Exercise of Remuneration Options

No Director or KMP exercised remuneration options in the year ended 31 December 2018
and 31 December 2017.

16.12Transactions with KMP

In addition to his role as the Company’s Chief Financial Officer, Mr Broughton provides
Chief Financial Officer Services (“Services”) to ASX listed gold explorer, Tanami Gold NL
(“Tanami”). Tanami is a company of which Messrs. Dew (with Mr Wong as his alternate),
Smith and Procter, are Tanami’s Non-Executive Chairman and Non-Executive Directors.

The provision of Services commenced from 8 September 2014 whereby the Company
will charge Tanami for 48% of Mr Broughton'’s salary cost. During the year, the Company
charged Tanami AU$100,000 (2017: AU$100,000) of which AU$24,750 was outstanding
at 31 December 2018 (2017: AU$24,750).

16.13 Directors’ and Executive Officers’ Remuneration

Details of the Directors’ remuneration and the five highest-paid employees of the Company
are set out in notes 15 and 16 of the Consolidated Financial Statements in this Annual
Report.
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16. REMUNERATION REPORT (CONT’D)
16.14 Options of Directors and Key Management Personnel

During the year ended 31 December 2018 and 31 December 2017, there were no options
over ordinary shares in the Company that were granted as compensation to KMP.

16.15Shareholdings of Directors and Key Management Personnel

Balance Balance
at1 at 31
January  Grantedas Net Change  December
2018 2018 Remuneration Other 2018
Directors
Mr Arthur G Dew 220,000 - - 220,000
Mr Brett R Smith 98,571 - 20,295 118,866
Mr Carlisle C Procter 102,602 - - 102,602
Mr Poon Yan Wai - - - -
Mr Pak Wai Keung Martin - - - -
Mr Wong Tai Chun Mark - - - -
Executives
Mr Neale M Edwards - - - -
Mr Daniel K Broughton - - - -
Total 421,173 - 20,295 441,468

17. RESERVES AND DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

Movements in the reserves of the Company during the year are set out in note 14 to the
Consolidated Financial Statements.

The Company had no reserves available for cash distribution and/or distribution in specie as
calculated under the Act as at 31 December 2018 (as at 31 December 2017: Nil).

18. SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company and within the knowledge of
the Directors, as at the date of this report, the Company has maintained sufficient public float as
required under the Listing Rules.
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19.

20.

OTHER INFORMATION

Pursuant to Rule 13.51B(1) of the Listing Rules, changes of information of the Directors are set
out as below:

Non-Executive Director — Mr Arthur G Dew

. On 27 November 2018, Mr Dew was appointed as Non-Independent Chairman of the
Board of Directors of ASX listed company, Tanami Gold NL.

Executive Director — Mr Brett R Smith

J On 27 November 2018, Mr Smith was appointed as Non-Independent Non-Executive
Director of ASX listed company, Tanami Gold NL; and

J Mr Smith’s base salary was increased by 6.9% from AU$300,000 to AU$320,700 with
effect from 1 January 2019.

Independent Non-Executive Director — Mr Pak Wai Keung Martin

. On 29 October 2018, Mr Pak resigned as Independent Non-Executive Director of Ta Yang
Group Holdings Limited, a company listed on the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong; and

. On 13 February 2018, Mr Pak was appointed as Independent Non-Executive Director of
Viva China Holdings Limited, a company listed on the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

Save as disclosed herein, no equity-linked agreements that will or may result in the Company
issuing shares, or that require the Company to enter into any agreements that will or may result
in the Company issuing shares, were entered into by the Company during the year or subsisted at
the end of the year.
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21.

22.

23.

DEED OF NON-COMPETITION

Each of Mr Smith, Mr Dew, Mr Procter and Mr Wong (collectively the “Covenantors”) has
executed the Deed of Non-Competition (the “Deed”) with the Company (for the Company and
for the benefit and on behalf of the subsidiaries) on 11 October 2018. Pursuant to the Deed,
each of the Covenantors has irrevocably and unconditionally undertaken to the Company that,
during the period that the Deed remains effective, (i) he shall not, and shall procure that his close
associates shall not, directly or indirectly, develop, acquire, participate, hold any right or interest
in or invest in or render any services to or otherwise be involved in any business in competition
with or likely to be in competition with the business engaged by our Company from time to
time in the Nordic region; and (ii) support any person, company or entity that is not part of the
Company to engage in any business which is in competition with or is likely to be in competition
with the existing or future business carried by the Company.

Each of the Covenantors further undertakes to and covenants with the Company (for the
Company and for the benefit and on behalf of the subsidiaries) that if they become aware of
any potential gold mining business opportunities in the Nordic region, they will only refer the
opportunities to the Company. If they become aware of gold or other mining opportunities
outside the Nordic region, they will refer to other companies of which they are directors. Further,
if any gold exploration or mining opportunities in the Nordic region are identified by other
companies of which the Covenantors are directors and these companies intend to pursue the
opportunities, the Covenantors will abstain from the discussion as well as voting on the matters.

The Company has received declarations from the Covenantors of their compliance with the
terms of the Deed. The Covenantors declared that they have fully complied with the Deed since
the effective date of the Deed and up to the date of this Annual Report. The Independent Non-
executive Directors also reviewed the compliance of the Deed.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

External sales in Finland relate to concentrate from the Vammala Production Centre in Finland.
These sales are all made under an ongoing arrangement to one customer and the quantity of
concentrate sales is agreed by the parties in advance of delivery.

Intersegment sales in Finland relate to concentrate on-sold to the Svartliden Processing Centre for
further processing.

External sales in Sweden relate to the gold bullion sold on-market through third parties.

In the year under review, sales to the Group’s five largest customers accounted for 100% of the
total sales for the year and sales to the largest customer included therein amounted to 92.7%.
Purchases from the Group’s five largest suppliers accounted for less than 30% of the total
purchases for the year.

None of the Directors, their close associates, or any shareholders, which to the knowledge of the
Directors, owned more than 5% of the Company’s total number of issued shares, had a beneficial
interest in any of the Group’s five largest customers.

PENSION SCHEME ARRANGEMENTS

Employers in Australia are obligated to make superannuation contributions for eligible employees
of 9.5% on gross earnings up to a maximum quarterly superannuation payment of AU$5,132.85
per quarter. No forfeited contribution is available to reduce the contribution payable in the
future. The contribution charged to the Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss represents the
contribution payable to employees’ funds during the year.
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24.

25.

26.

27.

28.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Company is committed to maintaining a high standard of corporate governance practices.
Information on the corporate governance practices adopted by the Company is set out in the
Corporate Governance Report on pages 53 to 65.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTION

Details of the related party transactions are set out in note 19 to the Consolidated Financial
Statements. The related party transactions did not constitute connected transactions or are
exempted connected transactions under the Listing Rules.

INDEMNIFICATION AND INSURANCE OF DIRECTORS, OFFICERS AND AUDITORS

The Company provides Directors’ and Officers’ liability insurance covering Directors and
Officers of the Company against liability in their role with the Company, except where:

. The liability arises out of conduct involving a wilful breach of duty; or
° There has been a contravention of Sections 232(5) or (6) of the Australian Corporations Act
2001 (Cth).

The Directors have not included details of the nature of the liabilities covered or the amount of
the premium paid in respect of this insurance, as such disclosure is prohibited under the terms of
the contract.

To the extent permitted by law, the Company has agreed to indemnify its auditors, Ernst & Young,
as part of the terms of its audit engagement against claims by third parties arising from the audit (for
an unspecified amount). No payment has been made to indemnify Ernst & Young during or since
the financial year.

ROUNDING

The amounts contained in this report and in the financial report have been rounded to the
nearest AU$1,000 (where rounding is applicable) under the option available to the Company
in accordance with ASIC Corporations (Rounding in Financial/Directors Reports) Instrument
2016/191. The Company is an entity to which the Instrument applies.

DIVIDENDS

No dividend has been paid or declared and no dividend has been recommended by the Directors
for the year ended 31 December 2018 (2017: nil).
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29.

30.

SIGNIFICANT EVENTS AFTER YEAR END DATE

On 31 January and 14 March 2019, the Company made two further Loan Facility drawdowns of
AU$1.0 million each leaving AU$6.0 million in undrawn funds available as at the date of this
report. The drawdowns were used to fund existing development projects, pay additional listing
costs and provide additional working capital.

AUDIT AND NON-AUDIT SERVICES

The Company may decide to employ the auditor on assignments additional to their statutory
audit duties, where the auditor’s expertise and experience with the Company and the Group are
important.

The Board of Directors has considered the position and, in accordance with the advice received
from the Audit and Risk Management Committee, is satisfied that the provision of the non-audit
services did not compromise the auditor for the following reasons:

. All non-audit services have been reviewed by the Audit and Risk Management Committee
to ensure they do not impact the impartiality and objectivity of the auditor; and

J None of the services undermine the general principles relating to auditor independence
as set out in Professional Statement F1, including reviewing or auditing the auditor’s own
work, acting in a management or a decision-making capacity for the Company, acting as
advocate for the Company or jointly sharing economic risk and rewards.

During the year the following fees were paid or payable for audit and non-audit services provided
by Ernst & Young.

31 Dec 31 Dec
2018 2017
AUD AUD
Remuneration of Ernst & Young (Australia) for

— auditing or reviewing accounts 248,267 521,618
— tax consulting 33,000 163,297
— audit services relating to the Hong Kong listing 260,869 172,682
542,136 857,597

Remuneration of Ernst & Young (other than Australia) for
other services 94,934 236,700
94,934 236,700
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31. RE-APPOINTMENT OF AUDITOR

The consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2018 were audited by
Ernst & Young who will retire and, being eligible, offer the themselves for re-appointment. A
resolution will be submitted to the AGM to re-appoint Ernst & Young as auditor of the Company.

By Order of the Board
Dragon Mining Limited
Brett Smith

Executive Director

Hong Kong, 7 March 2019
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Corporate Governance Report

The Company is committed to maintaining a high standard of corporate governance within a sensible
framework with an emphasis on the principles of transparency, accountability and independence. The
Board of Directors of the Company (“Board”) believes that good corporate governance is essential to
the success of the Company and to the enhancement of shareholders’ value.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE CODE AND CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

In the light of the Corporate Governance Code and Corporate Governance Report (“CG Code”)
contained in Appendix 14 of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited (“Listing Rules”), the Board has reviewed the corporate governance practices of the
Company with the adoption of the various enhanced procedures which are detailed in this report. Since
listing on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (“Stock Exchange”) on 5 November 2018 (“Listing
Date”), the Company has applied the principles of, and complied with, the applicable code provisions
of the CG Code during the period from the Listing Date up to 31 December 2018. The Board will
review the current practices at least annually, and make appropriate changes if considered necessary.

THE BOARD

The Board currently comprises five Directors (“Directors”) in total, with one Executive Director, one
Non-Executive Director (“NED”) and three Independent Non-Executive Directors (“INEDs”), and
one alternate Director (“Alternate Director”). The composition of the Board during the year (unless
otherwise noted) and up to the date of this report is set out as follows:

Executive Director: Brett Robert Smith (Chief Executive Officer)
Non-Executive Director: Arthur George Dew (Chairman)
Independent Non-Executive Directors: Carlisle Caldow Procter

Pak Wai Keung Martin (appointed 5 November 2018)
Poon Yan Wai (appointed 5 November 2018)

Alternate Director: Wong Tai Chun Mark (alternate to Arthur George Dew)
The brief biographical details of the Directors are set out in the Biographies of Directors and Senior

Management on pages 33 to 36. There are no family or other material relationships among members of
the Board.
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THE BOARD (CONT’D)
Board Process

From the Listing Date and up to the date of this report, the Company has had at least three INEDs
representing not less than one-third of the Board. At least one of the INEDs has the appropriate
professional qualifications or accounting or related financial management expertise under Rule
3.10(2) of the Listing Rules. The Board has received from each INED an annual confirmation of his
independence and considers that all the INEDs are independent under the guidelines set out in Rule 3.13
of the Listing Rules.

The Board meets regularly to discuss the overall strategy as well as the operation and financial
performance of the Group, and to review and approve the Group’s annual and interim results and other
ad hoc matters which need to be dealt with. During the year, seven Board meetings were held and the
individual attendance records of each Director at the meetings of the Board, Remuneration Committee,
Nomination Committee, Audit and Risk Management Committee, and general meeting during the year
ended 31 December 2018 are set out below:

Number of meetings attended/held

Audit Audit
and Risk and Risk
Management Remuneration ~ Nomination ~Management General
Name of Directors Board  Committee> ~ Committee?  Committee*  Committee’ Meeting
Executive Director:
Brett Robert Smith 717 22 N/A N/A N/A 1/1
Non-Executive Director:
Arthur George Dew (Chairman) 717 212 N/A 0/0 N/A 1
Alternate Director:
Wong Tai Chun Mark
(alternate to Arthur George Dew) 177 0/0 N/A 0/0 N/A 0/0
Independent Non-Executive Directors:
Carlisle Caldow Procter 717 2/ 0/0 0/0 0/0 11
Pak Wai Keung Martin' 1 N/A 0/0 0/0 0/0 0/0
Poon Yan Wai' 11 N/A 0/0 N/A 0/0 0/0
1. Appointed 5 November 2018
2. Established under the requirement of ASX and superseded on 5 November 2018 by the Audit and Risk Management Committee
established under the requirement of the Stock Exchange
3. Established under the requirement of Stock Exchange effective on 5 November 2018
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THE BOARD (CONT’D)
Board Process (Cont’d)

The Board has reserved for its decision or consideration matters covering mainly the Group’s overall
strategy, annual operating budget, annual and interim results, approval of Directors’ appointment or re-
appointment (based on the recommendations made by the Nomination Committee), material contracts
and transactions, corporate governance as well as other significant policy and financial matters.
The Board has delegated the day-to-day responsibility to the executive management. The respective
functions of the Board and management of the Company have been formalised and set out in writing
and will be reviewed and updated by the Board from time to time to ensure that they are consistent
with the existing rules and regulations.

Regular Board meetings are scheduled in advance to facilitate maximum attendance of Directors. At
least 14 days’ notice of a Board meeting is normally given to all Directors who are given an opportunity
to include matters for discussion in the agenda. The joint company secretaries of the Company
(“Company Secretaries”) assists the Chairman of the Board in preparing the agenda for meetings and
ensures that all applicable rules and regulations are complied with. The agenda and the accompanying
Board papers are normally sent to all Directors at least three days before the intended date of a regular
Board meeting (and so far as practicable for such other Board meetings). Draft minutes of each Board
meeting are circulated to all Directors for their comment before being tabled at the following Board
meeting for approval. All minutes are kept by the joint Company Secretary in Australia and are open for
inspection at any reasonable time on reasonable notice by any Director.

According to the current Board practice, if a substantial shareholder or a Director has a conflict of
interest in a matter to be considered by the Board which the Board has determined to be material,
the matter will be dealt with by the Board at a duly convened Board meeting. The constitution of the
Company (“Constitution”) also stipulates that save for the exceptions as provided therein, a Director
shall abstain from voting on any Board resolution and not be counted in the quorum at meetings for
approving any contract or arrangement in which such Director or any of his/her close associates has a
material interest.

Every Director is entitled to have access to Board papers and related materials and has access to the
advice and services of the joint Company Secretaries. The Board and each Director also have separate
and independent access to the Company’s management. Directors will be continuously updated on
the major development of the Listing Rules and other applicable regulatory requirements to ensure
compliance and upkeep of good corporate governance practices. In addition, a written procedure has
been established to enable the Directors, in discharge of their duties, to seek independent professional
advice in appropriate circumstances at a reasonable cost to be borne by the Company.
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THE BOARD (CONT’D)
Directors’ Continuous Professional Development

For continuous professional development, in addition to Directors’ attendance at meetings and review
of papers and circulars sent by the management of the Company, Directors participated in the activities
including the following:

Participation in Continuous Professional Development Activities
Attending trainings/
briefings/seminars/

conference

Reading Regulatory relevant to the
Name of Directors Updates Directors’ duties
Executive Director:
Brett Robert Smith v v
Non-Executive Director:
Arthur George Dew (Chairman) v v
Independent Non-Executive Directors:
Carlisle Caldow Procter v v
Pak Wai Keung Martin v v
Poon Yan Wai v v
Alternate Director:
Wong Tai Chun Mark v v

Board Diversity

The Company has adopted the Board Diversity Policy which sets out the objectives and principles
regarding board diversity for the purpose of achieving the Company’s strategic objectives of balanced
diversity at the Board as far as practicable. Board appointments will be based on merit and candidates
will be considered against measurable objectives, taking into account the Company’s business and
needs.

Selection of candidates will be based on a range of diversity criteria, including but not limited to
gender, age, cultural and educational background, knowledge, professional experience and skills. The
ultimate decision will be based on merit and the contribution that the selected candidates may bring to
the Board.

Workplace Diversity

The Company and all its related bodies are committed to workplace diversity and recognise the benefits
arising from employee and Board diversity, including a broader pool of quality employees, improving
employee retention, accessing different perspectives, and benefiting from all available talent. Diversity

includes, but is not limited to, gender, age, ethnicity and cultural background.

Details are available on the Company’s website at www.dragonmining.com.
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ROLES OF CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE

Code provision A.2.1 of the CG Code stipulates that the roles of Chairman and Chief Executive
should be separate and should not be performed by the same individual. Mr Arthur George Dew,
being the Chairman of the Board, is primarily responsible for the leadership of the Board, ensuring
that (i) all significant policy issues are discussed by the Board in a timely and constructive manner; (ii)
all Directors are properly briefed on issues arising at Board meetings; and (iii) the Directors receive
accurate, timely and clear information. The functions of the Chief Executive are performed by Mr Brett
Robert Smith, the Executive Director and chief executive officer of the Company, who is responsible for
the day-to-day management of the Group’s business. Their responsibilities are clearly segregated and
have been set out in writing and approved by the Board in November 2018.

APPOINTMENT AND RE-ELECTION OF DIRECTORS

The terms of reference of the Nomination Committee include the nomination procedure specifying
the process and criteria for the selection and recommendation of candidates for directorship of the
Company.

Every newly appointed Director will receive an induction package from the joint Company Secretary
in Australia on the first occasion of his/her appointment. This induction package is a comprehensive,
formal and tailored induction on the responsibilities and on-going obligations to be observed by a
Director pursuant to the Australian Corporation Act 2001, Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, Listing
Rules and Securities and Futures Ordinance. In addition, this induction package includes materials
briefly describing the operations and business of the Company, the latest published financial reports
of the Company and the documentation for the corporate governance practices adopted by the Board.
Directors will be continuously updated on any major developments of the Listing Rules and other
applicable regulatory requirements to ensure compliance and upkeep of good corporate governance
practices.

All NEDs (including INEDs) of the Company were appointed for a specific term, but subject to the
relevant provisions of the Constitution or any other applicable laws whereby the Directors shall vacate
or retire from their office but be eligible for re-election. The term of appointment of the NEDs (including
INEDs) has been fixed for two years commencing from 5th November 2018.

According to the Constitution, at each annual general meeting of the Company (“AGM”), one-third
of the Directors for the time being (or, if that number is not a whole number, the next lowest whole
number nearest to one-third) shall retire from office by rotation, other than newly appointed Director,
managing Director or alternate Director. Further, any Director appointed by the Board to fill a casual
vacancy or as an addition to the Board shall automatically retire at the next AGM and those Directors
shall then be eligible for re-election at the relevant meeting. Every Director shall be subject to
retirement by rotation at least once every three years.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE FUNCTION

The Board is responsible for performing corporate governance duties and has adopted the written terms
of reference on its corporate governance functions on 24 May 2018, which became effective on the
Listing Date.

The duties of the Board in respect of the corporate governance functions include:
(i) developing and reviewing the Company’s policies and practices on corporate governance;

(i)  reviewing and monitoring the training and continuous professional development of Directors and
senior management;

(iii)  reviewing and monitoring the Company’s policies and practices on compliance with legal and
regulatory requirements;

(iv)  developing, reviewing and monitoring the code of conduct and compliance manual (if any)
applicable to employees and Directors; and

(v)  reviewing the Company’s compliance with the CG Code and disclosure in the Corporate
Governance Report.

From the Listing Date and up to the date of this report, the Board has performed the corporate
governance duties in accordance with its terms of reference.

BOARD COMMITTEES

Since the Listing Date, the Board has established various committees, including a Nomination
Committee, a Remuneration Committee and an Audit and Risk Management Committee in accordance
with the Listing Rules, each of which has its specific written terms of reference. Copies of minutes
of all meetings and resolutions of the committees, which are kept by the joint Company Secretary in
Australia, are circulated to all Board members and the committees are required to report back to the
Board on their decision and recommendations where appropriate. The procedures and arrangements
for a Board meeting, as mentioned in the section headed “The Board” of this report, have been adopted
for the committee meetings so far as practicable.

Nomination Committee

The Nomination Committee has been established effective on 5 November 2018 and is chaired by
the Chairman of the Board and comprises a majority of INEDs. Currently, the Nomination Committee
consists of three members, including Mr Arthur George Dew (Chairman of the Nomination Committee),
being a NED, and Mr Carlisle Caldow Procter and Mr Pak Wai Keung Martin, both being INEDs. The
Nomination Committee is provided with sufficient resources to discharge its duties and has access to
independent professional advice according to the Company’s policy if considered necessary. The major
roles and functions of the Nomination Committee are included in its terms of reference, which are
available on the websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company.
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BOARD COMMITTEES (CONT’D)
Nomination Committee (Cont’d)

The Nomination Committee has formulated and set out the nomination policy (“Nomination Policy”) in
its terms of reference. The objective of the Nomination Policy is to ensure that the Board has a balance
of skills, experience and diversity of perspectives appropriate to the requirements of the Company’s
business. To ensure changes to the Board composition can be managed without undue disruption, a
formal, considered and transparent procedure is in place for selection, appointment and re-appointment
of Directors, as well as plans in place for orderly succession (if considered necessary), including
periodical review of such plans. The appointment of a new Director (to be an additional Director or fill
a casual vacancy as and when it arises) or any re-appointment of Directors is a matter for decision by
the Board upon the recommendation of the proposed candidate by the Nomination Committee.

The criteria to be applied in considering whether a candidate is qualified shall be his or her ability to
devote sufficient time and attention to the affairs of the Company and contribute to the diversity of the
Board as well as the effective carrying out by the Board of the responsibilities. Further details of the
selection criteria and the procedure are set out in the terms of reference of the Nomination Committee
which are available on the websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company.

The Nomination Committee will meet as and when necessary in accordance with its terms of reference
and may also deal with matters by way of circulation. In 2018 and up to the date of this report, no
Nomination Committee meeting was held as the Nomination Committee was only established effective
on 5th November 2018.

Remuneration Committee

The Remuneration Committee has been established effective on 5 November 2018 and currently
consists of three members, including Mr Carlisle Caldow Procter (Chairman of the Remuneration
Committee), Mr Pak Wai Keung Martin and Mr Poon Yan Wai, all being INEDs. The Remuneration
Committee is provided with sufficient resources to discharge its duties and has access to independent
professional advice according to the Company’s policy if considered necessary. The major roles and
functions of the Remuneration Committee are included in its terms of reference, which are available on
the websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company.

The Company has adopted model (ii) as set out in code provision B.1.2(c) of CG Code, under which
the Remuneration Committee makes recommendation to the Board on the remuneration package of
individual executive Director and senior management.

The Remuneration Committee shall meet at least once a year in accordance with its terms of reference.

In 2018 and to the date of this report, no Remuneration Committee meetings were held as the
Remuneration Committee was only established effective on 5 November 2018.
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BOARD COMMITTEES (CONT’D)
Remuneration Committee (Cont’d)

The remuneration payable to Directors will depend on their respective contractual terms under their
employment contracts or service contracts as approved by the Board on the recommendation of
the Remuneration Committee. Details of the Directors’ remuneration are set out in note 16 to the
Consolidated Financial Statements. Details of the remuneration policy of the Group as well as Directors
and Senior Executives Remuneration and company performance, etc. are also set out in paragraph 16
of the Directors’ Report on pages 42 to 47.

The remuneration of the members of the senior management (including the Executive Director) by band
for the year ended 31 December 2018 is set out below:

Remuneration Bands (AU$) Number of Persons

100,001 to 150,000
200,001 to 250,000
250,001 to 300,000
300,001 to 350,000
350,001 to 400,000

1
1
2
2
1
550,001 to 600,000 1

Audit and Risk Management Committee

The Audit and Risk Management Committee was established effective 5 November 2018 and currently
consists of three INEDs. To retain independence and objectivity, the Audit and Risk Management
Committee is chaired by an INED with appropriate professional qualifications or accounting or related
financial management expertise. The current members of the Audit and Risk Management Committee
are Mr Poon Yan Wai (Chairman of the Audit and Risk Management Committee), Mr Carlisle Caldow
Procter and Mr Pak Wai Keung Martin. The Audit and Risk Management Committee is provided with
sufficient resources to discharge its duties and has access to independent professional advice according
to the Company’s policy if considered necessary. The major roles and functions of the Audit and Risk
Management Committee are included in its terms of reference, which are available on the websites of
the Stock Exchange and the Company.

The Audit and Risk Management Committee shall meet at least twice a year in accordance with
its terms of reference. Up to 31 December 2018, no meetings of the Audit and Risk Management
Committee formed under the Listing Rules were held since the Listing Date. The attendance of each
member of the former Audit and Risk Management Committee established under the requirement of
ASX is set out in the section headed “The Board” of this report.

In addition to the former Audit and Risk Management Committee meetings, the former Audit and Risk
Management Committee also dealt with matters by way of circulation during 2018. In 2018, the former
Audit and Risk Management Committee performed the works as summarised below:

(i) reviewed and approved the audit scope and fees proposed by the external auditor;

(i)  reviewed the reports of findings/independent review report from the external auditor and the
management’s response in relation to the final audit for the year ended 31 December 2017 and
the interim results review for the six months ended 30 June 2018 of the Group; and

(iii)  reviewed and recommended for the Board’s approval the financial report for the year ended 31

December 2017 and the interim financial report for the six months ended 30 June 2018 of the
Group together with the relevant management representation letters and announcements.
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BOARD COMMITTEES (CONT’D)
Audit and Risk Management Committee (Cont’d)

As at the date of this report, the Audit and Risk Management Committee that was established effective
on the Listing Date under the requirement of the Stock Exchange performed the works as summarised
below:

(i) reviewed the reports of findings/independent review report from the external auditor and the
management’s response in relation to the final audit for the year ended 31 December 2018 of the
Group;

(i) reviewed and recommended for Board’s approval the financial report for the year ended 31
December 2018 of the Group together with the relevant management representation letters and
announcement; and

(iii)  reviewed and recommended for the Board’s annual review the Group’s risk management and
internal control systems.

COMPANY SECRETARY

Ms Shannon Coates and Mr Lo Tai On are Joint Company Secretaries of the Company. All Directors
have access to the advice and services of the Company Secretary. The Company Secretary reports to
the Chairman on board governance matters, and is responsible for ensuring that Board procedures are
followed and for facilitating communications among Directors as well as with the shareholders and
management.

Ms Shannon Coates is a Chartered Secretary in Australia.
Mr Lo Tai On is a member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants.

Both Ms Shannon Coates and Mr Lo are representatives from external secretarial services providers.
The primary contact person of the Company with the Joint Company Secretaries is Mr Daniel Karl
Broughton, the Chief Financial Officer of the Group. The Joint Company Secretaries have duly
complied with the relevant training requirement under rule 3.29 of the Listing Rules.

CODES FOR SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS BY DIRECTORS AND RELEVANT EMPLOYEES

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers
(“Model Code”) as set out in Appendix 10 of the Listing Rules as its code of conduct regarding securities
transactions by the Directors. All Directors have confirmed, following a specific enquiry by the
Company, that they have complied with the required standard as set out in the Model Code throughout
the period from the Listing Date up to 31 December 2018.

The Company has also adopted the Model Code as the Code for Securities Transactions by Relevant
Employees to regulate dealings in securities of the Company by certain employees of the Company or
any of its subsidiaries who are considered to be likely in possession of inside information in relation to
the Company or its securities.
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GENERAL CODE OF CONDUCT

The Company has adopted a Code of Conduct. The purpose of the Code is to guide and enhance
the conduct and behaviour of the Company’s Directors, senior executives, officers, employees and
contractors (“Personnel”) in performing their everyday roles. The code encourages and fosters a culture
of integrity and responsibility with the focus of augmenting our reputation as a valued employer,
business partner and corporate citizen, in all our relationships. This Code of Conduct sets out the
principles and standards which the Board, senior executives and Personnel of the Company are
encouraged to strive towards when dealing with each other, shareholders, other stakeholders and the
broader community.

The Board and senior executives are committed to conducting themselves with integrity and honesty in
accordance with this Code of Conduct.

Details are available on the Company’s website at www.dragonmining.com.
ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT
Financial Reporting

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for preparing, with the support from the Accounts
Department, the Consolidated Financial Statements of the Group. The Consolidated Financial
Statements for the year ended 31 December, 2018 have been prepared in accordance with the
International Financial Reporting Standards promulgated by the International Accounting Standards
Board (the “IASB”) and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance. The
Directors believe that they have selected suitable accounting policies and applied them consistently,
and made judgments and estimates that are prudent and reasonable and have ensured that the
Consolidated Financial Statements are prepared on a going concern basis.

The reporting responsibilities of the Company’s external auditor, Ernst & Young, are set out in the
Independent Auditor’s Report on pages 129 to 137.

Risk Management and Internal Control

The Board has the responsibility to review annually the effectiveness of the Group’s risk management
and internal control systems covering all material controls, including financial, operational and
compliance controls. In 2018, the Board reviewed the adequacy of resources, qualifications and
experience of staff of the Company’s accounting and financial reporting functions, and their training
programs and budget.

The Group’s risk management and internal control systems are designed to provide reasonable, but not
absolute, assurance against material misstatement or loss; to manage rather than completely eliminate
the risk of system failure; and to assist in the achievement of the Group’s agreed objectives and goals.
They have a key role in the management of risks that are significant to the fulfilment of business
objectives. In addition, they should provide a basis for the maintenance of proper accounting records
and assist in the compliance with relevant laws and regulations.

Systems and procedures are put in place to identify, evaluate and manage the risks of different
businesses and activities. An annual assessment is performed by the Audit and Risk Management
Committee on the effectiveness of the risk management and internal control systems, which have been
considered effective and adequate.
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ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT (CONT’D)
Risk Management and Internal Control (Cont’d)

The Company’s principal subsidiaries are managed under independent systems of risk management
and internal controls. These subsidiaries have provided appropriate assurance to the Company on their
compliance with the CG Code regarding risk management and internal control systems in general to
the Company.

A discussion of the policies and procedures on the management of each of the major types of risk
which the Group is facing is included in note 23 in the Consolidated Financial Statements and under
the “Operational Risks” and “Financial Risks” sections contained in the Management Discussion and
Analysis on page 17 and 23 respectively.

Internal Audit

The Company’s Internal Audit Function (“IAF”) is considered suitable for a small company such as the
Company. The Company’s risk management and internal control systems have been established in the
light of the Company’s small size and uncomplicated structure and are designed to provide reasonable
assurance against material misstatement or loss, and to manage the risk of system failure. Systems and
procedures are in place to identify, evaluate, and manage the risks attached to the Company’s different
business and financial activities.

The IAF is based on a matrix of delegated authorities that defines the level of authority individual
staff have for all financial and operational activities. These procedures allow a hierarchical system of
checking and review.

Budgets are prepared and approved by the Board. All capital expenditure must be approved by an
established authorisation for expenditure process. ltems above a defined value, together with any non-
budgeted expenditure, must be authorised by Board resolution.

The matrix of authority requires sign-off by the level above the individual initiating the transaction.

The Company’s corporate governance and control functions were independently reviewed in 2017.
These will be reviewed in 2019 and periodically thereafter.

Policy on Disclosure of Inside Information

The Board has adopted the Policy on the Disclosure of Inside Information (“Policy”) effective on 8
November 2018 with respect to the procedures and internal controls for the handling and dissemination
of inside information. The Policy sets out guidelines and procedures to the directors of the Company
and relevant officers of the Group to ensure inside information of the Group is to be disseminated to the
public on an equal basis and in timely manner. Directors and relevant officers in possession of potential
inside information and/or inside information are required to take reasonable measures to ensure that
proper safeguards are in place to preserve strict confidentiality of inside information and to ensure that
its recipients recognise their obligations to maintain the information confidential. The Policy shall be
updated and revised as and when necessary in light of changes in circumstances and changes in the
Listing Rules, Part XIVA of the Securities and Futures Ordinance, and relevant statutory and regulatory
requirements from time to time.
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ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT (CONT’D)
External Auditors’ Remuneration

The remuneration paid to the Group’s external auditors during the year is set out in paragraph 30 of the
Report of Directors on page 51.

COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS

The Board recognises the importance of good communication with shareholders. Information in relation
to the Group is disseminated to shareholders in a timely manner through a number of formal channels,
which include interim and annual reports, announcements and circulars. Such published documents
together with the latest corporate information and news are also made available on the website of the
Company.

The Company’s AGM is a valuable forum for the Board to communicate directly with shareholders. The
Chairman actively participates at the AGM and personally chairs the meeting to answer any questions
from shareholders. The chairmen of the Audit and Risk Management Committee, Remuneration
Committee and Nomination Committee or in their absence, another member of the respective
committees or failing that their respective duly appointed delegate, are also available to answer
questions at the AGM. The chairman of any independent board committee formed as necessary or
pursuant to the Listing Rules (or if no such chairman is appointed, at least a member of the independent
board committee) will also be available to answer questions at any general meeting of shareholders to
approve a connected transaction or any other transaction that is subject to independent shareholders’
approval.

During the year, the 2018 AGM was held on 29 May 2018. The attendance records of the Directors at
the general meeting are set out in the section headed “The Board” of this report. The representative of
external auditor attended the 2018 AGM.

Separate resolutions are proposed at the general meetings for each substantial issue, including the re-
election of retiring Directors.

The notification of general meeting to shareholders is to be sent in the case of the AGM at least 20 clear
business days before the meeting and to be sent at least 10 clear business days before the meeting for
all other general meetings. An explanation of the detailed procedures of conducting a poll is provided
to the shareholders at the commencement of the meeting. The Chairman answers questions from
shareholders regarding voting by way of a poll. The poll results are published in the manner prescribed
under the requirements of the Listing Rules.

Shareholder(s) representing at least 5% of the votes that may be cast at the general meeting can request
the Directors to call and arrange a general meeting of shareholders (“General Meeting”) by providing a
written request to the registered office of the Company. Such requisition must state any resolution to be
proposed at the General Meeting and must be signed by shareholder(s) making the request. Directors
must call the meeting within 21 days after the request is given to the Company.
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COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS (CONT’D)

In addition, shareholders representing at least 5% of the votes that may be cast at the general meeting
or at least 100 shareholders who are entitled to vote at a general meeting may give the Company
notice of a resolution they propose to move at a general meeting. Such proposal must be in writing to
the registered office of the Company, must set out the wording of the proposed resolution and must be
signed by shareholder(s) making the request in accordance with the Corporations Act and Constitution,
where applicable.

The Board established a shareholders’” communication policy in November 2018. A shareholder may
serve an enquiry to the Board at the Registered Office for the attention of the Board in written form and
state the nature of the enquiry and the reason for making the enquiry. In addition, shareholders can
contact Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Limited, the share registrar of the Company, for
any questions about their shareholdings.

DIVIDEND POLICY

The Board has adopted a Dividend Policy which aims at providing reasonable and sustainable returns
to its shareholders whilst maintaining a position of financial stability which allows the Company to take
advantage of any investment and expansion opportunities that may arise from time to time.

The Board may declare or propose dividends on an annual basis and/or may declare interim dividends
or special dividends. Proposal or declaration of dividends by the Board is subject to consideration of
the Company’s and the Group’s operating results, accumulated and future earnings, gearing, liquidity
position, capital commitment requirement and future expansion plan as well as general economic
conditions and external factors that may have impact on the financial performance and position of
the Company and the Group. In addition, as the Company is a holding company, the Board will also
consider the dividends received or to be received from its subsidiaries and associates at the time of any
proposal or declaration of a dividend of the Company.

The Board will regularly review the Dividend Policy and will amend and/or modify the Dividend Policy
if necessary.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE ENHANCEMENT

Enhancing corporate governance is not simply a matter of applying and complying with the CG
Code but also about promoting and developing an ethical and healthy corporate culture. The Board
will continue to review and, where appropriate, improve our current practices on the basis of our
experience, regulatory changes and developments. Any views and suggestions from our shareholders to
promote and improve our transparency are also welcome.

On behalf of the Board
Dragon Mining Limited

Arthur George Dew
Chairman

Hong Kong, 7 March 2019
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Independent Auditor’s Report

Ernst & Young

11 Mounts Bay Road

Perth WA 6000 Australia

GPO Box M939 Perth WA 6843
Independent auditor’s report to the members of Dragon
Mining Limited
Report on the audit of the financial report

OPINION

We have audited the Consolidated Financial Statements of
Dragon Mining Limited (the Company) and its subsidiaries
(collectively the Group) set out on pages 138 to 142, which
comprise the Consolidated Statement of Financial Position as
at 31 December 2018, the Consolidated Statement of Profit
or Loss, the Consolidated Statement of Other Comprehensive
Income, the Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity and
the Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows for the year then
ended, and notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements,
including a summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the Consolidated Financial Statements give
a true and fair view of the consolidated financial position of
the Group as at 31 December 2018, and of its consolidated
financial performance and its consolidated cash flows for the
year then ended in accordance with International Financial
Reporting Standards.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with International
Standards on Auditing issued by the International Federation
of Accountants. Our responsibilities under those standards
are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the
Audit of the Financial Report section of our report. We are
independent of the Group in accordance with the ethical
requirements of the Accounting Professional and Ethical
Standards Board’s APES 110 Code of Ethics for Professional
Accountants and the Code of Ethics for Professional
Accountants issued by the International Ethics Standards Board
for Accountants (collectively the “Codes”) that are relevant
to our audit of the financial report. We have also fulfilled our
other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Codes.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
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Independent Auditor’s Report (Cont'd)

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgment, were of most significance in our audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current year. These
matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the
consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming
our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion
on these matters. For each matter below, our description of
how our audit addressed the matter is provided in that context.

We have fulfilled the responsibilities described in the Auditor’s
Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial
Statements section of our report, including in relation to these
matters. Accordingly, our audit included the performance of
procedures designed to respond to our assessment of the risks of
material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements.
The results of our audit procedures, including the procedures
performed to address the matters below, provide the basis for
our audit opinion on the accompanying consolidated financial
statements.
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Independent Auditor’s Report (Cont'd)

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (CONT’D)

Carrying value of non-current assets

Why significant
DS

83 S Az B Bl (A

BEETEEE)
1. FRBEERE

How our audit addressed the key audit matters

% IAAE A a AT REE )

As disclosed in Note 7, the Group had property,
plant and equipment, including capitalised mine
properties, of $26.56 million as at 31 December
2018.

International Financial Reporting Standards require
the Group to assess throughout the reporting
period whether there is any indication that an asset
may be impaired. If any such indication exists, the
entity shall estimate the recoverable amount of the
asset.

No impairment or impairment reversal was
recognised during the year.

The impairment testing process was complex and
judgmental and was based on assumptions and
estimates that are affected by expected future
performance and market conditions and for this
reason was considered to be a key audit matter.

Key assumptions, judgements and estimates used
in the formulation of the Group’s impairment
assessment of non-current assets include discount
rates, gold price and foreign exchange rates, as
disclosed in Note 7.
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[ 72 G o WAL MY Y > B26.56A
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We evaluated the Group’s future cash flow forecasts
included in the impairment model, the process
by which they were prepared, and assessed the
underlying assumptions such as the determination of
the cash generating units, expected cash inflows from
gold sales, cash outflows from the production process
and other operating expenses.

We considered comparable company earnings
multiples and other market evidence.

We also assessed the key assumptions and performed
sensitivity analyses to determine the extent changes
could lead to alternative conclusions.

We have assessed the competence, capability and
objectivity of the internal experts who compiled the
reserves and resources data utilised in the model.
We involved our valuation specialists to evaluate the
appropriateness of key assumptions including discount
rate, gold price and foreign exchange assumptions.

We reviewed the Board of Director’s meeting
minutes and various operational reports and plans
in order to understand the future plans of the Group
and whether there was any potential contradictory
information compared to the assumptions applied in
the impairment model.
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Independent Auditor’s Report (Cont'd)

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (CONT’D)

2

Carrying value of inventories

Why significant
IDERS

3 S A B Bl (A

AREXEEE)
2. FEREEE

How our audit addressed the key audit matters

%S AR A b Ao 3T Y

As disclosed in Note 6, the Group held inventories
as at 31 December 2018 of $10.06 million, which
related to ore and concentrate stockpiles, gold in
circuit, raw materials and stores.

Inventory is a significant asset which requires the
Group’s judgement in determining an appropriate
costing basis and assessing if the carrying value
is recorded at the lower of cost and net realisable
value. Accordingly we considered the carrying
value of inventories to be a key audit matter.
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We obtained an understanding of the Group’s
processes in respect of inventory valuation.

We assessed the accuracy of the Group’s inventory
valuation model including evaluating the assumptions
and methodologies used in the model.

We selected a sample of inventory items to evaluate
whether, based on their nature, costs were correctly
determined and allocated.

We re-performed calculations to confirm that
inventories were recorded at the lower of cost and net
realisable value, including evaluating gold price and
cost to complete assumptions.

FRAMMRME TSR B A A7 B HE T A A -

FAMFEAL T AR A B A HE AR ) ME R - AR RHE
B e RN T 3 -

MR 7 —EF BIEE MR > DISEAG R SRR
B I e St S A 0 B 1 RS

AT TR > QIR T R A S B A
A > AR AR B I DA BUAS I AT 53 B 0 (L 79 2 IR 10 1
AR o

Annual Report 2018
SE N E R



Independent Auditor's Report (Cont'd) Fog ST AZ SR R (A]) 133

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (CONT’D) RAREREHXEE(E)

EERFHENEIRE

3. Recognition and measurement of rehabilitation provisions 3.

Why significant
DS

How our audit addressed the key audit matters

% IAAE A a AT REE )

As disclosed in Note 11, the Group recorded a
rehabilitation provision of $12.57 million as at
31 December 2018 relating to the mine sites and
processing facilities in Sweden and Finland.

As disclosed in Note 1(s) the calculation of this
provision required judgment in estimating the
future costs, the timing as to when the future
costs will be incurred and the determination of an
appropriate rate to discount the future costs to their
present value. The Group reviews rehabilitation
obligations that have arisen semi-annually, or as
new information becomes available, including an
assessment of the underlying assumptions used,
effects of any changes in local regulations, and the
expected approach to rehabilitation.
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We assessed the Group’s calculation of the
rehabilitation provision, and obtained explanations to
support material movements in the provision during
the year.

We evaluated the legal and/or constructive obligations
with respect to the rehabilitation for all mine sites
and processing facilities, the intended method of
rehabilitation and the associated cost estimates.

We assessed the competence, capability and
objectivity of the external experts who compiled the
data that supported the provisions and considered
the appropriateness of their work in conducting our
procedures.

We also assessed the accuracy of the calculations used
to determine the rehabilitation provision including the
discount rate applied.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (CONT’D)

4.

Share issue costs

Why significant
IDERS

3 S A B Bl (A

HREEZEEE)
4. RDBITRA

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

%S AR A b Ao 3T Y

As disclosed in Note 1(x) and Note 13, the Group
recorded share issue costs of $3.89 million in
equity at 31 December 2018.

This required judgement by the Group to
determine the extent to which costs incurred were
directly attributable to the planned share issue, we
considered this a key audit matter.

AR EE 1) M B R 13 r 4 2% - B E20184F12 A 31
H o EERESITNAS3.89H #IET -
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We evaluated the expenses incurred during the Hong
Kong listing and share issue and assessed whether the
costs met the criteria to be treated a share issue costs.

We assessed the Group’s cost allocation methodology
and reperformed the Group’s calculation of costs
attributable to new shares issued.
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Independent Auditor’s Report (Cont'd)

INFORMATION OTHER THAN THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND AUDITOR’S REPORT
THEREON

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other
information. The other information comprises the information
included in the Company’s 2018 Annual Report, other than
the consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s report
thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not
cover the other information and we do not express any form of
assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other information
and, in doing so, consider whether the other information
is materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial
statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise
appears to be materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that
there is a material misstatement of this other information, we
are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in
this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE DIRECTORS FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the
preparation of the consolidated financial statements that
give a true and fair view in accordance with International
Financial Reporting Standards issued by the International
Accounting Standards Board and for such internal control as
the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation
of consolidated financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors
of the Company are responsible for assessing the Group's ability
to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable,
matters related to going concern and using the going concern
basis of accounting unless the directors of the Company either
intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no
realistic alternative but to do so.

The directors of the Company are assisted by the Audit and Risk
Management Committee in discharging their responsibilities for
overseeing the Group’s financial reporting process.
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Independent Auditor’s Report (Cont'd)

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE FINANCIAL REPORT

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the consolidated financial statements as a whole are
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error,
and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion.
Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not
a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with the
International Auditing Standards will always detect a material
misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud
or error and are considered material if, individually or in the
aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence
the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these
consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with the International
Standards on Auditing, we exercise professional judgment and
maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. We also:

e Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud
or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive
to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient
and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The
risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from
fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud
may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions,
misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

e Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to
the audit in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose
of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the
Group’s internal control.

e  Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related
disclosures made by the directors.

e Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of
the going concern basis of accounting and, based on the
audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty
exists related to events or conditions that may cast
significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a
going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty
exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s
report to the related disclosures in the consolidated
financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate,
to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the
audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s
report. However, future events or conditions may cause
the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.
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Independent Auditor’s Report (Cont'd)

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE FINANCIAL REPORT (CONT’D)

e Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content
of the consolidated financial statements, including the
disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial
statements represent the underlying transactions and
events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

e Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding
the financial information of the entities or business
activities within the Group to express an opinion on the
consolidated financial statements. We are responsible for
the direction, supervision and performance of the Group
audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among
other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and
significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies
in internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we
have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding
independence, and to communicate with them all relationships
and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on
our independence, and where applicable, related safeguards.

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee,
we determine those matters that were of most significance in
the audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current
year and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe
these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation
precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in
extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter
should not be communicated in our report because the adverse
consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to
outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this
independent auditor’s report is Jemma K Newton.

Ernst & Young
Perth
18 April 2019
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss

For the year ended 31 December 2018

Revenue from customers
Cost of sales

Gross (loss)/profit

Other revenue

Other income

Exploration expenditure

Management and administration
expenses

Other expenses

Finance costs

Foreign exchange loss

Hong Kong listing costs

Loss before tax
Income tax expense

Loss after income tax

Earnings per share attributable to
ordinary equity holders of
the parent (cents per share)

Basic earnings per share

Diluted earnings per share

DRAGON MINING LIMITED
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Note
e

2018 2017
20185 20174E
AU$’000 AU$’000
TR’ RS
37,850 41,270
(41,154) (35,732)
(3,304) 5,538
216 174

35 92

(51) (167)
(3,754) (3,348)
(398) (270)
(191) (14)
(782) (63)
(1,302) (2,525)
9,531) (583)
9,531) (583)
(9.90) (0.66)
(9.90) (0.66)
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Consolidated Statement of Other Comprehensive Income g% & JH: Atk 2> 1) Wt 25 36 139

For the year ended 31 December 2018 2018412 31 H L4
2018 2017
20185 20174
Note AU$’000 AU$’000
it FHET THT
Loss after income tax (brought forward) BRETSHHZEE (AT 9,531) (583)
Other comprehensive income His2EUWBA
Other comprehensive income AR I ] EH 7
to be reclassified to profit or E 17w I H M2
loss in subsequent periods: WA -
Gain on foreign currency translation s REE 5,15 2 1,620 1,127
Net other comprehensive income BREZBEEF SR
to be reclassified to profit or EEGNEMEE
loss in subsequent periods WA FEE 1,620 1,127
Total comprehensive (loss)/income HRZE(EE),
for the period WARE (7,911) 544
Loss attributable to: UM AT BEEE :
Members of Dragon Mining Limited HE EIRA IR A RIBOR (9,531) (583)
9,531) (583)
Total comprehensive (loss)/income LN ATEAZE
attributable to: (B518) A%
Members of Dragon Mining Limited HE G URA PR Al BOR (7,911) 544
(7,911) 544
DRAGON MINING LIMITED Annual Report 2018
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

As at 31 December 2018

CURRENT ASSETS

Cash and cash equivalents
Trade and other receivables
Inventories

Other assets

TOTAL CURRENT ASSETS

NON-CURRENT ASSETS

Property, plant and equipment

Mineral exploration and evaluation costs
Other assets

TOTAL NON-CURRENT ASSETS
TOTAL ASSETS

CURRENT LIABILITIES
Trade and other payables
Provisions

Other liabilities

TOTAL CURRENT LIABILITIES

NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES
Provisions

Interest bearing liabilities
Other financial liabilities

TOTAL NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES
TOTAL LIABILITIES

NET ASSETS

EQUITY
Contributed equity
Reserves
Accumulated losses

TOTAL EQUITY

REBEE

e kBREFEY
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REBEEAE
FRBEE

1Al 5
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RitiiR
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Arthur G Dew
JREESE
Director

EF
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Note
R 5E

O O U1 b~

e N

10
11

11
12

13
14

2018 2017
20185 20174E
AU$’000 AU$’000
TR’ RS
10,905 6,609
3,990 2,581
10,057 9,110
429 1,728
25,381 20,028
26,556 19,344
5,333 5,562
5,480 5,415
37,369 30,321
62,750 50,349
6,409 5,840
1,892 2,215
107 101
8,408 8,156
12,617 10,834
4,249 -
29 -
16,895 10,834
25,303 18,990
37,447 31,359
133,991 119,992
(23) (1,643)
(96,521) (86,990)
37,447 31,359

Brett R Smith
Director

HF
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
For the year ended 31 December 2018

At 1 January 2017

Loss for the period
Other comprehensive income

Total comprehensive income
for the period

Transactions with owners in their
capacity as owners:

At 31 December 2017

At 1 January 2018

Loss for the period
Other comprehensive income

Total comprehensive income
for the period

Transactions with owners in their

capacity as owners:
Issue of shares (net of cost)

At 31 December 2018

DRAGON MINING LIMITED
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Equity

Reserve

Convertible  Purchase of

Foreign Note Non-
Contributed ~ Accumulated Currency Premium  controlling Total
Equity Losses  Translation Reserve Interest Equity

TEARE FERERD
Bakx  ZHER BEX 0 RERE BERGEE  EREE
AUS$'000 AU$'000 AU$'000 AU$'000 AU$/000 AU$'000
AR AR TAR TAR TAn TAR
119,992 (86,407) (5,907) 2,068 1,069 30,815
- (583) - - - (583)
- - 1127 - - 1127
- (583) 1,127 - - 544
119,992 (86,990) (4,780) 2,068 1,069 31,359
119,992 (86,990) (4,780) 2,068 1,069 31,359
- 9,531) - - - 9,531)
- - 1,620 - - 1,620
- 9,531) 1,620 - - (7.911)
13,999 - - - - 13,999
133,991 (96,521) (3,160) 2,068 1,069 37,447
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows EEBRESmER

For the year ended 31 December 2018

Cash flows from operating activities
Receipts from customers

Payments to suppliers and employees
Payments for mineral exploration
Interest received

Interest expenses

Net cash used in operating activities

Cash flows from investing activities
Payments for property,

plant and equipment
Payments for development activities
Proceeds from bond held on deposit
Payments for evaluation activities
Payments for development of

mine properties

Net cash used in investing activities

Cash flows from financing activities
Proceeds from share issue
Drawdown of loan

Repayment of loan

Share issue costs

Net cash from/(used in) financing
activities

Net (decrease)/increase in cash and
cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents at the
beginning of the period

Effects of exchange rate changes
on cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents at
the end of the period

DRAGON MINING LIMITED
oA R A R A A

HE2018F12 31 H ILFE

2018 2017
20185 20174E
Note AU$’000 AU$’000
Bt 5 TET RS
RETHEESRE
W B % 5 2IE 36,587 42,363
] {8 B Ak (45,048) (42,196)
IR B AT 3K (68) (278)
E LS 225 59
BB 57 (170) )
RETETARSHEE 4 (8,474) (54)
RETHELSRE
R ]
(3,249) (3,046)
AR BH S B A5 3K (5,329) -
AAEESR TSI 9 16
FEA TG B A K - (631)
ol B BRI 2 ) 2E A K
- (3,185)
BRETEARSHEE (8,569) (6,846)
BMETHESRE
FEAR 3347 T A5 3 IH 17,890 -
FEHUEK 9,000 -
3R B3 (5,000) =
READ AT AR (933) (1,430)
mMEEHAHME(FTH)
HEFH 20,957 (1,430)
B4 KB &S5 EY) (b))
VN 3,914 (8,330)
W) 34 e 54 (5
6,609 15,407
TR = s ) 3 B 4 o B 4 55
& Wy (1) 5 2 382 (468)
HAAESRESEEY
4 10,905 6,609
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

1. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES

a)

Reporting Entity

Dragon Mining Limited (the “Company” or the “Parent
Entity”) was incorporated as an Australian Public
Company, limited by shares on 23 April 1990, and is
subject to the requirements of the Corporations Act
2001 as governed by the Australian Securities and
Investment Commission. The Company’s registered
office is located at Unit B1, 431 Roberts Road,
Subiaco WA 6008 Australia. The Company’s shares
were successfully listed on the Main Board of the
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong on 5 November 2018.

The Consolidated Financial Statements for the year
ended 31 December 2018 were authorised for issue
in accordance with a resolution of the Directors on 7
March 2019.

The Consolidated Financial Statements of the
Company as at and for the year ended 31 December
2018 comprise the Company and its subsidiaries
(together referred to as the “Consolidated Entity”
or the “Group”). The Group is a for-profit entity,
primarily involved in gold mining operations and
gold mineral exploration. The Company has direct
and indirect interests in its subsidiaries, all of which
have substantially similar characteristics to a private
company incorporated in Hong Kong, the particulars
of which are set out below:

Place and date

a5 P 255 i 3R P

1.

TESHBRBE

HER

BEEVRA PRA A ([ AN A 8 &4
FEHE ) R 19904E4 A 23 H ki
S A — IR A AT s B A
BN 7] > Sl ZERESF 2001 4F 2 735 1)
FE o HEMBREAIREERZ A
A o AN FAY R e A
Unit B1, 431 Roberts Road, Subiaco
WA 6008 Australia « A A BHE
2018411 A 5 H 767 s B 28 iir £ 4
W LT e

HE20184E12 A31 H IEFERNEES
R R ORI E S H M A201943
H7H BBk L ) 88 -

ARNFR20184F12 H31 H M &%
H IE4F B 475 T R R 2= A A 7
KM A F] (R AT 45 A B 5
[AKEE]) o AL TS
FER S PR L TR -
PN NN )= NI B SN BN A ke =
WS > AT B B s T RS Y
LINYNE NS GRS = S |
e

of incorporation/ Nominal value of Percentage of
registration and issued ordinary equity attributable
Name place of operations share capital to the Company Principal activities
MY SRR ERTEERA EDTFELG
L AHNAREELE WEE KAEDH TREH
Dragon Mining Australia = 100% Dormant
Investments Pty Ltd 18 December 2008 Wi
T
20084124 18H
Dragon Mining Sweden SEK 100,000 100% Gold Production
(Sweden) AB 27 April 1993 100,000 84 52 B
i
19934F4H27H
Viking Gold & Sweden SEK 100,000 100% Dormant
Prospecting AB 3 April 1996 100,000% 4 52 B W
i i
199643 H
Dragon Mining Oy Finland EUR 100,000 100% Gold Production
24 March 1993 100,00080C EEEE
IFH
199343 424 H
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1.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Cont'd)

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONT’D)

b)

Basis of Preparation

Statement of compliance

The Consolidated Financial Statements for the year
ended 31 December 2018 are general purpose
financial statements prepared in accordance with
the International Financial Reporting Standards
(“IFRS”) promulgated by the International Accounting
Standards Board (the “IASB”) and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance.

All IFRSs effective for the accounting period
commencing 1 January 2018 have been adopted
by the Group. In accordance with the transitional
provisions of IFRS 9 Financial Instruments (IFRS
9), which was adopted 1 January 2018, the Group
has elected not to restate comparative information
(see note 1(aa)). Except for the impact of adopting
IFRS 9, accounting policies have been consistently
applied throughout all periods presented. There was
no material impact of the new and revised standards
and interpretations on the Group and the Group’s
accounting policies have been updated to reflect the
new standards where applicable. Refer to note 20 for
disclosure on the implementation of IFRS 15 Revenue
from contracts with customers (IFRS 15) and IFRS 9.

The Consolidated Financial Statements have been
prepared under the historical cost convention,
except for certain financial instruments which are
measured at fair value. These financial statements are
presented in Australian dollars (“AU$”) and all values
are rounded to the nearest thousand except when
otherwise specified.

DRAGON MINING LIMITED
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%

BOA R

/AN

22 /N

AVR

1.

Yk 5 3k Mk (468

TESHBEBEE)
b mEREE
aHEEN]

HE20184E12 H31 H ILEE LS
RS 3% T AR I I R e U B 2R
(B8] P o e 0 L o ) 080 £ 110 [0 55
B i (T [ 5 B S T ) )
DA e 7 N RGP ) 40 % A 5 T A Y
1) — i A B i R

ALEEE AR 201841 A1 HBAth
B A A R i A I R A 3
HEH o ARPEE A20184E1 H1 H 44
E@Fﬁ%ﬁ!ﬁ%i&%féﬁﬂéﬁ%ﬁé%ﬂﬂ
1B ¥ B 75 S Y 1) 2R 9 9% ) 1) AR U AR
jc ZIK%I%B SRR N Wl o
(FLMFEET (@) o BAER 4M [ 8 B 5 R o
HEQIZEOHE RS2 241 > SRt EUR E iR
E?%ﬁﬂﬁﬁlﬁﬁ*ﬁ?%@?ﬂﬁqg%%ﬁﬁ o
R B SR AETTHE Bl J i Fee s A4 [
ME G2, HAEENGTTEORE
A H 388 B DA S T ST HE L o A5 B
B ifh ] R P S S R I 2 1 SR LR S
FTOL A A0 Ui g (13 % A A i 4 Y )
1555 A I B A s i A v J 25 9 5%
HIPTRNZ > 5220 -

A5 BB i R G (o T JRR S A O
B MR T &M EE &N A EER
B o ZEMBHEEUIOT(TWT]) 2
5 > HERIEDA B - R TA BUE
HE AR B BHIE N T -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Cont'd) RO A BRI M e (48) 145

1. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 1. FESHBEME(E)
POLICIES (CONT’D)
c) Basis of Consolidation [9) *.E'- HE

The Consolidated Financial Statements comprise the
financial statements of the Consolidated Entity.

Control is achieved when the Company is exposed,
or has rights to, variable returns from its involvement
with the investee and has the ability to affect those
returns through its power over the investee.

Specifically, the Company controls an investee if and
only if the Company has:

e Power over the investee (i.e. existing rights that
give it the current ability to direct the relevant
activities of the investee);

e  Exposure, or rights, to variable returns from its
involvement with the investee; and

e The ability to use its power over the investee to
affect its returns.

When the Company has less than a majority of the
voting or similar rights in an investee, the Company
considers all relevant facts and circumstances in
assessing whether it has power over an investee,
including:

e The contractual arrangement with the other vote
holders of the investee;

e Rights arising from other contractual arrangements;
and

e The Company’s voting rights and potential voting
rights.

The Company re-assesses whether it controls an
investee if facts and circumstances indicate that there
are changes to one or more of the three elements of
control. Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when
the Company obtains control over the subsidiary
and ceases when the Company loses control of the
subsidiary.

DRAGON MINING LIMITED
B AR 2 A

VT (=] Hﬁﬂ%i&%@@ﬁé 120 nﬁﬁﬁmﬁd‘%i&
FEo

%Zl—‘/\jlﬁéﬁi?l%%%ﬁi’%ﬁ’ﬁ%ﬁ%

] 55 [ e gy B A ] 48 [ ¥k HLRE S
Lﬂ?ﬁ‘é‘ﬂ%ﬂﬂéﬁ ':F'/ = uZ# Ei&
iy o RPECS 2 -

HEmE - & HEEAARHA 5
TR T A PER B EH R

o HHIEHRMHES (RIBLAHES
S Al B R0 A
EBHIRETT) 3

o R EBUE B G T A (vl R B
R 5 K&

o ITHBEBCEE SARET IR
[k R BETT

fisi A5 I HEA D IR BUE B R R 2 Wi
SRR ARERI O RER > RIAC A R 5F
(B EE ks <e E L0k Al
% hE — UIAR BRSO UL - B

o HBCEH R HAMBIEMERA A
a2k

o HAMBHILPETEA MR 5 K

o AR HIIEEME S A A
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1.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Cont'd)

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONT’D)

(9]

Basis of Consolidation (Cont’d)

The income, expenses, assets and liabilities of a
subsidiary acquired or disposed of during the year are
included in the Company’s Consolidated Statement
of Profit or Loss or the Consolidated Statement of
Financial Position from the date the Company gains
control until the date the Company ceases to have
control.

Where necessary, adjustments are made to the
financial statements of subsidiaries to bring their
accounting policies in line with the Company’s
accounting policies. All intra-group assets and
liabilities, equity, income, expenses and cash flows
relating to transactions between members of the
Company are eliminated in full on consolidation.

A change in the ownership interest of a subsidiary,
without a loss of control, is accounted for as an equity
transaction.

If the Company loses control of a subsidiary, the
Company:

e Derecognises the assets (including goodwill) and
liabilities of the subsidiary;

e Derecognises the carrying amount of any non-
controlling interest;

e Derecognises the cumulative translation
differences recorded in equity;

* Recognises the fair value of any investment
retained;

e Recognises the fair value of the consideration
received;

e Recognises any surplus or deficit in the
Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss; and

e Reclassifies the Company’s share of items
previously recognised in Other Comprehensive
Income to the Consolidated Statement of Profit or
Loss or retained earnings as appropriate.

Investments in subsidiaries are carried at cost less
impairment in the Company’s Consolidated Statement
of Financial Position.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Cont'd) A BB R P e (48) 147

1. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 1. TEE3HHEME(E)
POLICIES (CONT’D)

d) Revenue from Contracts with Customers d) EEFITVELAMKE

Revenue is measured based on the consideration
specified in a contract with a customer. The Group
recognises revenue from the sale of gold bullion
and concentrate when control of the product has
transferred to the customer.

Concentrate sales

Concentrate is sold to a third-party through a standard
Incoterm Delivery-At-Place (“DAP”) agreement. Once
the concentrate has been delivered the Group has
met its performance obligations and control passes.
Revenue is recognised based on the estimated final
settlement price and is determined with reference
to the forward gold price. Adjustments are made for
variations in assay and weight between delivery and
final settlement. The final settlement price received
is based on the monthly average London Metal
Exchange (LME) gold price for the month following
delivery. Adjustments relating to quotational period
pricing are recognised and measured in accordance
with the policy at note 1(h).

Bullion sales

Bullion is sold on the market through the Group’s
metal account. Revenue is recognised in accordance
with the price and quantity specified in the sales
contract when the delivery obligations have been
met.

Income Taxes

The income tax expense or benefit for the period
is the tax payable on the current period’s taxable
income based on the national income tax rate for each
jurisdiction adjusted for changes in deferred tax assets
and liabilities attributable to the temporary differences
between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and
their carrying amounts in the Consolidated Financial
Statements and for unused tax losses.

Deferred income tax is provided on all temporary
differences at the reporting date between the tax bases
of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts for
financial reporting purposes.
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1.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Cont'd)

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONT’D)

e)

Income Taxes (Cont’d)
Deferred income tax liabilities are recognised for all
taxable temporary differences:

Except where the deferred income tax liability
arises from the initial recognition of an asset or
liability in a transaction that is not a business
combination and at the time of the transaction
affects neither the accounting or taxable profit or
loss; and

In respect of taxable temporary differences
associated with investments in subsidiaries and
interests in associates, except where the timing of
the reversal of the temporary differences can be
controlled and it is probable that the temporary
differences will not reverse in the foreseeable
future.

Deferred income tax assets are recognised for all
deductible temporary differences, carry-forward of
unused tax assets and unused tax losses, to the extent
it is probable that a taxable profit will be available
against which the deductible temporary differences
and the carry-forward of unused tax assets and unused
tax losses can be utilised:

Except where the deferred income tax asset
relating to the deductible temporary differences
arises from the initial recognition of an asset or
liability in a transaction that is not a business
combination and, at the time of the transaction,
affects neither the accounting nor taxable profit
or loss; and

In respect of deductible temporary differences
associated with investments in subsidiaries and
interests in associates, deferred tax assets are
only recognised to the extent that it is probable
that the temporary differences will reverse in
the foreseeable future and taxable profit will be
available against which the temporary differences
can be utilised.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Cont'd) A BB R P e (48) 149

1. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 1. TEE3HHEME(E)
POLICIES (CONT’D)

e) Income Taxes (Cont’d) e) FIEH(HE)

The carrying amount of deferred income tax assets
is reviewed at each reporting date and reduced to
the extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient
taxable profit will be available to allow all or part of
the deferred income tax asset to be utilised.

Unrecognised deferred income tax assets are
reassessed at each reporting date and are recognised
to the extent that it has become probable that future
taxable profit will allow the deferred tax asset to be
recovered. Deferred income tax assets and liabilities
are measured at the tax rates that are expected to
apply to the year when the asset is realised, or the
liability is settled, based on tax rates (and tax laws)
that have been enacted or substantively enacted at the
reporting date.

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are
offset only if a legally enforceable right exists to set off
current tax assets against current tax liabilities and the
deferred tax assets and liabilities relate to the same
taxable entity and the same taxable authority.

Tax consolidation legislation

The Company implemented the Australian tax
consolidation legislation as of 1 July 2003. The
Company has applied the group allocation approach
in determining the appropriate amount of current
taxes and deferred taxes to allocate to members of the
tax consolidated group.
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1.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Cont'd)

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONT’D)

f)

g

Goods and Services Tax (GST)
Revenues, expenses and assets are recognised net of
the amount of GST except:

e Where the GST incurred on a purchase of goods
and services is not recoverable from the tax
authority; and

e Receivables and payables are stated with the
amount of GST included.

The net amount of GST recoverable from, or payable
to, the tax authority is included as part of receivables
or payables in the Consolidated Statement of Financial
Position.

Cash flows are included in the Consolidated
Statement of Cash Flows on a gross basis and the
GST component of cash flows arising from investing
and financing activities, which is recoverable from or
payable to the tax authority, classified as operating
cash flows.

Commitments and contingencies are disclosed net of
the amount of GST recoverable from, or payable to,
the tax authority.

Foreign Currency Transactions and Balances

Functional and presentation currency

The functional currency of each Company is
measured using the currency of the primary economic
environment in which that entity operates. The
Consolidated Financial Statements are presented in
Australian Dollars which is the Company’s functional
and presentation currency.

Transaction and balances

Foreign currency transactions are translated into the
functional currency using the exchange rate prevailing
at the dates of the transactions. Foreign exchange
gains and losses resulting from the settlement of such
transactions and from the translation at year end
of monetary assets and liabilities denominated in
foreign currencies are recognised in the Consolidated
Statement of Profit or Loss.

Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of
historical cost in a foreign currency are translated
using the exchange rates at the dates of the initial
transactions. Non-monetary items measured at fair
value in a foreign currency are translated using the
exchange rates at the date when the fair value is
determined. The gain or loss arising on translation of
non-monetary items measured at fair value is treated
in line with the recognition of the gain or loss on the
change in fair value of the item.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Cont'd) RO A BRI M e (48) 151

1. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 1. XE&FHBORHME (M)
POLICIES (CONT’D)
g Foreign Currency Transactions and Balances (Cont’d) g) IINERXZRER(E)
Group Companies LE[F /N A

The results and financial position of all the
subsidiaries of the Company (none of which has the
currency of a hyperinflationary economy) that have
a functional currency different from the presentation
currency are translated into the presentation currency
as follows:

e Assets and liabilities are translated at the closing
rate at the date of that reporting date;

e Income and expenses are translated at average
exchange rates (unless this is not a reasonable
approximation of the rates prevailing on the
transaction date, in which case income and
expenses are translated at the dates of the
transactions); and

e All resulting exchange differences are recognised
as a separate component of equity.

On consolidation, exchange differences arising from
the translation of any monetary items that form part
of the net investment in a foreign entity are taken
to Shareholders’” Equity. When a foreign operation
is sold, or borrowings are repaid, the proportionate
share of such exchange differences are recognised in
the Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on the
acquisition of a foreign entity are treated as assets and
liabilities of the foreign entity and translated at the
closing rate at the reporting date.
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1.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Cont'd)

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONT’D)

h)

Trade and Other Receivables

Policy applicable from 1 January 2018:

Trade receivables are initially recognised at their
transaction price and other receivables at fair value.
Receivables that are held to collect contractual cash
flows and are expected to give rise to cash flows
representing solely payments of principal and interest
are classified and subsequently measured at amortised
cost. Receivables that do not meet the criteria for
amortised cost are measured at fair value through
profit or loss. This category includes trade receivables
relating to concentrate sales that are subject to
quotation period pricing.

The terms of the concentrate sales contract contain
provisional pricing arrangements. Adjustments to the
sales price are based on movements in metal prices
up to the date of final pricing. Final settlement is
based on the monthly average LME gold price for the
month following delivery (the “quotational period”).
Movements in the fair value of the concentrate
debtors are recognised in sundry revenue.

The group assesses on a forward-looking basis
the expected credit loss associated with its debt
instruments carried at amortised cost. The amount of
expected credit losses is updated at each reporting
date to reflect changes in credit risk since initial
recognition of the respective financial instrument. The
Group always recognises the lifetime expected credit
loss for trade receivables carried at amortised cost.
The expected credit losses on these financial assets
are estimated based on the Group’s historic credit
loss experience, adjusted for factors that are specific
to the debtors, general economic conditions and an
assessment of both the current as well as forecast
conditions at the reporting date.

For all other receivables measured at amortised cost,
the Group recognised lifetime expected credit losses
when there has been a significant increase in credit
risk since initial recognition. If on the other hand
the credit risk on the financial instrument has not
increased significantly since initial recognition, the
Group measures the loss allowance for that financial
instrument at an amount equal to expected credit
losses within the next 12 months.
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1. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 1. TEE3HHEME(E)
POLICIES (CONT’D)

h) Trade and Other Receivables (Cont’d) h ESKEMmEWEIEE)

Policy applicable from 1 January 2018: (Cont’d)

The Group considers an event of default has occurred
when a financial asset is more than 90 days past due
or external sources indicate that the debtor is unlikely
to pay its creditors, including the Group. A financial
asset is credit impaired when there is evidence that
the counterparty is in significant financial difficulty
or a breach of contract, such as a default or past due
event has occurred. The Group writes off a financial
asset when there is information indicating the
counterparty is in severe financial difficulty and there
is no realistic prospect of recovery.

Policy applicable for annual reporting periods up to
31 December 2017:

Trade receivables have a 45-day term and are
recognised initially at fair value and subsequently
measured at amortised cost using the effective interest
method less doubtful debts.

The terms of the concentrate sales contract contain
provisional pricing arrangements. Adjustments to the
sales price are based on movements in metal prices
up to the date of final pricing. Final settlement is
based on the monthly average LME gold price for the
month following delivery (the “quotational period”).
The revenue adjustment mechanism embedded
within the receivable has the characteristics of a
commodity derivative which significantly modifies the
cash flows under the contract. The Group recognises
this embedded derivative at fair value through profit
and loss with changes in fair value recognised as an
adjustment to revenue in the statement of profit and
loss.

Collectability of trade receivables is reviewed
on an ongoing basis. Debts that are known to be
uncollectible are written off when identified. An
allowance for doubtful receivables is established
when there is objective evidence that the Group
will not be able to collect some or all amounts due
according to the original terms of the transaction.
Significant financial difficulties of the debtor,
probability that the debtor will enter bankruptcy or
financial reorganisation and default are considered
indicators that the trade receivable is impaired.
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1.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Cont'd)

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONT’D)

h)

Trade and Other Receivables (Cont’d)

Policy applicable for annual reporting periods up to
31 December 2017: (Cont’d)

The amount of the provision is the difference
between the assets carrying value and the present
value of estimated future cash flows. The amount
of the provision is recognised in the Consolidated
Statements of Profit or Loss.

Receivables from related parties are recognised and
carried at the nominal amount due. When interest is
charged it is taken up as revenue in profit or loss and
included in other revenue.

Inventories

Finished goods, gold concentrate, gold in circuit
and stockpiles of unprocessed ore have been valued
at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Cost
comprises direct materials, direct labour and an
appropriate proportion of variable and fixed overhead
expenditure.

Costs are assigned to stockpiles and gold in circuit
inventories based on weighted average cost. Net
realisable value is the estimated selling price in the
ordinary course of business less the estimated costs
of completion and the cost to sell. Consumables have
been valued at cost less an appropriate provision for
obsolescence. Cost is determined on a first-in first-out
basis.

Deferred Waste

As part of open pit mining operations, the Group
incurs stripping (waste removal) costs during the
development and production phase of its operations.

When development stripping costs are incurred
expenditure is capitalised as part of the cost of
constructing the mine and subsequently amortised
over its useful life using a unit of production
(“UOP”) method. The capitalisation of development
stripping costs ceases when the mine/component
is commissioned and ready for use as intended by
management.

Stripping costs incurred in the production phase
create two benefits:

e the production of inventory; or

e improved access to future ore.
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1. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 1. TEE3HHEME(E)
POLICIES (CONT’D)

Deferred Waste (Cont'd)

Where the benefits are realised in the form of
inventories produced in the period, production
stripping costs are accounted for as part of the
cost of producing those inventories. Where
production stripping costs are incurred, and the
benefit is improved access to future ore, the costs
are recognised as a stripping activity asset in mine
properties.

If the costs of the inventories produced and the
stripping asset are not separately identifiable an
allocation is undertaken based on the waste to ore
stripping ratio (for the ore component concerned).
If mining of waste in a period occurs more than the
expected stripping ratio, the excess is recognised as
part of the stripping asset. Where mining occurs at or
below the expected life of component stripping ratio
in a period, the entire production stripping cost is
allocated to the cost of the ore inventories produced.

Amortisation is provided using a UOP method over
the life of the identified component of orebody.
The UOP method results in an amortisation charge
proportional to the depletion of the economically
recoverable mineral resources (comprising proven
and probable reserves) component.

Property, Plant and Equipment

Mine properties: areas in production

Areas in production represent the accumulation of all
acquired exploration, evaluation and development
expenditure incurred by or on behalf of the Group
in relation to an area of interest in which mines
are being prepared for production or the economic
mining of a mineral reserve has commenced.

When further development expenditure, including
waste development, is incurred in respect of a mine
property after the commencement of production,
such expenditure is carried forward to the extent that
a future economic benefit is established, otherwise
such expenditure is classified as part of the cost of
production. Amortisation of costs is provided using a
UOP method (with separate calculations being made
for each mineral resource).

The UOP method results in an amortisation charge
proportional to the depletion of the economically
recoverable mineral reserves.

The costs are carried forward to the extent that
these costs are expected to be recouped through the
successful exploitation of the Group’s mining leases.
The net carrying value of each mine property is
reviewed regularly and, to the extent that it's carrying
value exceeds its recoverable amount, the excess is
fully provided against in the financial year in which it
is determined.
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1.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Cont'd)

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONT’D)

k)

Property, Plant and Equipment (Cont’d)

Plant and equipment

Each class of property, plant and equipment is carried
at cost less, where applicable, any accumulated
depreciation and impairment.

The cost of an item of plant and equipment comprises:

e lts purchase price, including import duties and
non-refundable purchase taxes, after deducting
trade discounts and rebates;

* Any costs directly attributable to bringing the
asset to the location and condition necessary
for it to be capable of operating in the manner
intended by management; and

e The initial estimate of the costs of dismantling
and removing the item and restoring the site on
which it is located.

Depreciation

Depreciation is provided on a straight-line basis on
all items of property, plant and equipment other
than mining plant and equipment and land. The
depreciation rates used for each class of depreciable
assets are:

5-50%
4-33%

Other plant and equipment
Buildings

The assets’ residual values, useful lives and
amortisation methods are reviewed, and adjusted if
appropriate, at each financial year end.

Impairment

The carrying values of mine properties, plant and
equipment are reviewed for impairment when events
or changes in circumstances indicate the carrying
value may not be recoverable (refer to note 1(n)).

Disposal
An item of property, plant and equipment is
derecognised upon disposal or when no further
future economic benefits are expected from its use or
disposal.

Any gain or loss arising on de-recognition of the asset
(calculated as the difference between the net disposal
proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset) is
included in the Consolidated Statement of Profit or
Loss in the year the asset is derecognised.
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1. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 1. TEE3HHEME(E)
POLICIES (CONT’D)

Mineral Exploration and Evaluation Costs

Exploration expenditure is expensed to the Consolidated
Statement of Profit or Loss as and when it is incurred
and included as part of cash flows from operating
activities in the Consolidated Statement of Cash
Flows. Exploration costs are only capitalised to the
Consolidated Statement of Financial Position if they
result from an acquisition.

Evaluation expenditure is capitalised to the Consolidated
Statement of Financial Position. Evaluation is deemed
to be activities undertaken from the beginning of the
definitive feasibility study conducted to assess the
technical and commercial viability of extracting a
mineral resource before moving into the development
phase.

The criteria for carrying forward costs are:

e Such costs are expected to be recouped through
successful development and exploitation of the
area of interest, or alternatively by its sale; or

e Exploration and/or evaluation activities in the
area of interest have not yet reached a state
which permits a reasonable assessment of
the existence or otherwise of economically
recoverable reserves and active and significant
operations in or in relation to the area are
continuing.

Costs carried forward in respect of an area of interest
which is abandoned are written off in the year in
which the abandonment decision is made.

Farm out arrangements

In respect of Farm Outs, the Company does not record
any expenditure made by the Farmee on its account.
Where there is capitalised exploration expenditure
it also does not recognise any gain or loss on its
exploration and evaluation Farm Out arrangements
but redesignates any costs previously capitalised in
relation to the whole interest as relating to the partial
interest retained. Cash received from the Farmee is
treated as a reimbursement of expenditure incurred
(where expenditure is capitalised) or gains on disposal
if there is no capitalised expenditure.
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1.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Cont'd)

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONT’D)

m) Cash and Cash Equivalents

n)

Cash and cash equivalents include cash on hand,
deposits held at call with banks, other short-term
highly liquid investments with original maturities
normally of three months or less, and bank overdrafts
excluding any restricted cash. Restricted cash is not
available for use by the Company and is therefore not
considered highly liquid (i.e. rehabilitation bonds).

For the purposes of the Statement of Cashflows,
cash and cash equivalents consist of cash and cash
equivalents as defined above net of outstanding
bank overdrafts. Bank overdrafts are included within
interest-bearing loans and borrowings in current
liabilities on the Consolidated Statement of Financial
Position.

Impairment

The carrying amounts of the Group’s non-financial
assets, other than inventories and deferred tax assets,
are reviewed at each reporting date to determine
whether there is any indication of impairment. If any
such indication exists, then the asset’s recoverable
amount is estimated.

An impairment loss is recognised whenever the
carrying amount of an asset or its cash-generating
unit exceeds its recoverable amount. Impairment
losses are recognised in the Consolidated Statement
of Profit or Loss. A cash-generating unit is the smallest
identifiable asset group that generates cash flows
that are largely independent from other assets and
groups. Impairment losses recognised in respect of
cash-generating units are allocated first to reduce the
carrying amount of any goodwill allocated to the units
and then to reduce the carrying amount of the other
assets in the unit (group of units) on a pro rata basis.

The recoverable amount of an asset or cash-
generating unit is the greater of its value in use and its
fair value less costs of disposal. In assessing value in
use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to
their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that
reflects current market assessments of the time value
of money and the risks specific to the asset.

Impairment losses recognised in prior periods are
assessed at each reporting date for any indications
that the loss has decreased or no longer exists. An
impairment loss is reversed if there has been a change
in estimates used to determine the recoverable
amount. An impairment loss is reversed only to the
extent that the asset’s carrying amount does not
exceed the carrying amount that would have been
determined, net of depreciation or amortisation, if no
impairment loss had been recognised.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Cont'd) A BB R P e (48) 159

1. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 1. TEE3HHEME(E)
POLICIES (CONT’D)

0) Trade and Other Payables o) EBEFRHEMENFEIE

Trade and other payables are carried at amortised
cost due to their short-term nature and they are not
discounted. They represent liabilities for goods and
services provided to the Group prior to the end of
the financial year that are unpaid and arise when the
Group becomes obliged to make future payments in
respect of the purchase of these goods and services.
The amounts are unsecured and are usually paid
within 30 days of recognition.

Payables to related parties are carried at the principal
amount. Interest, when charged by the lender, is
recognised as an expense on an accrual’s basis.

Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a
present obligation (legal or constructive) because of a
past event, it is probable that an outflow of resources
embodying economic benefits will be required to
settle the obligation and a reliable estimate can be
made of the amount of the obligation.

When the Group expects some or all the provision
to be reimbursed, for example under an insurance
contract, the reimbursement is recognised as a
separate asset but only when the reimbursement is
virtually certain. The expense relating to any provision
is presented in the Consolidated Statement of Profit
or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income net of any
reimbursement.

If the effect of the time value of money is material,
provisions are determined by discounting the
expected future cash flows at a pre-tax rate that
reflects current market assessments of the time value
of money and, where appropriate, the risks specific to
the liability.

Where discounting is used, the increase in the
provision due to the passage of time is recognised as
a finance cost.
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1.

(v)]

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Cont'd)

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONT’D)

r)

Interest Bearing Liabilities

All loans and borrowings are initially recognised
at fair value net of issue costs associated with the
borrowing.

After initial recognition, interest bearing liabilities
are subsequently measured at amortised cost using
the effective interest rate method. Amortised cost
is calculated considering any issue costs, and any
discount or premium on settlement.

Gains and losses are recognised in the Consolidated
Statements of Profit or Loss when the liabilities are
derecognised, as well as through the amortisation
process.

Employee Benefits

Wages, salaries and other short-term benefits

The liability for wages, salaries and other short-term
benefits is recognised at the present value of expected
future payments. Expenses for non-accumulating sick
leave are recognised when the leave is taken and are
measured at the rates paid or payable.

Long service leave

The liability for long service leave is recognised in
the provision for employee benefits and measured as
the present value of expected future payments to be
made in respect of services provided by employees
up to the reporting date. Consideration is given to
expected future wage and salary levels, experience of
employee departures and periods of service. Expected
future payments are discounted using market yields at
the reporting date on high quality corporate bonds or
national government bonds as appropriate with terms
to maturity and currency that match, as closely as
possible, the estimated future cash outflows.

Superannuation

Contributions made by the Group to employee
superannuation funds, defined contribution plans,
are charged to the Consolidated Statement of Profit or
Loss in the period employees’ services are provided.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Cont'd)

1. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONT’D)

s)

t)

Restoration and Rehabilitation Costs

The Group records the present value of the estimated
cost of legal and constructive obligations to restore
operating locations in the period in which the
obligation is incurred. The nature of restoration
activities includes dismantling and removing
structures, rehabilitating mines, dismantling operating
facilities, closure of plant and waste sites and
restoration, reclamation and revegetation of affected
areas.

An obligation arises when the asset is installed
at the production location. When the liability is
initially recorded, the estimated cost is capitalised by
increasing the carrying amount of the related mining
assets. Over time, the liability is increased for the
change in the present value based on the discount
rates that reflect the current market assessments
and the risks specific to the liability. Additional
disturbances or changes in rehabilitation costs
will be recognised as additions or changes to the
corresponding asset and rehabilitation liability when
incurred.

The unwinding of the effect of discounting on
the provision is recorded as a finance cost in the
Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss. The carrying
amount capitalised is depreciated over the life of the
related asset.

Earnings Per Share

Basic Earnings Per Share (“EPS”) is calculated as net
profit attributable to members of the parent divided
by the weighted average number of ordinary shares,
adjusted for any bonus element.

Diluted EPS is calculated as net profit attributable to
members of the parent, adjusted for:

e Costs of servicing equity (other than dividends);

e The after-tax effect of dividends and interest
associated with dilutive potential ordinary shares
that have been recognised as expenses; and

e Other non-discretionary changes in revenues
or expenses during the period that would result
from the dilution of potential ordinary shares.

The result is then divided by the weighted average
number of ordinary shares and dilutive potential
ordinary shares adjusted for any bonus element.
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1.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Cont'd)

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONT’D)

u)

V)

Segment Reporting

An operating segment is a component of the Group
that engages in business activities from which it may
earn revenues and incur expenses (including revenues
and expenses relating to transactions with other
components of the same entity). Operating segments
results are regularly reviewed by the Company’s
chief operating decision makers and are used to
make decisions about the allocation of resources
and to assess performance using discrete financial
information. This includes start-up operations which
are yet to earn revenues. Management will also
consider other factors in determining operating
segments such as the existence of a line manager and
the level of segment information presented to the
Board of Directors.

Operating segments have been identified based on the
information provided to the chief operating decision
makers, being the executive management team.

The Company aggregates two or more operating
segments when they have similar economic
characteristics, and the segments are similar in each
of the following respects:

e Geographical location;

e National regulatory environment;

e Nature of the products and services; and
e Nature of the production processes.

Operating segments that do not meet the quantitative
criteria as prescribed by IFRS 8 Operating Segments
are reported separately. An operating segment that
does not meet the quantitative criteria is still reported
separately where information about the segment
would be useful to users of the financial statements.

Information about other business activities and
operating segments that are below the quantitative
criteria are combined and disclosed in a separate
category for “all other segments”.

Contributed Equity
Issued and paid up capital is recognised at the fair
value of the consideration received by the Company.

Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue
of new shares or options are shown in equity as a
deduction, net of tax, from the proceeds.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Cont'd) A BB R P e (48) 163

1. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 1. TEE3HHEME(E)
POLICIES (CONT’D)

w) Fair Value w) AREE

The Group measures financial instruments, such as
derivatives, at fair value at each reporting date. Fair
values of financial instruments measured at amortised
cost are disclosed in note 23.

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell
an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly
transaction between market participants at the
measurement date. The fair value measurement is
based on the presumption that the transaction to sell
the asset or transfer the liability takes place either:

e In the principal market for the asset or liability;
or

e In the absence of a principal market, in the most
advantageous market for the asset or liability.

The principal or the most advantageous market must
be accessible to by the Group.

The fair value of an asset or a liability is measured
using the assumptions that market participants would
use when pricing the asset or liability, if market
participants act in their economic best interest.

The Group uses valuation techniques that are
appropriate in the circumstances and for which
sufficient data are available to measure fair value,
maximising the use of relevant observable inputs and
minimising the use of unobservable inputs.

All assets and liabilities for which fair value is
measured or disclosed in the financial statements are
categorised within the fair value hierarchy, described
as follows, based on the lowest level input that is
significant to the fair value measurement as a whole:

e Level 1 — Quoted (unadjusted) market prices in
active markets for identical assets or liabilities

e Level 2 — Valuation techniques for which the
lowest level input that is significant to the fair
value measurement is directly or indirectly
observable

e Level 3 — Valuation techniques for which the
lowest level input that is significant to the fair
value measurement is unobservable

For assets and liabilities that are recognised in the
financial statements at fair value on a recurring
basis, the Group determines whether transfers have
occurred between levels in the hierarchy by re-
assessing categorisation (based on the lowest level
input that is significant to the fair value measurement
as a whole) at the end of each reporting period.
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1.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Cont'd)

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONT’D)

X)

Significant Accounting Judgements

In the process of applying the Group’s accounting
policies, management has made the following
Judgements, apart from those involving estimations,
which have the most significant effect on the amounts
recognised in the financial statements:

Concentrate sales

With respect to concentrate sales, a receivable is
recognised when the concentrate is delivered to the
customer’s facility as this is the point in time that the
risks and rewards of ownership are transferred and the
Group’s performance obligations have been met in
accordance with the sales agreements. Adjustments
are made for variations in assay and weight between
the time of dispatch of the concentrate and time of
final settlement. The Group estimates the amount of
consideration receivable using the expected value
approach based on internal assays. Management
consider that it is highly probable that a significant
reversal in the amount of cumulative revenue
recognised will not occur due to a variation in assay
and weight.

Share issue costs

Listing costs totalling AU$3.60 million were incurred
during the current year (2017: AU$4.12 million), with
AU$2.29 million (2017: AU$1.60 million) relating
to the issue of shares and subsequently capitalised
to contributed equity, and the remaining AU$1.30
million (2017: AU$2.52 million) expensed to the
Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss.

The incurred costs assessed by management as being
directly attributable to the proposed issue of new
shares were transferred to contributed equity on the
date when the shares are issued. Where costs have
been jointly incurred for the listing of existing shares
and the issue of new shares, the costs have been
allocated based on the proportion of the projected
number of new shares issued to the number of total
shares. Costs that are related to the Hong Kong listing
have been expensed as incurred.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Cont'd) A BB R P e (48) 165

1. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 1. TEE3HHEME(E)
POLICIES (CONT’D)

y) Significant Accounting Estimates and Assumptions y TESHEFRBR

The carrying amounts of certain assets and liabilities
are often determined based on estimates and
assumptions of future events. The key estimates and
assumptions that have a significant risk of causing a
material adjustment to the carrying amounts of certain
assets and liabilities within the next reporting period
are:

Determination of mineral resources and ore reserves
The determination of reserves impacts the
accounting for asset carrying values, depreciation
and amortisation rates, deferred stripping costs and
provisions for decommissioning and restoration. The
ore reserves, mineral resources or mineralisation are
reported in accordance with the Aus.IMM “Australian
Code for reporting of Identified Mineral Resources
and Ore Reserves” (“the Code”).

The information has been prepared by or under
supervision of competent persons as identified by the
Code. There are numerous uncertainties inherent in
estimating mineral resources and ore reserves and
assumptions that are valid at the time of estimation
may change significantly when new information
becomes available. Changes in the forecast prices
of commodities, exchange rates, production costs or
recovery rates may change the economic status of
reserves and may, ultimately, result in the reserves
being restated.

Mine rehabilitation provision

The Group assesses its mine rehabilitation provision
half-yearly in accordance with the accounting policy
stated in note 1(s). Significant judgement is required
in determining the provision for mine rehabilitation
as there are many transactions and other factors that
will affect the ultimate liability payable to rehabilitate
the mine site. Factors that will affect this liability
include future development, changes in technology,
commodity price changes and changes in interest
rates. When these factors change or become known
in the future, such differences will impact the mine
rehabilitation provision in the period in which they
change or become known, which in turn would
impact future financial results.
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1.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Cont'd)

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONT’D)

y)

Significant Accounting Estimates and Assumptions
(Cont’d)

Impairment of non-financial assets

In accordance with accounting policy note 1(n)
the Consolidated Entity, in determining whether
the recoverable amount of its cash-generating units
is the higher of fair value less costs of disposal or
value-in-use against which asset impairment is to be
considered, undertakes future cash flow calculations
which are based on a number of critical estimates
and assumptions including, for its mine properties,
forward estimates of:

e mine life, including quantities of mineral reserves
and resources for which there is a high degree
of confidence of economic extraction with given
technology;

e production levels and demand;
*  metal price;

e inflation;

e cash costs of production;

e discount rates applicable to the cash-generating
unit; and

e future legal changes and or environmental
permits.

Impairment is recognised when the carrying amount
of the cash-generating unit exceeds its recoverable
amount. The recoverable amount for each cash-
generating unit has been determined using the fair
value less cost of disposal approach, classified as
level 3 on the fair value hierarchy. Any variation in
the assumptions used to determine fair value less cost
of disposal would result in a change to the assessed
recoverable value. If the variation in assumption had
a negative impact on recoverable value, it could
indicate a requirement for impairment of non-current
assets.

Refer to note 7 for further discussion of the current
year impairment assessment.

DRAGON MINING LIMITED

HE

%

BOA R

/AN

D2 S

W

1.

y)

Yk 5 3k Mk (468

TESHBRBEE)

ETEEET RER(E)

TF <2l B ol (]

MRYEE RO R (n) - 7R 8 E H B
S A B A AT i ] < R A 8 AL
B 9 B 5 Bl A 3 fo B L O %5 1
BREBE) T RERmER - SRS HHE
EETARBA SRR > ARHE
JIFEA Z TR A e S AREEST > B
BRSG3E T & G455 DL T & JH I 2 )
fliwt

o BRINEA > IR/ ERL FF
E {53 JEE A6 7% B DR ELA5 B8 A ) f
BRERNEE

o EEKFETEK
o BIBEM

o AR

o EEMBERA

o BMMNBl e AR AT
K

o RAGEMEH K& SRS AT

B < A A6 9% i i (LR A L T
(o] <5 AR R BB o A5 B4 AR
7 B4 AT i [e] < A L R 4 SR (BB
B RAE (DR A REEE RS =
) BEE o TR E N R EER T E
JICAR BB S ) A ] 58 Bl 5t B A )
AT (B R A A o R R S
Shrmr i (o (B (6 AE A TR R > ISR
I U B L S R o

AR FE SR 02—
2 B -

Annual Report 2018
SE N E R



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Cont'd) A BB R P e (48) 167

1. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 1. TEE3HHEME(E)
POLICIES (CONT’D)

y) Significant Accounting Estimates and Assumptions y TESHEFRERE)
(Cont’d)
Income taxes it

The Group is subject to income taxes in Australia,
Sweden and Finland. The Group’s accounting policy
for taxation stated in note 1(e) requires management’s
judgement as to the types of arrangements considered
to be a tax on income in contrast to an operating
cost. Judgement is also required in assessing whether
deferred tax assets and certain deferred tax liabilities
are recognised on the Consolidated Statement of
Financial Position.

Deferred tax assets, including those arising from un-
recouped tax losses, capital losses and temporary
differences, are recognised only where it is considered
more likely than not that they will be recovered,
which is dependent on the generation of sufficient
future taxable profits. Deferred tax liabilities arising
from temporary differences in investments, caused
principally by retained earnings held in foreign tax
jurisdictions, are recognised unless the repatriation
of retained earnings can be controlled and are not
expected to occur in the foreseeable future.

Assumptions about the generation of future taxable
profits and repatriation of retained earnings depend on
management’s estimates of future cash flows. These
depend on estimates of future production and sales
volumes, operating costs, restoration costs, capital
expenditure, dividends and other capital management
transactions. Judgements are also required about the
application of income tax legislation.

These judgements and assumptions are subject to
risk and uncertainty; hence there is a possibility that
changes in circumstances will alter expectations,
which may impact the amount of deferred tax
assets and deferred tax liabilities recognised in the
Consolidated Statement of Financial Position and the
amount of other tax losses and temporary differences
not yet recognised. In such circumstances, some or all
the carrying amounts of recognised deferred tax assets
and liabilities may require adjustment, resulting in
a corresponding credit or charge to the statement of
comprehensive income.
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1.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Cont'd)

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONT’D)

7)

Accounting Standards and Interpretations Issued but
Not Yet Effective

The following accounting standards and
interpretations have been issued or amended but
are not yet effective. These standards have not been
adopted by the Group for the period ended 31
December 2018 and are outlined below:

IFRS 16 Leases (effective from 1 January 2019)

IFRS 16, issued in January 2016, replaces IAS 17
Leases, IFRIC 4 Determining whether an Arrangement
contains a Lease, SIC 15 Operating Leases Incentives
and SIC 27 Evaluating the Substance of Transactions
Involving the Legal Form of a Lease. The standard sets
out the principles for the recognition, measurement,
presentation and disclosure of leases and requires
lessees to recognise assets and liabilities for most
leases. The standard includes two elective recognition
exemptions for lessees — leases of low-value assets
and short-term leases. At the commencement date
of a lease, a lessee will recognise a liability to make
lease payments (i.e. the lease liability) and an asset
representing the right to use the underlying asset
during the lease term (i.e. the right-of-use asset). The
right-of-use asset is subsequently measured at cost
less accumulated depreciation and any impairment
losses unless the right-of-use asset meets the definition
of investment property in IAS 40, or relates to a
class of property, plant and equipment to which the
revaluation model is applied. The lease liability is
subsequently increased to reflect the interest on the
lease liability and reduced for the lease payments.
Lessees will be required to separately recognise
the interest expense on the lease liability and the
depreciation expense on the right-of-use asset. Lessees
will also be required to remeasure the lease liability
upon the occurrence of certain events, such as change
in the lease term and change in future lease payments
resulting from a change in an index or rate used to
determine those payments. Lessees will generally
recognise the amount of the remeasurement of the
lease liability as an adjustment to the right-of-use
asset. Lessor accounting under IFRS 16 is substantially
unchanged from the accounting under IAS 17. Lessors
will continue to classify all leases using the same
classification principle as in IAS 17 and distinguish
between operating leases and finance leases. IFRS 16
requires lessees and lessors to make more extensive
disclosures than under IAS 17. Lessees can choose to
apply the standard using either a full retrospective or
a modified retrospective approach.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Cont'd) A BB R P e (48) 169

1. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 1. TEE3HHEME(E)
POLICIES (CONT’D)

z) Accounting Standards and Interpretations Issued but 7)) CERMEMREMMNSSHELRZE

Not Yet Effective (Cont’d)

Transition to AASB 16

The Group plans to adopt the modified retrospective
approach on transition, where the lease liability
is measured at the present value of future lease
payments on the initial date of application, being 1
January 2019.

The lease asset is measured as if AASB 16 had been
applied from the commencement of the lease with
any difference between the lease asset and liability
recognised as an adjustment to opening retained
earnings. Under this transition method, prior period
comparative financial statements are not required to
be restated and the cumulative impact of applying the
standard is recognised in opening retained earnings
on the initial date of application, being 1 January
2019. The Group has completed changes to the
contracting process and the system implementation to
ensure ongoing compliance with AASB 16.

The Group has completed an impact assessment of
AASB 16 and adopted the short-term leases practical
expedient which enables leases that are less than 12
months from the date of transition to be expensed.
On transition the existing leases were less than 12
months and as a result no right-of-use asset or liability
will be recognised. It is expected that the expensed
will be consistent with that disclosed in the note 22(c)
AU$67,000.
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1.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Cont'd)

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONT’D)

7)

Accounting Standards and Interpretations Issued but
Not Yet Effective (Cont’d)

IFRIC 23 Uncertainty over Income Tax Treatments
(effective from 1 January 2019)

This Interpretation clarifies the application of the
recognition and measurement criteria in IAS 12
Income Taxes when there is uncertainty over income
tax treatments. The Interpretation specifically
addresses the following:

e whether an entity considers uncertain tax
treatments separately;

e the assumptions an entity makes about the
examination of tax treatments by taxation
authorities;

e how an entity determines taxable profit, tax
bases, unused tax losses, unused tax credits and
tax rates; and

e how an entity considers changes in facts and
circumstances.

Interpretation 23 is a clarification treatment of
uncertain tax positions. The Group is not expecting a
material impact on the adoption of the interpretation.
The Group has considered the impact on its
Consolidated Financial Statements and assessed that
the effect of the new standard will be minimal.

Annual Improvements 2015-2017 (effective 1 January
2019)

The amendments clarify certain requirements in:
IFRS 3 Business Combinations and IFRS 11 Joint
Arrangements — previously held interest in a joint
operation; IAS 12 Income Taxes — income tax
consequences of payments on financial instruments
classified as equity; IAS 23 Borrowing Costs —
borrowing costs eligible for capitalisation.

The Group has considered the impact on its
Consolidated Financial Statements and assessed that
the effect of the new standard will be minimal.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Cont'd) A BB R P e (48) 171

1. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 1. TEE3HHEME(E)
POLICIES (CONT’D)

z) Accounting Standards and Interpretations Issued but 7)) CERMEMREMMNSSHELRZE
Not Yet Effective (Cont’d) (&)
Conceptual Framework for Financial Reporting BB IR S HESE ([ 2020F1 A 1H
(effective 1 January 2020) BEAZL)

The revised Conceptual Framework for Financial
Reporting (the Conceptual Framework) is not a
standard, and none of the concepts override those
in any standard or any requirements in a standard.
The purpose of the Conceptual Framework is to assist
the Board in developing standards, to help preparers
develop consistent accounting policies if there is
no applicable standard in place and to assist all
parties to understand and interpret the standards. The
Group has considered the impact on its Consolidated
Financial Statements and assessed that the effect of
the new framework will be minimal.

Amendments to IFRS 10 and IAS 28 — Sale or
Contribution of Assets between an Investor and its
Associate or Joint Venture (effective 1 January 2022)
The amendments clarify that a full gain or loss is
recognised when a transfer to an associate or joint
venture involves a business as defined in IFRS 3
Business Combinations. Any gain or loss resulting
from the sale or contribution of assets that does not
constitute a business, however, is recognised only to
the extent of unrelated investors’ interests in associate
or joint venture. The Group has considered the impact
on its Consolidated Financial Statements and assessed
that the effect of the new standard will be minimal.

Amendments to IAS 19 — Employee benefits on plan
amendment, curtailment or settlement (effective 1
January 2019)

These amendments require an entity to use updated
assumptions to determine current service cost and net
interest for the remainder of the period after a plan
amendment, curtailment or settlement; and recognise
in profit or loss as part of past service cost, or a gain
or loss on settlement, any reduction in a surplus, even
if that surplus was not previously recognised because
of the impact of the asset ceiling. The Group has
considered the impact on its Consolidated Financial
Statements and assessed that the effect of the new
standard will be minimal.
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1.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Cont'd)

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONT’D)

7)

aa)

Accounting Standards and Interpretations Issued but
Not Yet Effective (Cont’d)

IFRS 17 — Insurance contracts (effective 1 January
2021)

This standard replaces IFRS 4, which currently permits
a wide variety of practices in accounting for insurance
contracts. IFRS 17 will fundamentally change the
accounting by all entities that issue insurance
contracts and investment contracts with discretionary
participation features. This standard is not applicable
to the Company as it is not an insurance entity.

There are no other standards that are not yet effective
and that would be expected to have a material impact
on the entity in the current or future reporting periods
and on foreseeable future transactions.

Changes in Accounting Policies on Adoption of New
and Amended Accounting Standards

The Group has adopted all new and amended
Accounting Standards and Interpretations issued by
the International Accounting Standards Board that are
relevant to the Group and effective as at 1 January
2018. Except for IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts
with Customers (“IFRS 15”) and IFRS 9 Financial
Instruments (“IFRS 9”), the adoptions of these new and
amended Accounting Standards and Interpretations
did not impact the accounting policies of the Group.

IFRS 15

The Group has adopted IFRS 15 as issued in May
2014 with the date of initial application being 1
January 2018. In accordance with the transitional
provisions in IFRS 15 the standard has been applied
using the full retrospective approach. In this regard,
the Group has applied a practical expedient and did
not restate any contracts that were completed at the
beginning of the earliest period presented.

IFRS 15 supersedes IAS 18 Revenue, IAS 11
Construction Contracts and related Interpretations and
it applies to all revenue arising from contracts with
customers, unless those contracts are in the scope
of other standards. The new standard establishes
a five-step model to account for revenue arising
from contracts with customers. Under IFRS 15,
revenue is recognised at an amount that reflects the
consideration to which an entity expects to be entitled
in exchange for transferring goods or services to a
customer.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Cont'd) A BB R P e (48) 173

1. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 1.
POLICIES (CONT’D)

TESHBEBEE)

aa) Changes in Accounting Policies on Adoption of New

and Amended Accounting Standards (Cont'd)

IFRS 15 (Cont’d)

The accounting policy for the Group’s main types
of revenue are presented in note 1(d) which has
been updated to reflect the application of IFRS 15.
Additional disclosures relating to revenue from
customers is set out in note 20.

All customer contracts in force at 1 January 2017 have
been reviewed and assessed and it was determined
that the adoption of IFRS 15 had no significant impact
on the recognition and measurement of revenue.

IFRS 9

The Group has adopted IFRS 9 as issued in July 2014
with the date of initial application being 1 January
2018. In accordance with the transitional provisions
in [FRS 9, comparative figures have not been restated.
Accordingly, consistent accounting policies have
not been applied throughout the Relevant Periods.
IFRS 9 replaces parts of IAS 39 Financial Instruments:
Recognition and Measurement (“IAS 39”) and brings
together all three aspects of the accounting for
financial instruments: classification and measurement;
impairment; and hedge accounting. The accounting
policy presented in note 1(h) has been updated to
reflect the application of IFRS 9 for the period from 1
January 2018.

Measurement and classification

Under IFRS 9, debt financial instruments are
subsequently measured at fair value through profit
or loss, amortised cost, or fair value through other
comprehensive income. The classification is based on
two criteria: the Group’s business model for managing
the assets; and whether the instruments’ contractual
cash flows represent ‘solely payments of principal
and interest’ on the principal amount outstanding
(the ‘SPPI criterion’). The SPPI test is applied to the
entire financial asset, even if it contains an embedded
derivative. Consequently, a derivative embedded in a
debt instrument is not accounted for separately.

At the date of initial application, existing financial
assets and liabilities of the Group have been assessed
in terms of the requirements of IFRS 9. The assessment
was conducted on instruments that had not been
derecognised as at 1 January 2018. In this regard, the
Group has determined that the adoption of IFRS 9 has
impacted the classification of financial instruments at
1 January 2018 as follows:
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Cont'd) AR BB R AR P e (48)

1. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 1. EESHBREE(HE)
POLICIES (CONT’D)
aa) Changes in Accounting Policies on Adoption of New aa) ERAHET RIET S ERNETH

and Amended Accounting Standards (Cont'd)

Measurement and classification (Cont’d)

Class of financial instrument
presented in the statement of
financial position
REBHRR R L 5K
ERMIAER

Original measurement

category under IAS 39

(prior to 31 December 2017)

B EETERISE395E T Y

Rzt &85 (2017F128318A)

REE(A)
Al R ()

New measurement

category under IFRS 9

(from 1 January 2018)

BIRR B R RS E RIS 95E T Y
2R (B2018F18108)

Cash and cash equivalents

He kB eFEY

Trade receivables
— concentrate sales

B 5% ME WSRO — Ky 5

Trade receivables — other

& 5 BRSO — oAt

Other receivables

Hoph RS R

Bonds and deposits
i vk

Intercompany loans

ESLIANPNSITEiNC 8

Trade and other payables
B 5 B HAb e 50H

Interest bearing liabilities
FE AR

Loans and receivables
Bk S RN IR

Host instruments
— loans and receivables
Embedded derivative
- at fair value through profit
and loss
FETHE
— B % B IH
ARATE TR
— A REEFABS

Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables
B N R IR

Loans and receivables

SRR IR

Loans and receivables
Bk B RN IR

Financial liability at amortised cost

IS A SRR R AR

Financial liability at amortised cost

RS AR SR A AR

The reclassification of financial instruments did
not have a significant measurement impact on the
Consolidated Financial Statements.

DRAGON MINING LIMITED
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Financial assets at amortised cost

BRSNS A BRI G

Hybrid instruments
— Financial asset at fair value
through profit or loss

BETH
— A REEF ARG EREE

Financial assets at amortised cost

BRI S B

Financial assets at amortised cost

FEHRSH A AR S B

Financial assets at amortised cost

EHRSH A A BRI S

Financial assets at amortised cost

FEHRSH A A BRI e

Financial liability at amortised cost

IS A S AR S AR

Financial liability at amortised cost

RS AR SR A AR

SR TR SRS BRI
AT T O

Annual Report 2018
SE N E R



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Cont'd) A BB R P e (48) 175

1. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 1. TEE3HHEME(E)
POLICIES (CONT’D)

aa) Changes in Accounting Policies on Adoption of New

and Amended Accounting Standards (Cont'd)

Impairment of financial assets

In relation to the financial assets carried at amortised
cost, IFRS 9 requires an expected credit loss model
to be applied as opposed to an incurred credit
loss model under IAS 39. The expected credit loss
model requires the Group to account for expected
credit losses and changes in those expected credit
losses at each reporting date to reflect changes in
credit risk since initial recognition of the financial
asset. IFRS 9 requires the Group to measure the loss
allowance at an amount equal to lifetime expected
credit loss (“ECL”) if the credit risk on the instrument
has increased significantly since initial recognition.
Where the credit risk on the financial instrument has
not increased significantly since initial recognition,
the Group is required to measure the loss allowance
for that financial instrument at an amount equal to the
ECL within the next 12 months.

The Group’s existing financial assets carried at
amortised cost were reviewed and assessed for
impairment at 1 January 2018 using reasonable and
supportable information. With respect to bonds and
cash balances these items were assessed to have a low
credit risk as they are held by reputable institutions
with high credit ratings. The ECL on other receivables
is not considered to be material.

As a result of the adoption of IFRS 9, the Parent has
reassessed intercompany balances with its subsidiaries
at 1 January 2018. The directors have concluded that
it would require undue cost and effort to determine
the credit risk of each loan on their respective dates
of initial recognition. These loans are assessed to
have a credit risk other than low. Accordingly, the
Group recognises lifetime ECL for these loans until
they are derecognised. No additional cumulative loss
allowance has been recognised by the parent at 1
January 2018.

Hedging
The Group does not apply hedge accounting.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Cont'd)

2. OTHER REVENUE, INCOME AND EXPENSES

a)

b)

c)

d)

e)

Cost of sales
Cost of production net of
inventory movements'

Depreciation of mine properties,

plant and equipment

'Cost of production net of
inventory movements

Mining

Processing

Other production activities

Cost of production net of inventory

movements

Other revenue
Finance revenue and interest
Rent and sundry income

Other income
Other

Other expenses

Depreciation of non-mine site
assets

Disposal of exploration assets

Evaluation assets written off

Finance costs
Interest
Other

DRAGON MINING LIMITED
oA R A R A A

a)

b)

(Y]

d)

e)

o B s R Mk (A

2. HtWas - WARMAX

2018 2017
20185 20174F
AU$’000 AU$'000
FET TWo
HERAX
A EE AR (GRSt )
37,666 32,829
WG - WE Mgy
3,488 2,903
41,154 35,732
1 BE A (FI15 7 B 558 )
Er ) 24,017 21,408
B 12,279 10,293
HoAthAE 15 H) 1,370 1,128
HEE A (AR B 5 )
37,666 32,829
Hibs
Rl ts K FIE 209 52
FH 4 B A TH A 7 122
216 174
Haug A
HAth 35 92
35 92
Hipx
FEWE L35 4 s s P
72 65
R - 205
B FEAS & 326 -
398 270
g 90N
), 174 1
HAthy 17 13
191 14
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Cont'd) A BB R P e (48) 177

2. OTHER REVENUE, INCOME AND EXPENSES 2. H#hlk3t - WARBIX (&)

(CONT’D)
2018 2017
20184 20174F
AU$’000 AU$’000
T T#IT
f)  Total employee benefits including f) {EERFBE(CIEESHH)
Directors’ remuneration
Wages and salaries T& K4 7,771 7,721
Defined contribution FE MR BB 3L
superannuation expense 1,245 1,382
Other employee benefits H At & 47 A 669 676
9,685 9,779
g Hong Kong listing costs g BBEWHA
Listing costs incurred FEAE Y b T A 3,595 4,123
Share issue costs JBe Ay 84T LA (2,293) (1,598)
Listing costs expensed 2 AL R BT A 1,302 2,525
Listing costs totalling AU$3.60 million were incurred A RE NG RHE A BT RARS.607 #I)
during the current year (2017: AU$4.12 million), with JC(20174F 412 BMT) » HA2.297
AU$2.29 million (2017: AU$1.60 million) relating to the BT (20174F © 1.60 H & I0) BLEEAT
issue of shares and subsequently capitalised to contributed AR - BEfs B AL 2 B > IR
equity, and the remaining AU$1.30 million (2017: 1.30H &It (20174F - 2.52 H B T)
AU$2.52 million) expensed to the Consolidated Statement REEA IR R EY - 2GR FE2 MM
of Profit or Loss. Refer to note 1(x) for more information. 1(x) °

DRAGON MINING LIMITED Annual Report 2018
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Cont'd)

3.

INCOME TAX

(@

(b)

Income Tax Expense

The major components of
income tax expense are:

Current income tax

Current income tax benefit

Adjustments in respect of current

income tax of previous year
Deferred income tax
Income tax benefit arising from

previously unrecognised tax loss

Relating to origination and

reversal of temporary differences

Income tax expense reported
in the statement of
comprehensive income

Amounts charged or credited

directly to equity

Deferred income tax related to
items charged/(credited)
directly to equity

DRAGON MINING LIMITED
B A R 2 A

HE

%

(@

(b)

3. Fis®t

FRiSBipAZ
FITASBLBH SR =2 4

BlIE P 15 8¢

R AR A 2

AU A4 BE B BT AR B4
Bk

AP 1#

PRI 308 A R ik e o T s 4L 2 1)
PG BiA 4

A TR R 2 8 14 7 A 4 [

I 28 TR WAL i 3% 52 S ) BT 75
(EF3

HEHBRARGARENESHE

HEBEAIG A (FIA ) #Ea g
TE H A B9 LEAE P30

o B s R Mk (A

2018 2017
20185 20174
AU$’000 AU$'000
FET TWo
2018 2017
20185 20174E
AU$’000 AU$’000
TH®T T T
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3. INCOME TAX (CONT’D) 3. Fri5%i(4@E)

(0 REEWEREZHAMBIER
BORE RSB B R ENBIRFAH
HEHR

BLIE B 3 B R BT 53 50 i & & s A b A
4 H 8 A TS BB 2 2 AR A AR

() Numerical reconciliation between aggregate
tax expense recognised in the statement of
comprehensive income and tax expense calculated
per the statutory income tax rate
A reconciliation between tax expense and the product
of accounting profit before income tax multiplied by

the Group’s applicable income tax rate is as follows: T ¢
2018 2017
20184 20174
AU$’000 AU$’000
FERT T#T
Accounting loss before income tax IEE TN IRV 2 ! 9,531) (583)
At the Group's statutory income tax  F& A48 B~ I ) 125 BT 1
rate of 30% in Australia Bi#30% (2017 4E : 30%)
(2017: 30%) (2,859) (175)
Adjustments in respect of AR A4 BE B BT A3 8L
current income tax of previous year — fE % - -
Effect of different rates of tax on 2 N E NGk TR 2
overseas income 623 (317)
Other Hopth (3,353) (2,593)
Previously unrecognised tax losses B, TR A R TSR BLIH
utilised/recognised 548 - _
Tax losses and other temporary R HRERR Y AR IR P 2 B AN
differences not recognised as AR 4R
benefit not probable 5,589 3,085

IS B SR - -

Aggregate income tax expense

Annual Report 2018
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Cont'd)

3.

INCOME TAX (CONT’D)

(d) Deferred tax assets and liabilities

Consolidated deferred income tax

at reporting date relates
to the following:
Deferred tax assets
(excluding tax losses)
Leave entitlements
Rehabilitation provision
Share issue and listing costs
Mine properties, property,
plant and equipment
Exploration costs
Accruals
Temporary differences not
recognised
Set off deferred tax liabilities
pursuant to set off provisions

Deferred income tax assets

Deferred tax liabilities

Accelerated deduction

Mine properties, property,
plant and equipment

Set off deferred tax liabilities
pursuant to set off provisions

Deferred income tax liabilities

DRAGON MINING LIMITED

HE

%

B oA R 2 A

3. FEH(E)

d) EZEHEEERERE

FHR A BB F 54 T B
B e 2 M HE AL -

BB (PR 1R
B4

IRABRAER

AR

Jetoy 84T 2 b A

B LA SR B 5 )

JRET 22 1)

R TR A R 2230

AR S e AR S ST B IH
=N

AL T3 B &

PEAEFITE B
S ek
TR L RS SE YY) [ R

AR S AR S AT B IR
|

LTS BLE

o B s R Mk (A

2018 2017
20185 20174
AU$’000 AU$'000
FET TWo
46 61
393 995
2,125 =
3,572 9,816
928 1,031
42 -
(7,101) (11,898)
(5) (5)
(5) (5)
5 5
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3. INCOME TAX (CONT’D) 3. Fri5%i(4@E)

(e) FHIEEE

(e) Tax Losses

Future benefits of tax losses total approximately
AU$15.5 million (2017: AU$11.0 million). The
Consolidated Entity has available capital losses at a
tax rate of 30% amounting to AU$6.1 million (2017:
AU$3.7 million).

The benefits of the tax losses will only be obtained by
the companies in the Consolidated Entity if:

e They continue to comply with the provisions
of the Income Tax Legislation relating to the
deduction of losses of prior periods;

e They earn sufficient assessable income to enable
the benefits of the deductions to be realised; and

e There are no changes in Income Tax Legislation
adversely affecting the Company’s ability to
realise the benefits.

Tax consolidation

Effective July 1 2003, for the purpose of income
taxation, Dragon Mining Limited and its 100%
Australian owned subsidiaries formed a Tax
Consolidation Group (“Tax Group”). Members of
the Tax Group have entered into a tax sharing and
funding arrangement whereby each entity in the Tax
Group has agreed to pay a tax equivalent amount
to or from the head entity, based on the current
tax liability or current tax asset of the entity. Such
amounts are reflected in amounts receivable from
or payable to other entities in the Tax Group. For
the year ended 31 December 2018, there are no tax
consolidation adjustments (2017: nil). The nature of
the tax funding arrangement for the Tax Group is such
that no tax consolidation adjustments (contributions
by or distributions to equity participants) would be
expected to arise. The head entity of the Tax Group
is Dragon Mining Limited. In addition, the agreement
provides for the allocation of income tax liabilities
between the entities should the head entity default
on its tax payment obligations. At balance date, the
possibility of default is remote.

DRAGON MINING LIMITED
B AR 2 A

BRI AR A AL A B15.5H
BT (20174F - 11.0 0 B T) o
AEA A H30% B R EH LAY B &
AEE6.1 A BT (20174 : 3.7H
BRT) o

quE¥W%“7@TuT%ﬁTﬁ
]S B IR R A 2

o BEUET PR BRI A B0
B IR RUE

o MM MESRBIA > LIEB
WAIA A 5 K

o FRIRBLELIIN B A U
BEBL R 35 T B 1 7 A AR D
) -

mEsH
H20034E7 A1 HEE - stT58 HAY
M5 > BEEEARA R &H100%E
AT B o6 s E AL R — 1 4 & R
SEE (TRIBLEE ) - FHBLE RS
IS FE BB R o S E e B
UL > FIELAE A B R AR A
) RP IR T B A s RV BI S 2 - )
FAEEBE AR A A E IR (E
B K o 5% 5F 4 B I W AE JE i o £F
FIECEE E A E B KIE T o #HE
2018412 31 H IL4FE > S 31T
LA TIBIHE (20174F © ) o FFBL
LEMBICE & TP - TH
s R BAEERIBLRE (BB E
%iﬁ%%%ﬁﬁ o FHBL4E E 1 &
EHESGEERARAFR - i
% AE T EEERABAT RS
GO N & B MW TSR A A
AEC o KB HE > BAR T REMER
o
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Cont'd) EE

4. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 4.

Cash at bank and on hand (i) SRAT X FHHBL 4 (i)
Short-term deposits IR

(i) Cash at bank and on hand includes AU$8.2 million available for use
only on the development of the Faboliden Gold Project.

The Consolidated Entity’s exposure to interest rate risk is
disclosed in note 23(e). Short-term deposits represent the
bank guarantee held on deposit with National Australia
Bank for the lease of the corporate premises. These
deposits are rolled over every three months in accordance
with the lease terms.

a) Reconciliation of net loss after tax to net cash flows
from operations

B 5 3 3% Bt ke (48)
HERBRESEEY
2018 2017
20185 20174F
AU$’000 AU$'000
FET T
10,905 6,553
- 56
10,905 6,609

(i) SRAT LT OB B AR AT A Féboliden < B IH
H BHEEA98.277 BT

B BB T B ) ) 2R B B 23 (e) H
& o M ?aﬁ'illﬂﬁﬂ/\jf%%ﬁ'ﬁhﬁ]f
WA National Australia BankfJSR1THE
o SR B =W A R E—
w o

a) BRBRFEEESEELENFERSN
EHR

2018 2017
20184 20174
AU$’000 AU$'000
FET FHoT
Net loss after tax KRR i 1E (9,531) (583)
Adjustments for: FLLA T JE B AF i
Depreciation and amortisation P8 S A 3,886 3,173
Net foreign exchange gains AN £ 157 (55) (1,519)
Loss on exploration assets RhER & Y s 4R - 205
Changes in operating assets and B E R A
liabilities:
— Decrease in receivables — FESCEIE (966) 1,204
— (Increase)/decrease in other assets */E\iﬁﬁgﬁ (BEfm) b (271) 516
— (Increase)/decrease in inventories — & ) (604) (2,048)
— (Decrease) in trade creditors and —ﬁﬁﬁé’ﬁyﬁﬁ N R
accruals (W) (592) (982)
— (Decrease)/increase in provisions — A () He (341) (20)
Net operating cash flows REE BB i = A (8,474) (54)

DRAGON MINING LIMITED
el

"W A R & A
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4. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS (CONT’D) 4. BHEeRBELEEY(E)
b) Reconciliation of liabilities from financing activities b) EEIBEGSHE
2018 2017
20185 20174
AU$’000 AU$’000
TR THIT
Opening balance - 1 January WMusEek—1ATH - -
Cash flow: PR
Proceeds of borrowings K T KA 9,000 -
Repayment of borrowings (EELIEN (5,000) -
Non-cash changes: JE Bl ) -
Foreign exchange adjustments G 3 249 -
Balance at period end WK & B 4,249 —
5. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 5. BEREMEBEWRRE
2018 2017
20185 20174
AU$’000 AU$'000
FET T#IT
Trade receivables B 5 REWGRIE - 1,556
Trade receivables — fair value through B 5y R — DL AU (ERHE
profit or loss HH N A I 4 749 -
Trade receivables — amortised cost (i) 54 5 MEMSCR T — S 1A (i) 2,094 -
Other receivables HoAth B K I 1,147 1,025
3,990 2,581
(i) The trade receivables relate to gold sold on market (i) BLA T E B AR B R R 5 ek

where the cash was received on the following
business day. On this basis the probability of default
was considered to be insignificant.

ARIH - MBS T — 8% 3E H s
PRI > ER TR B AR -

The Consolidated Entity’s exposure to credit risk is
disclosed in note 23(d).

A5 H B BE 0O 5 B JEL B B 5
23(d)PEEE -

DRAGON MINING LIMITED
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5. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (CONT’D) 5. EFREMEWRREE)

Ageing Analysis

An aged analysis of the trade debtors as at the end of the
reporting period, based on invoice date, is as follows:

Within 1 month
1 to 2 months
2 to 3 months
Over 3 months

Trade debtors

An aged analysis of the trade debtors as at the end of the
reporting period, based on due date, is as follows:

Within 1 month
1 to 2 months
2 to 3 months
Over 3 months

Trade debtors

6. INVENTORIES

Ore and concentrate stockpiles — at cost
Gold in circuit valued — at NRV
Raw materials and stores — at cost

DRAGON MINING LIMITED
oA R A R A A

BRER D AT

RIREIAMIR » Fedd 52 H R e

Zy R IR AT R
2018 2017
20185 20174
AU$’000 AU$'000
TH®T FoC
—{HH A 2,843 -
— 21 A - 1,556
W% =i A - =
A =1 H - _
W Z) iRk 2,843 1,556

A AR > 1B H SRR 5

IR BRI AT A R
2018 2017
20185 20174F
AU$’000 AU$'000
FH®T FoC
—WAN 2,843 _
— Z W1 A - 1,556
W% =18 A _ _
i =1 H - _
JEWE 5 iRk 2,843 1,556

6. FE

2018 2017
20185 20174E
AU$’000 AU$'000
FET TFoT
WA BORS BRJEAT — Fe AR 4,509 4,337
it R A A — i ] SR B VR E 4,499 3,889
JEORE e K fr e — e Bii AR 1,049 884
10,057 9,110
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Cont'd)

DRAGON MINING LIMITED
£ #

B A R 2~ A

7. PROPERTY PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 7. BEEE
2018 2017
20185 20174
AU$000 AU$'000
FET THT
Land Tih
Gross carrying amount — at cost o2 AR T ) AR T AR 1,390 1,334
Buildings EREEY
Gross carrying amount — at cost 2 AR R T A (R 2,623 2,422
Less accumulated depreciation and R L E
impairment (1,981) (1,809)
Net carrying amount R T % 642 613
Property, plant and equipment M - BEREE
Gross carrying amount — at cost P A B B T A 33,527 31,609
Less accumulated depreciation and R FHTEE R
impairment (31,458) (29,152)
Net carrying amount R T (B 2,069 2,457
Mine properties ELBEYREEY
Gross carrying amount — at cost 2 A (A B T A 113,429 99,978
Less accumulated amortisation and IR FHEREY SR (E
impairment (90,974) (85,038)
Net carrying amount T TH] VR (L 22,455 14,940
Total property, plant and equipment BEEEHAEE
Gross carrying amount — at cost 2 A (P R T A 150,969 135,343
Less accumulated amortisation and TR A I
impairment (124,413) (115,999)
Net carrying amount SR T (L 26,556 19,344

Annual Report 2018
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7. PROPERTY PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (CONT’D) 7. BEEE(E)
Reconciliations HiR
Reconciliations of the carrying amounts of property, plant AW SR ZE ~ R Bt B T (E
and equipment at the beginning and end of the reporting IR
period:
2018 2017
20185 20174
AU$’000 AU$'000
T T#T
Land Tib
Carrying amount at beginning of period #1474 % 1 (i 1,334 1,290
Additions NE - 18
Disposals HE - (25)
Net foreign exchange movement 41 5 ) 5 56 51
Carrying amount at end of period WK AR T (L 1,390 1,334
Buildings EEREY
Carrying amount at beginning of period 4] {1 i i (i 613 566
Additions WA 98 106
Depreciation e (102) (87)
Net foreign exchange movement 41 e A ) 5 33 28
Carrying amount at end of period AR A BRI (L 642 613
Property, plant and equipment M - BERRE
Carrying amount at beginning of period 147 ) iz i (£ 2,457 2,462
Additions N 719 1,010
Depreciation e (1,227) (1,136)
Net foreign exchange movement 471 TR 528 B8 15 4 120 121
Carrying amount at end of period A B SR T L 2,069 2,457
Mine properties BLBEYREEY
Carrying amount at beginning of period #1477 ) i i {E 14,940 12,542
Additions NE 3,596 1,661
Reclassification from evaluation costs 2 B Al A B BB 4 5,385 2,004
Depreciation e (2,231) (1,745)
Net foreign exchange movement 471 T 522 B8 15 4 765 478
Carrying amount at end of period AR B S T 22,455 14,940

DRAGON MINING LIMITED

HE

P

B oA R 2 A
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Cont'd)

PROPERTY PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (CONT’D)

Reconciliations (Cont’d)

The management of the Group recognises two cash-
generating units (“CGU”), the Vammala Production
Centre (“Vammala”) and the Svartliden Processing
Plant (“Svartliden”), which are tested for impairment in
accordance with the accounting policy in the note 1(n).
No impairment was recognised during the 2017 and 2018
financial years.

For the year ended 31 December 2018, the Group
performed impairment testing utilising a life-of-mine
discounted cash flow model for each cash generating
unit. The key assumptions utilised in the impairment
modelling included a gold price of US$1,270/ounce
(2017: US$1,290/ounce), a USD:SEK exchange rate of 8.6
(2017: 7.8), a USD:EUR exchange rate of 0.85 (2017: 0.85)
and a pre-tax real discount rate ranging between 7%-9%
(2017: 10%-14%). The impairment modelling includes
cash flows for Faboliden which the Group has obtained
a Test Mining Permit and is in the process of applying for
a Full Mining Permit. The timing of the receipt of the Full
Mining Permit may result in differences in the impairment
result determined. Sensitivity analyses performed indicated
that a decrease of the gold price to US$1,250/ounce or
an increase in the pre-tax real discount rate by 100 basis
points did not result in impairment.

MINERAL EVALUATION AND DEVELOPMENT
COSTS

Mineral exploration and evaluation costs

Balance at beginning of financial period
Additions

Disposal

Exploration write-off

Reclassification to mine properties

Net foreign exchange movement

WE
&

G ME 5 )y 1 RH

Total mineral exploration and evaluation
expenditure

The recoverability of the carrying amount of exploration
and evaluation is dependent on the successful
development and commercial exploitation, or alternatively
through the sale of the respective area of interest.

DRAGON MINING LIMITED
EH B AR & A

Sp AU PRI A 1D 565 B

=g

N

7.

Ei e B RYE S

o B 255 i A Bk w (4

EEEE (&)

¥R (&)

A 4 [ B RS T R W I B 4 AR B
(THE&EA RN > BlVammalad &
Ful (TVammalal) K Svartliden 3 5 i
([Svartliden]) » ¥JHZHEEET ()& FHECR
EAT AR © 2017 %2018 b E4E B
RAERBIRAE -

HE2018412 A31 H ILEE » RE@EH
FH BB 1L 4F 0 1 B B 4 A O 4% B 4
AR BT AT W B L o W E AR A AP i
AR R R OESE1,270% 70 % A
(20174 : 1,290 70,/ # @) ~ I 5
Hh T B FE 55 8.6 (201 74F & 7.8) ~ £
SR T Y FE 22 5 0.85 (20174F © 0.85) M
T Y R B B 2R A 7% £ 9% (201 74F -
10% £ 14%) W EEE A FEFiboliden
BB TE H (AS4E 3 2 st H S ol 5708 5 )
B o P AEFE RS A T BRI AR T ) M 4
TR o BUTS-A T PR I T A Y IR TR ] BE
LB 2 B IEL A AT AEZE T o FTafEd T Y
TR T BN > EAES FIEEE1,250
S T0,/ i ) BB FE R G B SR i1 0017
FE BN A AE BN

AR B S Al Bl S AR

BEF G RBEAZEHAAKN
WEE B R R AT A
2018 2017
20184 20174F
AU$’000 AU$'000
FET T
5,562 2,231
5,298 5,293
(326) (205)
(5,385) (2,004)
184 247
5,333 5,562

BEIR AV ) B TG L RE 77 WA [ BB R RE 7R
SR B R SE B AR o B0 S A
[ SR [E]
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188 Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Cont'd)

o B s R Mk (A

9. OTHER ASSETS 9. HthEE
2018 2017
20184 20174F
AU$’000 AU$’000
FET T
Current g
Prepayments A OH 429 1,728
Non-current FEFRE
Environmental and other bonds at FEHE S AT B Y BRR
amortised cost! J H A& S5 5,480 5415

L The environmental bonds relate to cash that has been deposited
with Swedish and Finnish government authorities. The bonds are
held in an interest-bearing account and can only be drawn down
when rehabilitation programs have been completed and authorised
by the relevant government authority.

The Consolidated Entity’s exposure to credit risk is
disclosed in note 23(d).

10. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

Trade payables and accruals

The Consolidated Entity’s exposure to credit risk is
disclosed in note 23(d).

Ageing Analysis

An aged analysis of the trade creditors and accruals as at
the end of the reporting period, based on invoice date, is as
follows:

Within 1 month —f AN

1 to 2 months — Z W A
2 to 3 months W £ =1 H
Over 3 months i =1H A

Trade payables and accruals

DRAGON MINING LIMITED
oA R A R A A

B 53 EAS SR I e

5 WEAS SR TH I BT 2T

g TROR A 5 B EL S8 A7 TOT Hits 38 S BT BUR AR 11
BB o EHIISTHRIRF Fig - EER
T H 5% BT 7 154 168 SBORT 6 A 152 ARE IR A T 42
B o

o 1O A B £ g R RE 23 (o) 38

,E'é—‘»
10. EZREMEMNFIE
2018 2017
20185 20174E
AU$’000 AU$'000
FET LT
HE-3: 6,409 5,840
A A BB T B A0 45 B0 LB A B RE 23 (d) B
I?,}g o

R D AT
TR RR > 3T B R R AR
Sy Rk e Mt 22 P A RIS AT A TS

2018 2017
20185 20174F
AU$’000 AU$000
FET FoC
5,418 5,840
974 -

10 -

7 _

6,409 5,840
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11. PROVISIONS 11. 818
2018 2017
20185 20174
AU$’000 AU$'000
TR THT
Current TED
Employee entitlements 1B B4R 1,762 2,138
Other FHopts 130 77
1,892 2,215
Non-current E
Employee entitlements 1B B4R 86 34
Rehabilitation 1628 12,531 10,800
12,617 10,834
Rehabilitation movement 1RAR A
Balance at 1 January 2018 201841 A1 H 1458 10,800
Additions INE 1,050
Rehabilitation borrowing cost unwound 7 [ #6238 3 B AR -
Net foreign exchange movement 41 M A5 ) 54 681
Balance at 31 December 2018 2018412 H31 H A 45k 12,531
The provisions for rehabilitation are recorded in relation TR A Tk & TR B . 2 T 506 > 452
to the gold mining operations for the rehabilitation of the B B R AR 2 B . % R B 2 (R e T
disturbed mining area to a state acceptable to various IR EE o A TERTREMIS UL B
Swedish and Finnish authorities. While rehabilitation is 171828 > (HTEEI RIS E 2 A S 2 8
performed progressively where possible, final rehabilitation PR I O EA T IR AR 2R o R > BEHA B
of the disturbed mining area is not expected until the Vol e AR 0 L B 5 R RE S AT TR
cessation of production. Accordingly, the provisions are A4 B e T L 2= A ] 45 AT o
expected to be settled primarily at the end of the mine life,
although some amounts will be settled during the mine
life.
Rehabilitation provisions are estimated based on survey TE IR TIAR TS T e - IR A4 R
data, external contracted rates and the timing of the current T T B ) Y R R AT R o B T
mining schedule. Provisions are discounted based on rates FE A g A& Ry R (B A T 3 R Y
that reflect current market assessments of the time value of BFREZEAEEEN R ETIER o
money and the risks specific to that liability. The discount 201 84EZ5 T A I B B & 0% (201 74F -
rate utilised for Finland in 2018 was 0% (2017: 0%) and in 0%) > Bt £50% (20174 © 0%) ° A B
Sweden was 0% (2017: 0%). Additions during the relevant [ 2 8 £ 1) 185 o 6, 458 317 S A IR 5
periods to the rehabilitation provision include obligations A e 1) HE B SR R R I 35755 -
that do not have an associated mining asset recognised at
the end of the reporting date.
DRAGON MINING LIMITED Annual Report 2018
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Cont'd)

12.

o B s R Mk (A

INTEREST BEARING LIABILITIES 12. stEEE
2018 2017
20184 20174F
AU$’000 AU$'000
FRT TFoT
Non-current FEFRE
Loan principal A e 4,000 -
Revaluation of HKD denominated s T A EHR B E AL
drawdowns 249 _
4,249 =
As at 31 December 2018: Interest Rate Maturity HK$’000 AU$000
#2018 412 H31 H : Fil= Z#A TEr TER
AP Finance Limited
AP Finance Limited
Australian Dollar denominated drawdowns 4% 30 June 2020 1,000
T (1R 2020568301
Hong Kong Dollar denominated drawdowns 4% 30 June 2020 17,961 3,249
B ILFI (R 2020F6A30R

In February 2017, the Group entered a Hong Kong Dollar
denominated unsecured Loan Facility with AP Finance
Limited (“Loan Facility”) for the Australian Dollars (“AUD”)
equivalent of AU$6.0 million. In August 2018, the Loan
Facility was amended to increase the facility limit to
AU$12.0 million. The Loan Facility was amended in
December 2018 to extend the repayment date to 30 June
2020; all other terms and conditions remain unchanged.
The Company has agreed with AP Finance Limited that
the September 2018 drawdown of AU$1.0 million will
be repayable in Australian Dollars. The rest of the Loan
Facility remains repayable in Hong Kong Dollars. Refer to
note 25 for drawdowns after period end.

DRAGON MINING LIMITED

HE

"W A R & A

201742 H > AR 4 H B AP Finance
Limited®] 3250 (T E ]) S5 H6.0 H B
TG s 0 B (F 4 K 0 6 R A (B
%) o jR20184F8 H » B E CAEEET
HGREPREE FIRE12.0 8 BT - 22018
F12H > BHRBIECEBRT SRR E D
L FE20204F6 H30H > 1 fif A HAb Rk
AR A o AR\ E)E BLAP Finance
Limitedl# & » 201849 H 2L 1.0H &
WG IR o B T Bl B A DA s
JUfEiE o HBME R ERBUE DN > 5525
5125 o
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Cont'd) A BB R P e (48) 191

13. CONTRIBUTED EQUITY 13. EHRE

2018 2017 2018 2017

20185 20174 20185 20174

Share capital N Number of Shares AU$'000 AU$'000

RGO EE THET Tt

Ordinary shares fully paid LA L 138,840,613 88,840,613 133,991 119,992
Movements in issued capital E#ITHAEE)

AU$000 No. Shares

T s ‘|

At 1 January 2017 201741 A 1H 119,992 88,840,613

Balance at 31 December 2017 R2017412 A31H &

and 1 January 2018 20184E1 A1 H B4R 119,992 88,840,613
Issue of fully paid ordinary BRI SR

shares ! 17,890 50,000,000
Share issue expenses 2 R B AT PR 522 (3,891) -

Balance at 31 December 2018 2018412 A31HM
i

g In conjunction with listing on the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong on 5 November 2018, the Company issued
50,000,000 fully paid ordinary shares at HK$2.03 (AUD equivalent
$0.35) per share pursuant to its Public Offer document announced
on the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong on 18 October 2018. The
Public Offer shares were available and allotted to members of the
public in Hong Kong as well as to professional, institutional and
other investors in Hong Kong. The shares issued represent 36.01%
of the total shares in issue immediately following completion of the
Public Offer.

2 Refer to note 2(g) for detailed breakdown of listing costs capitalised
to contributed equity and/or expensed to the Consolidated Statement
of Profit or Loss.

During the year there were no disclosable transactions
relating to the purchases, sales or redemption of own
shares by the Company, or any of its subsidiaries, of its
listed securities.

No dividend for the years ended 31 December 2018 and
2017 was declared or paid by the Company. In addition,
the Board resolved not to propose any final dividend for
the year ended 31 December 2018.

DRAGON MINING LIMITED
EH B AR & A

133,991 138,840,613

‘ A20184F11 H 5 H #E & s B 58 B A B Tl Ikf
AN FIARE A 20184E10 A 18 H 78 F s i 52
ST IS A BRS04 > 4% %203 W o6 (IR
JLAFH0.351 7t) 47 150,000,000 8% E 442
WA o A PR B AT LU A R DL IR s
BB - B S LA 3 R I L i 3 T Rl
ANt o BB TR A A B R A BB 8 AR I
48 81936.01% °

2 A BEAE TR )/ S L E A AR

R LT RAS I AR RS > T2 EE2(g)

AR > BRBEEAT A B A 28 7] sCHAT Ao B
J& o~ FIREE A R R A BB ek T
i I T RS 5 -

A ] M 4 50 E 201 84 K 20174812 A
31HIEFEEIRECI AT o 1A > &
RBEAEZMEE20184E12H31 H 1k
EREE IR A S -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Cont'd)

g

N

14. RESERVES 14.
Foreign currency translation reserve HEE 5. {5t
Convertible note premium reserve ] L S U o

Equity reserve purchase of
non-controlling interest

i A

Foreign currency translation reserve summary

This reserve is used to record exchange differences arising
from the translation of the financial statements of foreign
subsidiaries.

Convertible note premium reserve summary

This reserve is used to record the equity component of any
convertible notes on issue. This is a historical reserve and
no convertible notes are currently on issue.

Equity reserve — purchase of non-controlling interest

This reserve is used to record differences between the
consideration paid for acquiring the remaining non-
controlling interest and the carrying value of net assets
attributed to the non-controlling interest. This is a historical
reserve and all subsidiaries are now wholly owned.

DRAGON MINING LIMITED

HE

P

BOA R

/AN

o B 55 i A B w (4

ENEL eIy Sk

&
2018 2017
20185 20174F
AU$’000 AU$'000
FET T
(3,160) (4,780)
2,068 2,068
1,069 1,069
(23) (1,643)

BE R A E
% VL ff D P v ke DR 40 096 1 g 2 ) B
B A T 2 ) MR S 25 R o

EBERESERERE

% V{5 4 TS Bk B A A A ) A A ] i 46
SEPRIORESE R O) o RZIEHE A S AR
BT SIf SR AT 7R SN P B S o

BE#HE - BEFERER

% V{7 i s A ) f5 O 42 PR M 2 e
S AR Bl i 7 I 4 P HEE 2 P 5% 7 Y
SRR TR (B 22 ) B9 22 3 o % LAl A0 2 JEE S
fii > PrA SN B Ry B -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Cont'd)

15. KEY MANAGEMENT PERSONNEL DISCLOSURES

a)

b)

Details of Key Management Personnel

Directors’ and Executive’s remuneration for the year,
disclosed pursuant to the Listing Rules, section 383(1)
(a), (b), (c) and (f) of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance and Part 2 of the Companies (Disclosure
of Information about Benefits of Directors) Regulation,

e A B R R M (48) 193

15. FEEEBEAESRKE

a) FEEBABHE
U Sl AR S
383(1)(a) ~ (b) ~ (c) () A K 22 ]
(40 5% 26 = 1] 4 OB B SR 25000 9
2 T 5 M AT BON B AR 9 A
T

is as follows:

Directors

EF

Mr Arthur G Dew
R e

Mr Brett R Smith

Brett R Smitht4:

Mr Carlisle C Procter
Carlisle C Proctersz/E
Mr Wong Tai Chun Mark
FER#BEE

Mr Pak Wai Keung Martin
RS

Mr Poon Yan Wai
Ak

Executives

TRAE

Mr Neale M Edwards
Neale M Edwards5&4E
Mr Daniel K Broughton
Daniel K Broughtont4E

Compensation of Key Management Personnel b)
Key Management Personnel

Short-term
Long-term
Post-employment

Total

Non-Executive Chairman (appointed 7 February 2014)
TR (122014482 H 7 HHEZRAT)
Executive Director (appointed 7 February 2014)

ATEF (R201442 77 HEZAT)
Independent Non-Executive Director (appointed 19 May 2015)

BSr AT (7220154E5 7 19 H HEZRAT)

Alternate Director to Mr Arthur G Dew (appointed 19 May 2015)
K ERIR B E AT I (R 201545 A 19 A #ZAT)

Independent Non-Executive Director (appointed 5 November 2018)

L IEFATE SR R20184F11 H 5 H #EHRAF)

Independent Non-Executive Director (appointed 5 November 2018)

S IEFATE S (R20184F11 H 5 H #ERF)

Chief Geologist (appointed 19 August 1996)
HHE R (R19964F8 1 19 H#EZRAT)

Chief Financial Officer (appointed 8 September 2014)
H RGBS E (R2014429 H 8 H EZRAT)

TEEEASFHH
FEEMA S
Year ended 31 December
BZE12A318LEE

2018 2017
20184 20174E
AU$ AU$
BT T
vkl 1,080,161 920,393
=3 116,375 60,816
BRIRE 101,737 87,437
et 1,298,273 1,068,646

The remuneration of Key Management Personnel
(“KMP”) is determined by the Remuneration
Committee having a regard to the position,
experience, qualification and performance of the
individuals and market trends.

DRAGON MINING LIMITED
oA WA R A A

EEEMAR ([ EZEMHAR D) R
HIE N2 B AR B - 5880 - &
JEE e R ER DL K T 5 B S E
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194 Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Cont'd)

15. KEY MANAGEMENT PERSONNEL DISCLOSURES
(CONT’D)

b)

Compensation of Key Management Personnel (Cont’d)
Five Highest Paid Employees

The five highest paid employees during the year
included one Director and four specified employees,
for both 2018 and 2017 years.

Details of the remuneration for the year of the
remaining four highest paid employees who is neither

o B s R Mk (A

15. T EEBAEHKE(E)

by FEEBEASHME)
TR B RS
R20184E K 20174F > 4E N FA B 15
Fr iR B s — & L4 48 R

E o

W I A s ) 2N JE = SR AT LN B Y
BT A7 i = 38 P M 2 199 4 70 7 M

a Director nor Chief Executive of the Company are as THWF
follows:
Year ended 31 December
BZE12A31ALFE
2018 2017
20184 20174F
AU$ AU$
BT LT
Salaries, allowances and benefits Brd - B LEYA
in kind 924,852 1,010,307
Performance related bonuses EEMBTEAL 50,995 =
Pension scheme contributions RIREFEIE K 165,516 227,786
Total et 1,141,363 1,238,093

The number of Non-Director and Non-Chief Executive
highest paid employees whose remuneration fell
within the following bands, presented in Hong Kong
Dollars, is as follows:

Nil to HK$1,000,000 Z%1,000,000%: TG

HK$1,000,001-HK$1,500,000 1,000,001 #7554 1,500,000% 7T
HK$1,500,001-HK$2,000,000  1,500,001#% 7T 22,000,000 7C
HK$2,000,001-HK$2,500,000 2,000,001 #7C%2,500,000% 75
HK$2,500,001-HK$3,000,000 2,500,001 #7C%3,000,000% 70

FrH A A LA SR (DL T 2 51) 1 IR
K I s AT BN B B e B i B\ B2 51
LU

HK$3,000,001-HK$3,500,000  3,000,001# 6% 3,500,000% 7 - -

Total F

DRAGON MINING LIMITED
B A R 2 A

HE

P

2018 2017
20185 20174F
1 2

2 —

1 2

4 4
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Cont'd)

16. DIRECTORS’ AND EXECUTIVE OFFICERS’

REMUNERATION

In Australian dollars

Directors

Mr Arthur G Dew!
(Non-Executive Chairman)

Mr Brett R Smith?
(Executive Director)

Mr Carlisle C Procter
(Independent Non-Executive Director)

Mr Poon Yan Wai?
(Independent Non-Executive Director)

Mr Pak Wai Keung Martin®
(Independent Non-Executive Director)

Mr Mark Wong
(Alternate Director)

Total all specified Directors
Specified Executives

Mr Neale M Edwards
(Chief Geologist)

Mr Daniel K Broughton
(Chief Financial Officer)

Total all named Executives

Total all specified Directors and Executives

DRAGON MINING LIMITED

2

A

"W A R A& A

U

gz

KA
(GFofTER)

Brett R Smith : -2
(#ES)

Carlisle C Procter ¢
(BuFAfES)

e
(B TEE)

HERED
(B TEE)

BN i
(BE#)

it fe £5
EEARAR

Neale M Edwards /4
(HRNEZR)

Daniel K BroughtonsEAE
(BRHBE)

FRBIR AR S

FERREWRIHAR
i

2018
2017

2018
2017

2018
2017

2018
2017

2018
2017

2018
2017

2018
2017

2018
2017

2018
2017

2018
2017

2018

2017

o B 5 e Mk (76D

16. EERSMBTASEHMH

Other Long- Post-

Short Term Term Benefits Employment

il A REER Bk
Proportion of
Annual - Long Service Super- Remuneration
Salary Leave leave  annuation Total ~ Performance
& Fees Bonuses Accrued Accrued Benefits  Remuneration Related
JEst R A RERE
Fenes M EER BA  REEEA  EMEE  EMOLH
AUS AUS AUS AUS AU$ AUS %

L i i L B L

90,000 = = = 8,550 98,550 =
90,000 - - - 8,550 98,550 -
300,000 200,000 26,591 19,696 47,500 593,787 34%
300,000 82,393 25,045 - 36,327 443,765 -
37,930 = = = 3,603 41,533 =
30,000 - - - 2,850 32,850 -
4,615 = = = = 4,615 =
4,615 = = = = 4,615 =
437,160 200,000 26,591 19,69 59,653 743,100 7%
420,000 82,393 25,045 - 47,77 575,165 -
208,000 - 18,437 3,958 19,760 250,155 -
208,000 - 18,437 3,987 19,760 250,184 -
210,000 25,000 18,614 29,079 22,325 305,018 8%
210,000 - 13,347 - 19,950 243,297 -
418,000 25,000 37,051 33,037 42,085 555173 8%
418,000 - 31,784 3,987 39,710 493 481 -
855,160 225,000 63,642 52733 101738 1298273 35%
838,000 82,393 56,829 3,987 87,437 1,068,646 -
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196 Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Cont'd) AR BB R AR P e (48)

16. DIRECTORS’ AND EXECUTIVE OFFICERS’ 16. EERESHBHTASTIM(E)
REMUNERATION (CONT’D)

Notes: BiEE -

1) Mr Arthur Dew received certain emoluments in relation to his 1) ZKERVESEAERL A A B0 F B R A A
services for the Allied Group Limited, a substantial shareholder of PR R 2 (AL R A5 T WAL T P 45
the Company.

2)  Mr Brett Smith is also the Chief Executive Officer of the Company 2)  Brett SmithfeETRAAS A A RIATBUAE » £
and his remuneration disclosed above include those for services S48 8 10 7 M 5 1 2 AT B AR R AR LIRS 1
rendered by him as Chief Executive Officer. WACHR ) S5

3)  Messers Poon and Pak we appointed Independent Non-Executive 3) SR RS E R 20184F 11 H5 H BRI A M
Directors effective from 5 November 2018. SLIEHATHE S -

The Executive Director remuneration shown above b ST R AT B T A B F)

is for the provision of services in connection with the A B ) S 15 HE AR IR T Wi ) S o

management of the affairs of the Company and the Group.

The Non-Executive Director and Independent Non- bR R AT E R R S R AT E

Executive Directors’ remuneration shown above are for Pl 22 A o AN ) o S R AR RS BT Wi B A 35

their services as Directors of the Company. P o

There was no arrangement under which a Director waived ot 30 AR A I o i B RO

or agreed to waive any emoluments during the reporting <55 14 22 BE

period.

17. REMUNERATION OF AUDITORS 17. B EMH
The Auditor of Dragon Mining Limited is Ernst & Young. HE B VR A B W) 04 A% T 5 8 K & Rl =
BT o
2018 2017
2018 20174
AU$ AUS$
BT BT
Remuneration of Ernst & Young Lk gt R B T A
(Australia) for: JIR S 1) 5 (L)
— auditing or reviewing accounts —Fnt e B AR B 248,267 521,618
— tax consulting — BB 33,000 163,297
— audit services relating to the — B b A B Y
Hong Kong listing Fe s 260,869 172,682
542,136 857,597
Remuneration of Ernst & Young LK S Tt LA
(other than Australia) for: IR 1) S M (UL DA AP b [
— other services — HAth R 94,934 236,700
94,934 236,700

DRAGON MINING LIMITED Annual Report 2018
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Cont'd)

18. EARNINGS PER SHARE

Basic earnings per share amounts are calculated by
dividing net profit or loss for the period attributable to
ordinary equity holders of the parent by the weighted
average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the
period.

Diluted earnings per share amounts are calculated by
dividing the net profit or loss attributable to ordinary
shareholders of the parent by the weighted average
number of ordinary shares outstanding during the period
(adjusted for the effects of dilutive options and dilutive
convertible notes). There have been no post balance sheet
movements impacting the diluted earnings per share.

The following reflects the income and share data used in
the basic and diluted earnings per share computations:

22 /N
»vji/n\

o 5 3R Mk (48

18. BRAER

B A 1 A < B DL BE 2L ] R A
N S0 PR i 1 s 4 1 AL AU A0 2 3%
7 A S eSS BT A

o P 1 M) < A ) 2 BB R
B Ak 1) 5 4 138 LR DA S A0 2 8% 4 7
I8 ) T HEE - 149 S ol 0 v 80 1 i i
Lo v] AR SR 1) S A AR ) o
BELE 5 A v I ) Y B R AR
%) o

DA S et 3 BB A e i 28 1 i PR
W i B 43 B

2018 2017
20185 20174
Basic earnings per share BRELXZR
Loss used in calculation of basic TR FH A A B A Y
earnings per share (AU$'000) JEs4E (TT) (9,531) (583)
Weighted average number of ordinary PR A IR AR 2 A Y
shares outstanding during the period A B A7 Y
used in the calculation of basic piliLi Sl
earnings per share 96,532,921 88,840,613
Basic loss per share (cents) TG RIEAEGE (4)) (9.90) (0.66)
Diluted earnings per share BEREBEER
Loss used in calculation of basic P w5 R A 2 ] Y
earnings per share (AU$'000) JER (THT) (9,531) (583)
Weighted average number of ordinary FR FH A A B R B
shares outstanding during the period LUINIRR RS il
used in the calculation of basic TIRET-24 8
earnings per share 96,532,921 88,840,613
Weighted average number of ordinary i 5153045 B v 2 1 19
shares outstanding during the period 7k £ #8172 48 i 1Y
used in the calculation of diluted EPS  Jil#-F-1 5 96,532,921 88,840,613
Number of potential ordinary shares AN BB R B R R
that are not dilutive and hence not g PR v 220 R R I A B )
included in calculation of diluted EPS.  {&7E @R # H - H & Wk
These may be dilutive in future A5 Rl m] e B R R
if exercised - -
Diluted loss per share (cents) T v s 18 (43 (9.90) (0.66)

DRAGON MINING LIMITED
oA WA R A A
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198 Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Cont'd)

19. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

a) Subsidiaries
The Consolidated Financial Statements include the
financial statements of Dragon Mining Limited and
the subsidiaries listed in the following table:

Name of Entity Incorporation
EEEE FER AL SL it BE
Dragon Mining Investments Pty Ltd Australia
Dragon Mining Investments Pty Ltd L

Dragon Mining (Sweden) AB Sweden
Dragon Mining (Sweden) AB Fi

Viking Gold & Prospecting AB Sweden
Viking Gold & Prospecting AB Fi

Dragon Mining Oy Finland
Dragon Mining Oy S5

b) Transactions with related parties
Save as disclosed in elsewhere of the Consolidated
Financial Statements, the Company has the following
transactions with related parties that are also
exempted from continuing connected transactions
according to Rule 14A.73(6) and 14A.73(8) of the
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong listing rules.

(i) The Company has effected Directors’ and
Officers’ Liability Insurance.

(i) In addition to his role as the Company’s Chief
Financial Officer, Mr DK Broughton provides
Chief Financial Officer Services and the
Company also provides administrative services
including offering the use of certain space in
the Company office premise located in Perth,
Australia as its registered office to ASX listed gold
explorer, Tanami Gold NL (“Tanami”). Tanami is
a Company of which Messers Dew and Procter,
the Company’s Non-Executive Chairman and
Independent Non-Executive Director, are also
Non-Executive Directors. The provision of
services commenced from 8 September 2014
whereby the Company will charge Tanami
for 48% of Mr DK Broughton’s salary cost.
During the year, the Company charged Tanami
AU$100,000 (2017: AU$99,000) of which
AU$24,750 was outstanding at 31 December
2018 (2017: AU$24,750).

DRAGON MINING LIMITED

HE

P

B oA R 2 A

o B s R Mk (A

19. BEALTRS

a MELQF
Bra B IR B SRR G IR A IR A R &
RTINS F A R
Class Equity Holding
bzl RESHE
2018 2017
2018 20174
% %
Ordinary 100 100
e
Ordinary 100 100
e B
Ordinary 100 100
8
Ordinary 100 100
8
by EEEALHRS

% %5 5 B 5 3 5% L Ath 358 40 e % &% &
A A T HEE LLR IR R ST
s Wi sc T bR ISR 14A.73(6) &
14A.73(8) A T 17 48 R %L 32 &) # 2
HIBAHE 52 5 o

() ARFRICEHEELRFHHABR
HAEARR -

(i) BRTIETAANAERMEEZ
4h > DK Broughton & £ 7 [1]
Il TR Y T s o o2 7 /NI
Tanami Gold NL([ Tanami]) 2
b A B O RRS > TiAS A ]
IR E A TR S > AL dE ER
AN FSE A TR FE 3T 60 3 8 T
VER M PR - Tanamiz
AN T I AT R Ak e BB ST
JERMATE FEProcterdeE IR IEE
HENITEREN —Fod - 4
R B 201449 A 8 H B 1R 4%
i B > AN A M Tanami
it B DK Broughton 5 2k 48%
MR A o R - AN F] ]
TanamilH100,000 ¢ (2017
199 000 7T) » HH17R2018
F12 31 HB R A A A
24,750 5T (20174E : 24,7501
Jo) °
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Cont'd)

19. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (CONT’D)

Entity with significant influence over the Group

As at 31 December 2018, Allied Properties Resources
Limited (“APRL”), a wholly owned subsidiary of Allied
Properties (H.K.) Limited, owns 21,039,855 ordinary shares
of the Company for an interest of 23.68%. The Company
also has an unsecured AU$12 million loan facility with
AP Finance Limited (“Loan Facility”), a subsidiary of Allied
Properties (H.K.) Limited. The key provisions of the Loan
Facility include (i) an interest rate of 4.0% per annum
payable in arrears, and (ii) a loan with the term up to 30

June 2020. Refer to note 12.
20. SEGMENT INFORMATION

Identification of reportable segments

The Group has identified its operating segments based on
the internal reports that are used by the chief operating
decision makers in assessing performance and determining

the allocation of resources.

The Group has identified its operating segments to be
Sweden and Finland, based on geographical location,
different national regulatory environments and different
end products. Dragon Mining (Sweden) AB, the primary
entity operating in Sweden, produces gold bullion from
the Svartliden Production Centre. Dragon Mining Oy in
Finland produces gold concentrate from the Vammala
Production Centre and processes ore from the Orivesi and

Jokisivu Gold Mines.

Discrete financial information about each of these
operating segments is reported to the Board and executive
management team (the chief operating decision makers)

on at least a monthly basis.

Accounting policies and inter-segment transactions

The accounting policies used by the Group in reporting
segments internally are the same as those contained in

note 1 to the Consolidated Financial Statements.

Segment results include management fees and interest
charged on intercompany loans, both of which are
eliminated in the Group result. They also include foreign
exchange movements on intercompany loans denominated
in AUD, and external finance costs that relate directly
to segment operations. This segment results also include
intercompany sales of concentrate which occur at rates

that reflect market value.

Unallocated corporate costs are non-segmental expenses
such as head office expenses and finance costs that do not

relate directly to segment operations.

DRAGON MINING LIMITED
oA WA R A A

22 /N

mZR

19.

20.

o 5 3R Mk (48

BEALRS ()

HAEEEEATYENEE
R20184E12H31H > BiEHE (Fik) A
R w2 S KA Rl Allied Properties
Resources Limited ([ APRL ) #EA A\ 7]
21,039,855 B4 i (R123.68%ME i) o
Z!—VWJT LI A L (7S ) A FR 2 ) A
J& /N FAP Finance leltedTﬁDﬁ&?{m
TOHY SRS K (B )

Rl B 3 G R BLAE () EF 4. O%H’JEﬂ}i
18 5 R (i) EF R 2202046 H30H 4
1 - FEZRMEE12 -

7 EER

BIE: =g ok-[bay

7 T 2 TR TR o ) LA R o T
FNERHRE CAR R BB E R R > 3
B P BRI L

AL FARPE R PEAL E - R [R) B R A B
TR B e ﬂ@%%ﬁjﬁiﬁv\ﬁﬁrﬁ
i K IS e Tfﬁ'ﬁ B R S 1) R
Dragon Mining (Sweden) ABHiSvartliden
A EE L A EE 4 §E o 2% B B9 Dragon
Mining OyHIlB1VammalaZE & Hr0 A 2 4x
KB W AR E OrivesiM)okisivuss ik
HIEA

B SLIESOESIENDE =8 - & k=817
E BRI R ) REHRAT B 4 R AL 203
(1 J8 5L A5 R

B BERDBERXS
Zl—‘%@lfiﬁ’zbbé}jﬁmiﬁi‘ﬂﬁﬁﬁ FTBOK
ARG AR R I RE 1 BT AR

3 R SEAR AL 5 A B 2 % AR B A ] K
AFILS, > W 41 A 4R T S AR o
3 HR AN LA LA R HELF) 5 1 1 22 ]
] B R A SRS By > LA e B 2 B R 2 S
HHBE B SR A5 A © 5200 PSR A JT@E
SR 7R 2 ) ] DA S T 35 (E 0 4 3o
AR TS £

ROEH A BRI FE - AH
e BL 7y T S 755 A IR ) A T % B S T
7 o
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Cont'd)

20. SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONT’D)

Disaggregation of revenue and major customers

External sales in Finland relate to concentrate from the
Vammala Production Centre in Finland. These sales are all
made under an ongoing arrangement to one customer and
the quantity of concentrate sales is agreed by the parties in
advance of delivery.

Inter-segment sales in Finland relate to concentrate on-sold
to the Svartliden Processing Centre for further processing.

External sales in Sweden relate to gold bullion sold on-
market through National Australia Bank.

The Group’s segments reflect the disaggregation of revenue
by geography and product types as described above.

22 /N

MZR

20.

Yk 5 3k Mk (468

7 EER ()

WEFETEEFDE

TESF B A0 81 B B2 B Vammalad: &
DA ENRETEA R - 25 ERE—1E
BT — BB PR > Kk E
BRI ERT B TR T g o

TEZS TR A 4050 ) 1 5 B HS 5 T Svartliden
TN E— 2 TS TR A B -

TE B B 1Y Ah &P 85 & Bl 4% 4 National
Australla BankfETi % L &M &5 H B -

U0 SO o AR A B G 0 I B WA AR %

Segment revenue L6

Gold sales to external customers HiMEFHE RS
Inter-segment sales e e
Elimination of inter-segment revenue  4&&/> 125
Total revenue WA 5

Other revenue HAtl 4
Interest revenue AR
Sundry revenue METE S i
Unallocated interest revenue Z o wilhsYE
Total other revenue HittW 25
Segment interest expense SR AEL A S
Unallocated interest expense 7o i)Y
Total interest expense SR
Depreciation and amortisation I B 5
Loss on disposal of exploration R 1 4R

DRAGON MINING LIMITED
el

"W A R & A

o PR B R AR o
Sweden Finland Total
i Y | “st
2018 2018 2018
20185 20185 201845
AU$/000 AU$/000 AU$/000
FRT TR TR
31,837 6,013 37,850
- 31,819 31,819
- - (31,819)
31,837 37,832 37,850
3 - 3
- 7
- 206
3 7 216
- - 173
- - 173
109 3,451 3,560
- 326 326
109 3,777 3,886
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Cont'd) A BB R P e (48) 201

20. SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONT’D) 20. 7 EEF ()
Disaggregation of revenue and major customers (Cont'd) WERFEREFZE(E)
Sweden Finland Total
R =Y | st
2018 2018 2018
20184 20185 20185
AU$000 AU$000 AU$’000
TR TR TR
Segment result DEEE
Pre-tax segment result IR E (7,319) 653 (6,666)
Income tax expense Fra i b 3 - - -
Post tax segment result BRBifA 4 iR (7,319) 653 (6,666)
Unallocated items: KAFLIEE
Corporate interest revenue YGRS E 206
Corporate costs VNG %N (3,817)
Finance costs SR B A (181)
Elimination of inter-company interest 7348 Hh ka4 M 1A
expense and management fees OIS A S R R
in segment results 927

Loss after tax as per the Consolidated EBERABHEERR
Statement of Profit or Loss BB EEE (9,531)

Segment assets DEBEE 26,723 26,583 53,306
Unallocated items: RABIEA -

Other corporate assets' HoAb A wl & 9,444
Total assets EEAR 62,750

Acquisitions of non-current assets WO IR ) 187 4,244 4,431

[ Other corporate assets predominantly relates to cash and short-term 1 Hofth /N ) & e o B N RN w4 M
deposits held within the Australian Parent of AU$9.3 million. HATE2K9 3 H B T4 B -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Cont'd) RS

20. SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONT’D)

g

20. 7 EHER(E)

Disaggregation of revenue and major customers (Cont’d)

Non-current assets by 7
geographic location

Segment revenue
Gold sales to external customers
Inter-segment

Elimination of inter-segment revenue

Total revenue

Other revenue

Interest revenue

Other revenue

Unallocated interest revenue

Total other revenue

Segment interest expense

Depreciation and amortisation
Disposal of exploration

Segment result
Pre-tax segment result
Income tax expense

Post tax segment result

DRAGON MINING LIMITED
oA R A R A A

o B 55 i A B w (4

WERFTEEFDE(E)
Australia Sweden Finland Total
BN e Y | st
2018 2018 2018 2018
20185 20184 20184 201845
AU$000 AU$'000 AU$000 AU$000
TR TR TR TR
WEEE DK
FRBEE 53 18,898 18,417 37,368
Sweden Finland Total
Tt w2y | Ht
2017 2017 2017
20174F 20174 20174F
AU$'000 AU$/000 AU$000
SRLSH SRLSH FWIC
2 EBWEE
IR P E S 36,007 5,263 41,270
AR g = 35,524 35,524
HEBH 2> Ik 25 = - (35,524)
W4 %E 36,007 40,787 41,270
Hias
allsyE 5 7 12
HoAtb £ = 122 122
43 B AL = = 40
Hihh 2458 5 129 174
ANERA BB 1 - 1
e R 43 2,925 2,968
B R = 205 205
43 3,130 3,173
DEREE
BrBiRT o4 (6,417) 8,098 1,681
TSR B 5 = = =
FRBifR o) 4T (6,417) 8,098 1,681
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20. SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONT’D) 20. DEPE R (HE)

Disaggregation of revenue and major customers (Cont'd) WERFEREFZE(E)
Sweden Finland Total
iy M At
2017 2017 2017
20174 20174 20174
AU$’000 AU$'000 AU$'000
THT TH#T THT
Unallocated items: ROMBHE
Corporate interest revenue YIRS 6 40
Corporate costs REEA (4/475)
Finance costs BB A )
Elimination of inter-company interest 75345 B 4 [ 1Ay
expense and management fees ) TR B 3 B i
in segment results 2,176
Loss after tax as per the Consolidated ZBHRABHERT
Statement of Profit or Loss BRBIEER (583)
Segment assets THEE 21,924 25,568 47,492
Unallocated items: AOMBEHA
Other corporate assets HAths R & 2,857
Total assets BEHRE 50,349
Segment acquisitions of SRS R )
non-current assets 15,073 15,196 30,269
Unallocated items: RoERE
Corporate and other acquisitions O B H AR - - 52
15,073 15,196 30,321

L Other corporate assets predominantly relates to cash held within
the Australian Parent of AU$1.1 million and prepayments AU$1.6

ot 7] B B B B0 R i Bl 1 |
AT KA .6 H BT A B o

million.

Australia Sweden Finland Total
TR T i Nl st
2017 2017 2017 2017
20174 20174 20174 20174
AU$’000 AU$’000 AU$’000 AU$000
T T T#T T#T T#T

Non-current assets by RiENEE DN
geographic location kRBEE 52 15,073 15,196 30,321

DRAGON MINING LIMITED
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Cont'd)

21. CONTINGENT ASSETS
Hanhimaa earn-in agreement (diluting to 30% interest)

The Group has a right to a 2% Net Smelter Return (“NSR”)
on future mineral production from Agnico Eagle Mines
Limited (“Agnico Eagle”) with respect to the Hanhimaa
Gold Project in northern Finland. Agnico Eagle will have
the right to buy back 1 percentage point of the 2% NSR at
any time for €2.0 million cash.

The Hanhimaa Gold Project remains as an early stage
exploration project as at 31 December 2018 and therefore
the company has not recognised any receivables from this
agreement, as the risk of reversal is considered significant.

22. EXPENDITURE COMMITMENTS

a) Exploration commitments
Due to the nature of the Consolidated Entity’s
operations in exploring and evaluating areas of
interest, it is very difficult to accurately forecast the
nature or amount of future expenditure, although
it will be necessary to incur expenditure to retain
present interests in mineral tenements. Expenditure
commitments on mineral tenure for the Consolidated
Entity can be reduced by selective relinquishment

o B s R Mk (A

21. RREE

HanhimaaZ BRI HF =& (HEE30%#E
)

A5 B 25 B AL M Hanhimaa# 42 JH H
Agnico Eagle Mines Limited ([ Agnico
Eagle |) oK A€ W% 4 A= 2 A7 13 46 0 0]
([ TR PRIE R 1) 2% HER] - Agnico Eagle
15 A HE A A B 6] DL 2.0 7 ke B 4
1512 %o 15 73 DR ] 4 181 T 53 o

A2018412H31H > Hanhimaa#i & JE H
)& A F P EhERTE H > B A wRR S
[ JELBg = o PRI AR R AR 1 % A
AT AAT E AR T

22, BARAEE

a) ENERANRE
R 5 45 B B L BB A0 A i A Bl
T REBYEE MR > AL EE
RS DUAR B B IR > (AR
HERETE R A PR s -
A AR 1P 4t R U P R S R B
7 B SORYE - ATD A T A
BR A BH SORME o LAR R4 I (B4
PRI RAFHR DA A4 e (IR B PR 2

of exploration tenure or by the renegotiation SKAK o
of expenditure commitments. The approximate
minimum level of exploration requirements to retain
current tenements in good standing is detailed below.
2018 2017
20185 20174
AU$’000 AU$'000
TR T
Within one year —4EN 47 43
One year or later and no —ERZE LB
later than five years 201 206
248 249
b) Capital commitments by BAEIE
Commitments relating to the acquisition of equipment BRI B O 5T (B R R 5 B B n 34
contracted for but not recognised as liabilities are as BHRGEEDT
follows:
2018 2017
20185 20174
AU$’000 AU$’000
TR T

—HN

Within one year

DRAGON MINING LIMITED
oA R A R A A
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22. EXPENDITURE COMMITMENTS (CONT’D)

c) Operating lease expense commitments

Future operating lease commitments not provided for

in the financial statements are as follows:

Within one year
One year or later and no
later than five years

d) Remuneration commitments

Commitments for the payment of salaries and other
remuneration under long-term employment contracts
in existence at the reporting date but not recognised as

liabilities are as follows:

Within one year

Amounts disclosed as remuneration commitments
include commitments arising from the service
contracts of Directors and Executives referred
to in note 16 Directors and Executive Officers
Remuneration that are not recognised as liabilities
and are not included in the Directors’ or Executives’

remuneration.

DRAGON MINING LIMITED
oA WA R A A

—4EN
—AEHZ R EAER A

—4HN

o B 85 R Mk (48D 205

22. BIZAE(E)

0 REHERXARE
NG 7 A 25 2 7 488 A ) R AR A AL

ERPENT -
2018 2017
20185 20174
AU$’000 AU$’000
T F T
67 71
67 71

d)  FERE

AR e H A7 A 0= S R 5 T
S 37 4 D A 38 P ) 7 3 ({ELR T

RBHEAME W
2018 2017
20185 20174E
AU$’000 AU$’000
FH®T T T
321 300
321 300

Y55 B R IE 1Y SRR AR s 167
Y T ONEE o b Y e
AT N B RFS A 45 L RS (UL E
RSB R e 5 B A LR R A Bl
R AN BT
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Cont'd)

23. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

a)

b)

Financial risk management policies and objectives
The Group’s activities expose it to a variety of
financial risks: market risk (including currency risk
and commodity price risk), credit risk, liquidity
risk, and interest rate risk. The Group’s overall risk
management program focuses on the unpredictability
of financial markets and seeks, where considered
appropriate, to minimise potential adverse effects on
financial performance without limiting the Group’s
potential upside.

The Group uses different methods to measure and
manage different types of risks to which it is exposed.
These include monitoring levels of exposure to foreign
currency and gold price risk and assessments of
market forecasts for foreign exchange and gold prices.
Liquidity risk is measured through the development
of rolling future cash flow forecasts at various gold
prices and foreign exchange rates.

Risk management is carried out by executive
management with guidance from the Audit and Risk
Management Committee under policies approved by
the Board. The Board also provides regular guidance
for overall risk management, including guidance on
specific areas, such as mitigating commodity price,
foreign exchange, interest rate and credit risks, by
using derivative financial instruments.

The Consolidated Entity also has a risk management
program to manage its financial exposures that
includes, but is not limited to, the use of derivative
products, principally forward gold sales and foreign
currency contracts. The Company does not enter
financial instruments, including derivative financial
instruments, for trade or speculative purposes.

Primary responsibility for identification and control of
financial risks rests with the Board. The Board reviews
and agrees policies for managing each of the risks
identified below, including the setting of limits for
trading in economic derivatives, hedging coverage
of foreign currency and gold, credit allowances,
future cash flow forecast projections and financial
instruments if considered necessary.

Instruments recognised at amounts other than fair
value

The carrying amount of financial assets and financial
liabilities recorded in the financial statements at
amortised cost represents their respective net fair
values.

DRAGON MINING LIMITED

HE

P

BOA R

/AN

o B s R Mk (A

23. TMT A

a)

b)

CRMEAREEBRKBE

A JH P S5 fok 74 2 ) 36 2 A B
JEge TG T B (A e A
an EAR R ) ~ fF BEU R - B E &
JaEg B M) R By o A R ) R L g
B B r R < T 35 B AN R TR
P> AR (AER 28 ) £ AR A
A5 ETEEAE 1 R A SRt 3 ) e
B RBLNTBAEA T2

AL B PR R IR] 7 5w A P
T A A SFEL B > B4 B BT T Y
B I B e B AR E KT > ARG
T35 3 S e B < AR A T - %
M AN B R S AR BEE A< e ST R
AEAT Bl i R AR RS & &
JEBg @

YUAT T P AR o M BURTE
A% B JE B i PR ZE B B B 14T B
JEBa B AR o ZE S A A i AT
P < T EL 5 0 2 R B A PR A4
TR > ELIE BB b (B A% - SIBE -
A2 R A5 B e 55 B FO R 1R 2 -

ARG E BN S A — TR B A B A
B TR 4 B > A (RS BRI e
T il (3 2 25 T A o < i 4 b
MEGH)) o A28 w3l 48 7 & 5 sl Btk
PR T AT 57 4 il T (B 36 7T 2E <5
TH) -

T SR I L Sl 4 ) S L B Y
ZRAL - EREMEE TSR
7T AL i 7 B SR A T (B3 e i
REPHIT A TR 5 IRER ~ SMER &
HBPHE - 5 AR - RRBERE
TR L e TH (A %)) -

BZEB(XABEERKRIMNBINIA
5 B RS A BB B AR RO B 10 <
FE e 4 il B 0 R TR L 2% L AR
fH -
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23. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONT’D) 23. €T E(E)

c) Fair values for instruments recognised at fair value 0 RBRAAEBEEBRRNIAENAIAEE

The fair values of the financial instruments as well as
methods used to estimate the fair market value are
summarised in the table below.

SR TE AN SR E BTl
RGBT IEM AR N R o

As at 31 December 2018

R20185F12A31H

Valuation

Valuation technique-

technique- non-market

market observable

observable inputs

inputs (level 3)

Quoted (level 2) HERE -

market price  fEERHE— ks

(level 1)  THiZAHER A
miEHE LIPN 6 BWAYE Total
(E—&) (B=H) (B=8) #at
AU$’000 AU$000 AU$'000 AU$'000
THET THET THERT THRT

Trade receivables at N SEERNA
fair value through R4 5 I

profit or loss IH - 749 - 749

Quoted market price represents the fair value
determined based on quoted prices on active markets
as at the reporting date without any deduction for
transaction costs. The fair value of the listed equity
investments is based on quoted market prices (Level
1).

For financial instruments not quoted in active markets,
the Group uses a valuation technique such as present
value techniques, comparison to similar instruments
for which market observable prices exist and other
relevant models used by market participants. These
valuation techniques use both observable and
unobservable market inputs (Level 2).

The fair values of unlisted debt and equity securities,
as well as other investments that do not have an
active market, are based on valuation techniques
using market data that are not observable. Where the
impact of credit risk on the fair value of a derivative
is significant, and the inputs on credit risk are not
observable, the derivative would be classified as
based on non-observable market inputs (Level 3).

Trade receivables relate to concentrate sales that
are still subject to price adjustments where the final
consideration to be received will be determined
based on prevailing London Metals Exchange (LME)
metal prices at the final settlement date. Sales that are
still subject to price adjustments at balance sheet date
are fair valued by estimating the present value of the
final settlement price using the LME forward metals
prices at balance date. The embedded derivative in
2017 was not material.

There were no transfers between Level 1 and Level 2
during the year.

DRAGON MINING LIMITED
B AR 2 A

S B AR R s S0 T e i 3 e A
e A B 8 FUARAEL CORFNBAL 22 5 A ) o
T SRS A 2 SO AR (B R A T 5 i
R (BB —#R) -

UG S i BT R A R TR S
AL SR AL (E 7% WBUE Tk - A7
7E AT LTI S5 A% A9 A ) TR LU e Tl 55
2B 0 ) HABAR B EY © %S5 A {E 7
%%i)ﬁ;%ﬁ%?&%ﬂ%ﬁ%@ﬁ@ﬁ%ﬁA%@%

I b RS B RAS TG 25 1 A AR BB LA BT

I R T 45 1 AR > T A B
F T 5 R B A 7 R o A &

JELBR ST A T E S S B A S B - {5
B a1 A BURA TS - AITAE T A

#(i%iﬁ:%g\ﬁ%ﬁg 4 717 35 A\ BB AT 0 4
= Rt °

B 5y IR W T LAY ] 8 R AR P A A
AR > RSB e AR AR R A 2
A2 5 T B A5 S B BAT I 4 Jo8 AR A i
R o BN G B AT SRR RS E - Al
(o PR A 1 A 0 JB 52 5 P v ) < Jel AL A
flE H R A LS B R BUE > A R EE
5\(&% ° 20174F MR A AT AE TR A E

RN — SR — A Faﬁﬂﬁﬁ1f{q$§ﬁ§ ®
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Cont'd)

23. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONT’D)

d)

Credit risk

Credit risk represents the loss that would be
recognised if counterparties failed to perform as
contracted. The Group’s maximum exposures to
credit risk at reporting date in relation to each class of
financial asset is the carrying amount of those assets as
indicated in the Consolidated Statement of Financial
Position.

Credit risk is managed on a Group basis. Credit risk
predominantly arises from cash, cash equivalents,
derivative financial instruments, deposits with banks
and financial institutions and receivables.

While the Group has policies in place to ensure that
sales of its products are made to customers with an
appropriate credit history, the Group does have a
concentration of credit risk in relation to its gold
concentrate sales in Finland due to dependence for
a significant volume of its sales revenues on one
buyer. There is generally a six-week delay between
shipment of gold concentrate and payment from a
gold concentrate customer. The Company reduces its
credit risk in relation to gold concentrate receivables
in Finland by insuring 90% of the nominal value of
an assigned or internal invoice with a reputable high
credit quality Nordic financial institution.

However, as invoices are raised at the end of each
month and shipments occur frequently throughout
the month, there is credit exposure to the smelting
company for the value of one month of shipments as
insurance coverage commences when an invoice is
raised. Credit risk further arises in relation to financial
guarantees given to certain parties. Such guarantees
are only provided in exceptional circumstances and
are subject to Board approval.

In relation to managing other potential credit risk
exposures, the Group has in place policies that aim
to ensure that derivative counterparties and cash
transactions are limited to high credit quality financial
institutions and that the amount of credit exposure
to any one financial institution is limited as far as is
considered commercially appropriate.

DRAGON MINING LIMITED

HE

%

BOA R

/AN

o B s R Mk (A

23. €@ T A(E)

d)

FERRE

s ST A fis A 0 F- 07 R BATRT A 3
TE R R A 4R o A4 B A s H
S TR B 1 L% <l 7 A R ) e
w B R B AR e B IR LR B s B
Y BRI (L

R B )y % SR B LR T A 2 « {5
FEfgEREEABE  BEe%E
Y~ i TR - RAT R
Fak DL R EICGRIA @

e A AR 4 ) T 2 R R AL 2 5 B
FEASBEEERHNES > HRA
LA — K EBAT S B U 2 I — 4
K> B AL M FIS R S NG IR &
MGG EEDER - SHEEEEES
KEWRE P Ak W — e A /S
PRI o AR I A0 R A
R BT O AL R 4 T R R A i A
A FREEEE00% A FRAE E AR R > 2K
AR L LS AT 40 0 ik IR WS TR B Y
15 ) JEl g

SR > P S 3% SR AR H B > T
BEANGZSREERY > HRFAR
BEIEP IR TT AR AL - R BT R PR
ox ml AR B B (BERE 25 — 18 H B9
BAEE) - {5 SR E— 2 # A
THET NER BRI - %%
PREETERFFRIE UL T J2 0t - M /HACHE
GHEUE -

2 B A TEAE (5 B m P Ty T > A4
P L o R BR UK > B AERELRAT A T
HAZ 5y ¥ F B B 38 5y HERR =i s B
R SRR > T EL T H ER A AT —
9% b RPN 114 5 0 JR g L 249 52 21 7
% LR SRR -
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23. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONT'D) 23. EWMTA(E)
d) Credit risk (Cont’d) d EERRGE)
The credit quality of financial assets that are neither o 48 39 R A ol (L 1 4 T P M5 R
past due nor impaired can be assessed by reference K] 2 NG BRF (E ) 506 B
to external credit ratings (if available) or to historical BT E A RN E L AF BT
information about counterparty default rates:
2018 2017
20185 20174
AU$’000 AU$’000
FET T
Cash and cash equivalents REeERRESEEY
Counterparties with external credit ratings - 5M5515 EFFRITE T 77
AA- AA- 10,905 6,609
A A - -
Total cash and cash equivalents B4 R B & S5 AR 10,905 6,609
Trade and other receivables B 5 R EAEWRE
Counterparties with external credit ratings - 5F 5515 BFFHRATETFIr
AAA AAA 86 122
AA- AA- 390 248
A+ A+ - -
A- A- - -
Counterparties without external TS S 5 PRI T 77
credit ratings
Counterparties with no defaults in the past #&7E if S 47 (19 ¥ F 7 3,514 2,211
Total trade and other receivables B 5 B FLABE R T AR R 3,990 2,581
For the purposes of determining credit exposures £ 18 72 REWCGK IR {5 BB > O PR 3E
on receivables, receivable amounts that have been ) JRE WS 4 5 2 TR ol B 1 2 4 G ) o L
factored are evaluated against the credit rating of the HATHE B OETREAY -
factoring bank, where the factored amount is insured.
Environmental and other bonds RRRHMWES
Counterparties with external credit ratings 45615 BFFRHTHF 77
AAA AAA 5,480 5,415
Counterparties without external TS} b5 BEAF RT3 F 77
credit ratings
Counterparties with no defaults in the past &% 3 43 49 (% F 7 - >
Total trade and other receivables B T T HoAh B ek I SR 5,480 5,415
DRAGON MINING LIMITED Annual Report 2018
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Cont'd)

23. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONT’D)

e)

Interest Rate Risk
At balance date, the Group had the following
financial assets and liabilities exposed to interest rate

o B s R Mk (A

23. €@ T A(E)

e) FIRERE
TRESHEH > ASEEBEA LAT T A 3R
JRBg LR A A 7 B < L R o )

risk that are not designated as cash flow hedges: g E N B
2018 2017
2018% 2017
Floating Fixed Average  Floating Fixed Average
interest rate  interest rate Total int. rate interest rate  interest rate Total int. rate
FERE  EERE & THEE EEAE EEfE I )
AU$'000 AU$'000 AU$'000 %  AU$'000 AU$'000 AU$'000 %
TR Tan Tan T#n T T
Financial assets SREE
Cash and cash equivalents e BB EN 10,905 - 10,905 0.97 6,609 = 6,609 0.61
Environmental bonds RIRER 5,480 - 5,480 - 5,415 - 5,415 -
16,385 - 16,385 - 12,024 - 12,024 0.61

The Group’s policy is to manage its exposure to
interest rate risk by holding cash in short-term, fixed
and variable rate deposits with reputable high credit
quality financial institutions.

The Group constantly analyses its interest rate
exposure. Consideration is given to potential renewals
of existing positions, alternative financing and/or the
mix of fixed and variable interest rates.

Foreign exchange risk

As the Group sells its bullion and gold concentrate
in USD and the majority of costs are denominated in
Swedish Krona (SEK) and Euro (EUR), an appreciating
EUR and SEK, or a weakening USD exposes the
Group to risks related to movements in the USD:SEK
and USD:EUR exchange rates.

Foreign exchange risk arises from future commercial
transactions and recognised assets and liabilities
denominated in a currency that is not the entity’s
functional currency. The risk can be measured by
performing a sensitivity analysis that quantifies the
impact of different assumed exchange rates on the
Group's forecast cash flows.

DRAGON MINING LIMITED
B A R 2 A

HE

%

ASEE ) B BRI B
TEAF 2 R AP R 5 B E R A
JHBC I 5 M) S A ] 38 ) R A AR A B
T R 1 1) 5L g o

AEEFAR B A A R Ja By > B
B AR RS - BT RV
BRI E B BB o

f) SERR
F A AR 5 1 DA 56 0T B L R M
R > T P8 70 FAS A B it 5 B % Ik
JERHE > B - BT K s g B T
{6 > BETCHZME > 398 (AL [ 1 g
B3 5T 5 T 4L 9 B J% 9 T SR T HE
538 B AR AT P JRL g

SMMEJEU RS B R R SERS 5y > LK
DUEHE D B W LAS M R HE R 2
TR M B o mT DA AR A T B
BE AT AC B AL AN TR 14 M1 % B 3 A 4R
T T S < A ) R A A R AR
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Cont'd)

23. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONT’D)

f)

Foreign exchange risk (Cont’d)

As part of the risk management policy of the Group,
financial instruments (foreign exchange forwards)
may be used from time to time to reduce exposure
to unpredictable fluctuations in the USD:SEK and
USD:EUR exchange rates. Within this context,
programs undertaken are structured with the
objective of minimising the Group’s exposure to these
fluctuations.

The value of any financial instruments at any point in
time will, in times of volatile market conditions, show
substantial variation over the short term. The facilities
provided by the Group’s various counterparties do not
contain margin calls.

The Company and Group’s financial performance
is also affected by movements in AUD:SEK and
AUD:EUR. In accordance with the requirements of
International Financial Reporting Standards, exchange
gains and losses on intercompany loans that do
not form part of the Company’s net investment in
foreign operations are recognised in the Consolidated
Statement of Profit or Loss.

For the year ended 31 December 2018, the
Company did not enter or hold any foreign exchange
derivatives. At balance date, the Group had the
following significant exposure to foreign currencies:

USD exposure Ey N

Entity with Euro functional currency

o B 85 R Mk (48D

23. SRITA(E)

f)

LUK TTIE 2 DI RER

HYEHE

Cash and cash equivalents Bla KBS EEY

Trade receivables B 5 REWGKIH

Entity with AUD functional currency LARTCIE 232 RE B
HIE e

Trade receivables Z 5 FEW K TE

Trade payables E 5 AT 3R

Entity with SEK functional currency LA i . 5 B 1 45 T BE
B e

Cash and cash equivalents Bl KB S5 EY)

Trade receivables B o REWCEK A

Trade payables B 5 AL R

Net USD Exposure T B 3 R

DRAGON MINING LIMITED

[N <

B A R 2~ A

SN LB ()

Ve T 74 B2 0 i oy PHLIER 5 ) — 0 00
A5 B W] BE A R 8 1) < T L (41 BE
EI A o DU 5% T it B 4 e B
Je 57 5 R TG T 2 A w0 35 Bl 1 J,
Bt o FELLARULT > BERTEII B AR
R R b e R A A o T B 1140 2% 5 18
) 14 JmU gk o

A AT <2 il T EL AT AT IR B O (B (E 2 8
P T YL 0 3 S ] e 50 o K i e
ASE A TF TR B R E A BB

IR o

A ) e AR B B ) B 2R B 32 B R
I 5 B i v B R WRLTC S RO A ) 114
B o MRR BB O R BLE
A A I RSP SERS TR IR —
G 4 B2 ] A ) TR S 3R 4
FR G 1R R PR o

HE20184E12 H31 H IE4ERE » AR
A I 48 5T S SR A AT T A1 BE AT AR L
R o A& > AEBBEATHIEK
AN LB -

2018 2017
20184 20174
AU$’000 AU$’000
TFET THIT
20 2,511
1,395 -
- 9,984
(853) -
19 =
1,233 =
(1,210) (6,835)
604 5,660
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Cont'd)

23. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONT’D)

f)

Foreign exchange risk (Cont’d)

EUR exposure
Entity with AUD functional currency

Intercompany loan
Entity with SEK functional currency

Cash and cash equivalents
Trade payables

Net EUR Exposure

AUD exposure
Entity with SEK functional currency

Cash and cash equivalents
Trade receivables

Entity with EUR functional currency

Cash and cash equivalents
Trade receivables

Net AUD Exposure

SEK exposure
Entities with AUD functional currency

Trade payables

Net SEK Exposure

HKD exposure
Entities with AUD functional currency

Trade payables
Interest bearing liabilities

Net HKD Exposure

DRAGON MINING LIMITED

[N <

B oA R 2 A

o B s R Mk (A

23. £MI A (H&)
fy SNEREGE)

2018 2017
20185 20174E
AU$’000 AU$’000
FH®T FoC
& T =L B
LI TCIE 5 2 E B 1
H E
S INTNCITSRER ¢ 25,273 26,242
LA i 57 B TF 23 T E
Y B
B4 KB 458 4 28
& 5 AT ERIE - (25)
Fif e JE e T AR 25,277 26,245
R T B
LA T 5 B 2% L BE
U B
e KRB &% EY) - 909
& 5 REWGRIE - 360
LU E 2% 2 E B 1
HIE
B4 KB &5 EY) 1 -
E 7 PG IR 358 -
LT R B 5 359 1,269
T B 57 B B
LU T 1 5 T E 1
I E
5 A 3R 63 -
Fity 4L 5 DU JE B 1 A 63 -
LIMTCIE 5 ) E B 1
I EfY
& 5 EAT I 533 -
FHE A 3,249 -
5 T JE B 3 AR 3,782 -
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23. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONT’D) 23. €T E(E)

g Commodity price risk g FEmERERRE

The Group is exposed to movements in the gold price.
As part of the risk management policy of the Group, a
variety of financial instruments (such as gold forwards
and gold call options) are used from time to time to
reduce exposure to unpredictable fluctuations in the
project life revenue streams. Within this context the
programs undertaken are structured with the objective
of maximising the Group’s revenue from gold sales,
but in any event, limiting derivative commitments to
no more than 50% of the Group’s gold Reserves. The
value of these financial instruments at any point in
time will, in times of volatile market conditions, show
substantial variation over the short term.

The Group is exposed to commodity price volatility
on the sale of metal in concentrate products such
as copper and gold, which are priced on, or
benchmarked to, open market exchanges, specifically
the London Metal Exchange (LME). The exposure
is outlined as trade receivables — fair value through
profit or loss in note 5.

For the year ended 31 December 2018, the Company
did not enter or hold any commodity derivatives.

Sensitivity analysis

The following tables summarise the sensitivity of
the Group’s financial assets and liabilities to interest
rate risk and foreign exchange risk. Had the relevant
variables, as illustrated in the tables, moved, with
all other variables held constant, post-tax profit and
equity would have been affected as shown. The
analysis has been performed on the same basis for
2018.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Cont'd)

23. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONT’D)

h) Sensitivity analysis (Cont’d)

31 December 2018

Financial assets
Cash and cash equivalents
Government bonds

Total (decrease)/increase

31 December 2017

Financial assets
Cash and cash equivalents
Government bonds

Total (decrease)/increase

DRAGON MINING LIMITED

HE

%

B oA R 2 A

EREE
Re kREFHED
B r
(D) /S A8
%Eﬂiﬁé

& KB & FEY
BU“ {0
(D) /S A8

Note

o B s R Mk (A

23. £MI A (H&)
hy BEBEDH(E)

20184F12H31H
Interest rate risk 1% Interest rate risk +1%
*'J$Jﬂ@—1 % *U$J§l@+1 %
Profit Equity Profit Equity
A B gl i
AU$'000 AU$'000 AU$'000 AU$'000
TRER TR TR TRT
(109) (109) 109 109
(55) (55) 55 55
(164) (164) 164 164
2017412 H31H
Interest rate risk —1% Interest rate risk +1%
FIR 1% FIR B +1%

Profit Equity Profit Equity
il 4 il R4
AU$'000 AU$'000 AU$000 AU$'000
Fioo Fifo Filo Foc
(66) (66) 66 66
(54) (54) 54 54
(120) (120) 120 120
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Cont'd)

23. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONT’D) 23. €T E(E)

h) Sensitivity analysis (Cont’d) hy BRBESNE)
31 December 2018 2018%F12H31H
Foreign exchange -10% Foreign exchange +10%
SNE-10% HNE+10%
Profit Equity Profit Equity
A i = i
Note AU$'000 AU$'000 AU$'000 AU$'000
! TRR TR TR TET
Financial assets SHEE
Cash and cash equivalents B4 KI &5 (EH 1 128 128 (128) (128)
Trade and other receivables &5 & H-A ek 20E 2 976 976 (976) (976)
Intercompany loans SRR 2w R K 3 3,593 3,593 (3,593) (3,593)
Financial liabilities SRHAE
Interest bearing liabilities ATEAE (52) (52) 52 52
Total increase/(decrease) B,/ (Bb ) S 4,645 4,645 (4,645) (4,645)
31 December 2017 2017412431 H

Foreign exchange -10% Foreign exchange +10%

AMIE-10% HMEE+10%

Profit Equity Profit Equity
i A1 it il 4
Note AU$'000 AU$'000 AU$'000 AU$'000
! Tl Fioo SR SR

Financial assets SHEE
Cash and cash equivalents B4 RH &% EY) 1 254 254 (254) (254)
Trade and other receivables &5 J H A REWGIA 2 998 998 (998) (998)
Intercompany loans A TN 3 3,854 3,854 (3,854) (3,854)
Total increase/(decrease) s/ (i) s 5,106 5,106 (5,106) (5,106)

Cash and cash equivalents include deposits at call at floating
and short-term fixed interest rates.

Trade receivables include AU$2.63 million of gold
concentrate receivables denominated in USD.

Intercompany loans are denominated in AUD, SEK and
EUR. Though these loans are eliminated upon consolidation,
changes in the value of the loans due to movements in
exchange rates will influence the consolidated result, since
exchange gains or losses on intercompany loans that do not
form part of a reporting entity’s net investment in a foreign
operation are recognised in the Consolidated Profit or Loss.

Interest bearing environmental cash bonds that have
historically been deposited with Swedish and Finnish
government authorities.

DRAGON MINING LIMITED
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Cont'd)

23. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONT’D)

i)

Liquidity risk i)

Liquidity risk arises from the financial liabilities of the

Group and the Group's subsequent ability to meet

its obligations to repay its financial liabilities as and

when they fall due.

The Consolidated Entity’s objective is to maintain a

balance between continuity of funding and flexibility

through the use of bank loans and equity raisings.

The contractual maturities of the Group’s financial

liabilities are as follows:

Within one year —HN

Within a period of more than one year ~ —#FRA_F{H A 8 Fi4F
but not exceeding two years A1 ]

Management and the Board monitor the Group’s
liquidity reserve on the basis of expected cash
flow. The information that is prepared by senior
management and reviewed by the Board includes:

e Annual cash flow budgets;

e Two year cash flow forecasts; and

e Monthly rolling cash flow forecasts.

24. SIGNIFICANT EVENTS AFTER PERIOD END

On 31 January and 14 March 2019, the Company made
a further two drawdowns of AU$1.0 million each from its
Loan Facility. The drawdowns were used to fund existing
development projects, pay additional listing costs and
provide additional working capital. As at the date of this
Annual Report, the Company has AU$6.0 million in
undrawn funds remaining.

DRAGON MINING LIMITED
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ERAENEETT -
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AEEEMARNSHZMAWT

2018 2017
20185 20174F
AU$’000 AU$’000
FET FIT
6,516 5,941
4,249 -
10,765 5,941
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Cont'd)

25. PARENT ENTITY DISCLOSURE 25. BATIERIKE

2018 2017
20184 20174
AU$’000 AU$’000
FET T T
CURRENT ASSETS REEE
Cash and cash equivalents Bla R B EY 9,273 1,120
Trade and other receivables B 5 e HoAth JE Wk IE 60 37
Other assets HoAth & 2 56 1,647
TOTAL CURRENT ASSETS REBEEHAE 9,389 2,804
NON-CURRENT ASSETS ERBEE
Property, plant and equipment I8 7 B A 2 2
Investments in subsidiaries AR 2 7R - 4,478
Intercompany loans A [H N 7] H AR 7,635 3,678
TOTAL NON-CURRENT ASSETS FRBEELE 7,637 8,158
TOTAL ASSETS BEHAE 17,026 10,962
CURRENT LIABILITIES REBAE
Trade and other payables & 5 F FAth A R IAE 4,818 669
Provisions T4k 115 170
TOTAL CURRENT LIABILITIES REEERAE 4,933 839
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES ERBEE
Provisions Ephg 86 34
Interest bearing liabilities AR A 4,249 -
TOTAL NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES FREBEBEHERE 4,335 34
TOTAL LIABILITIES aBfERE 9,268 873
NET ASSETS BEEFE 7,758 10,089
EQUITY &
Contributed equity AU A 133,991 119,992
Reserves fitte 2,068 2,068
Accumulated losses EETiE18 (128,301) (111,971)
TOTAL SHARE HOLDERS EQUITY IRERER AT 7,758 10,089

DRAGON MINING LIMITED
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Cont'd) RS

25. PARENT ENTITY DISCLOSURE (CONT’D)

At 1 January 2017 R2017F1 818

Loss for the period B

Other comprehensive HAt A
income

Total comprehensive loss A2 [fi s 18 44 48

for the period

Transactions with owners in - BL#EA A (LIHLHEA A
their capacity as owners: &) 155 ¢

At 31 December 2017 R2017F12H31H
At 1 January 2018 RA2018F1A1H
Loss for the period LUl it

Other comprehensive loss — HAlh 2 i 518

Total comprehensive income A2 [ Y A 4148
for the period

Transactions with owners in  BL#EA A (LLEHEA A
their capacity as owners: B} 1585 ¢

Issue of shares net of costs  B§47 &4 (FNFRBLAS)
At 31 December 2018 M2018%12H31H

DRAGON MINING LIMITED

"W A R & A

g

o B 55 i A B w (4

25. BRARAERHEE (&)

Convertible
Note
Contributed  Accumulated Premium Total
Equity Losses Reserve Equity
] R
HHBA B EhhE s T et HE 25 A0
AU$’000 AU$'000 AU$'000 AU$’000
Tt Tt T T
119,992 (111,101) 2,068 10,959
- (870) - (870)
- (870) - (870)
119,992 (111,971) 2,068 10,089
Convertible
Note
Contributed  Accumulated Premium Total
Equity Losses Reserve Equity
AEREE
BB Rt BERE R
AU$’000 AU$’000 AU$’000 AU$’000
TR TR TR TR
119,992 (111,971 2,068 10,089
- (16,330) - (16,330)
- (16,330) - (16,330)
13,999 - - 13,999
133,991 (128,301) 2,068 7,758
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Financial Summary

The results and the assets and liabilities of the Group for
the past five financial years, as extracted from the Group’s
published Consolidated Financial Statements, are set out below:

Results

Revenue
Profit for the year

Attributable to:
Owners of the Company

Basic earnings per share

Assets and liabilities

Total assets
Total liabilities

Total equity
Equity attributable to owners of
the Company

DRAGON MINING LIMITED
HOAE R A R A A

i
Lyl

DU AL LG -
LYNGE ZUN

AR A

EERAR

BEMH
AR

MR A
LN PN o

Yt 255 HE 22

7S JH 7 B A0 A P BB JBE Y SR DL R E B

AR A AL ORI 2 45E )

ABS R ) an

T
Year ended 31 December
BZ12R318LEE
2014 2015 2016 2017 2018
20144 20154 20164 20174 20184
AU$'000 AU$'000 AUS$'000 AU$'000 AU$'000
Tl T T SRL TRT
78,751 76,836 55.039 41,270 37,850
7,756 2,563 5,363 (583) (9,531)
7,756 2,563 5,363 (583) (9,531)
8.73 2.89 6.04 (0.66) (9.90)
As at 31 December
R12A318

2014 2015 2016 2017 2018
20144 20154 20164 20174F 20185
AU$'000 AU$'000 AUS$'000 AU$'000 AU$'000
T T T T TR
46,341 51,292 50,432 50,349 62,750
(23,231) (24,449) (19,617) (18,990) (25,303)
23,110 26,843 30,815 31,359 37,447
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Tenement Register

P w6 X5 d

Held at
31 December
2018
%
R2018%F
12A31AH
Project ID Tenement’s Name Type BFELA Area ha
15H w5 BEER Lol % AR
SWEDEN
I
Svartliden Svartlidengruvan K nr 1 EC 100 87.54
AT
2006:111 Ekorrliden nr 2 EP 100 455.39
R F AT
Faboliden Faboliden K nr 1 EC 100 122.00
AR
2016:75 Faboliden nr 11 EP 100 836.26
iR Al
2017:27 Faboliden nr 83 EP 100 1,006.72
R AT R
FINLAND
B
Orivesi 2676 Orivesi MC 100 39.82
TRIRRET
ML2013:0006 Sarvisuo 1-2 ELA 100 41.86
PRI AT WS
ML2015:0026 Sarvisuo 3 EL 100 56.56
3 )
9245/1 Yldinensilmake Claim 100 10.26
T
Jokisivu 7244 Jokisivu MC 100 48.32
PR R
KL2015:0005 Jokisivu 2 MC 100 21.30
PRI
KL2018:0010 Jokisivu 3 MCA 100 8.97
PRI
ML2012:0112 Jokisivu 4-5 ELA 100 85.76
PR RFT
ML2017:0131 Jokisivu 7-8 EL 100 18.60
3 )
Vammala 1895 Stormi MC 100 157.53
PRRRE R
Kaapelinkulma K7094 Kaapelinkulma MC 100 66.55
PRIRRERT

DRAGON MINING LIMITED
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